
Cannabis Control Commission Public Meeting
In Person and Remote via Teams



Call to Order & Commissioners' Comments/Updates

20240111_Mins_Public Meeting_For Commission Consideration.docx

20240208_Mins_PublicMeeting_For Commission Consideration.docx

20240229_Mins_Public Meeting_For Commission Consideration.docx

20240307_Mins_PublicMeeting_For Commission Consideration.docx

20240329_Mins_Public Meeting_For Commission Consideration.docx

20240411_Mins_PublicMeeting_For Commission Consideration.docx

20190107_Lease_FranklinHowley.pdf

Minutes

F-COOXS-BAKED BEANS FARM LLC-v.2.docx

Staff Recommendations on Changes of Ownership

Staff Recommendations on Renewals

F-FLXS-BLOSSOM FLOWER, LLC-MD1271-MP282139-
MX281418.v.2.docx

F-FLXS-BLUE SKY ORGANICS, LLC-MD1264.v.2.docx

F-FLXS-COMMCAN, INC-MANSFIELD-MTC1686.v.2.docx

F-FLXS-COMMCAN, INC-MR284925.v.2.docx

F-FLXS-EMBER GARDENS CAPE COD, LLC-MR284542.v.2.docx

F-FLXS-EUPHORIUM, LLC-MC283845-MP282263-MR284560.v.2.docx

F-FLXS-JMK GARDENING, LLC-MR284654.v.2.docx

F-FLXS-MINT RETAIL FACILITIES, LLC-MR283295.v.2.docx

F-FLXS-OCEAN BREEZE CULTIVATORS, LLC-MR283656.v.2.docx

F-FLXS-RIVERSIDE AGRICULTURE, LLC-MR283237.v.2.docx

Staff Recommendations on Final Licenses

MEETING AGENDA 06.13.2024.docx

20240206-Letter-to-Senator-Moore.pdf

Acting Executive Director and Commission Staff Report

Executive Session

F-COOXS-HENNEP, INC.-v.2.docx

ME RENEWAL XS-JUNE 2024-v.2.docx

F-FLXS-SILVER THERAPEUTICS, INC-MR283074.v.2.docx

Meeting Book - Cannabis Control Commission Public Meeting Packet
Table of Contents



F-PLXS-GREENSOUL ORGANICS, INC-MCN283834-
MPN282257.v.2.docx

F-PLXS-NATIVE SUN WELLNESS, INC-RMDA4128.v.2.docx

Staff Recommendation on Provisional Licenses

Enforcement Actions

Tab A - 20240613_Periodic Review of Executive Session
Minutes_Recommendation.docx

DRAFT - Accounting Manager 053024.docx

Commission Discussion & Votes

Next Meeting Date & Adjournment

F-PLXS-SURF'S UP CANNABIS VENTURES, LLC-
MRN285057.v.2.docx

Tab B. Stipulated Agreement_Trulieve (CCC FINAL CLEAN).pdf

June 2024 Government Affairs Update.docx

20240613 PPT.pdf



 

 

 

June 11, 2024 

 

In accordance with Sections 18-25 of Chapter 30A of the Massachusetts General Laws and Chapter 107 

of the Acts of 2022, notice is hereby given of a meeting of the Cannabis Control Commission. The 

meeting will take place as noted below.  

 

CANNABIS CONTROL COMMISSION 

 

June 13, 2024 

10:00 AM 

 

In-Person and Remote via Microsoft Teams Live* 

 

PUBLIC MEETING AGENDA 

 

I. Call to Order 

II. Commissioners’ Comments & Updates 

III. Minutes 

IV. Acting Executive Director and Commission Staff Report 

V. Executive Session  

1. Patient Centric of Martha's Vineyard Ltd. and The Green Lady Dispensary v. 

Cannabis Control Commission  

Closed executive session G. L. c. 30A, § 21(a)(3) to discuss strategy with respect to 

litigation because the open meeting may have a detrimental effect on the litigating 

position of the public body. 

VI. Staff Recommendations on Changes of Ownership 

1. Baked Beans Farm, LLC 

2. Hennep, Inc. 

VII. Staff Recommendations on Renewal Licenses  

1. Blossom Flower, LLC (#MPR244150)  

2. Blossom Flower, LLC (#MXR126671) 

3. BLUE SKY ORGANICS LLC (#MDR272571) 

4. Green Gold Group Inc (#MCR140754)  

5. Green Gold Group, INC (#MRR206833)  

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MWJiNDk5OTQtMDYzZS00MmRjLWJlNWMtMmUyOWI1YWUyN2Nj%40thread.v2/0?context=%7B%22Tid%22%3A%222fa081e5-cafb-4989-9fe5-91317f047c5c%22%2C%22Oid%22%3A%224f79b215-0908-458a-8e58-50919ef7b7e4%22%2C%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3Atrue%2C%22role%22%3A%22a%22%7D&btype=a&role=a


 

 

6. Ocean Breeze Cultivators LLC (#MRR206836)  

VIII. Staff Recommendations on Provisional Licenses 

1. GreenSoul Organics, Inc. (#MCN283834), Marijuana Cultivator, Tier 6 / Indoor 

2. GreenSoul Organics, Inc. (#MPN282257), Marijuana Product Manufacturer  

3. Native Sun Wellness, Inc. (#RMDA4128), Medical Marijuana Treatment Center 

4. Surf’s Up Cannabis Ventures, LLC (#MRN285057) 

IX. Staff Recommendations on Final Licenses 

1. Blossom Flower, LLC (#MD1271), Marijuana Delivery Operator 

2. Blossom Flower, LLC (#MP282139), Marijuana Product Manufacturer 

3. Blossom Flower, LLC (#MX281418), Marijuana Existing Licensee Transporter 

4. Blue Sky Organics, LLC (#MD1264), Marijuana Delivery Operator 

5. CommCan, Inc. – Mansfield (#MTC1686), Medical Marijuana Treatment Center 

6. CommCan, Inc. (#MR284925), Marijuana Retailer 

7. Ember Gardens Cape Cod, LLC (#MR284542), Marijuana Retailer 

8. Euphorium, LLC (#MC283845), Marijuana Cultivator, Tier 1 / Indoor 

9. Euphorium, LLC (#MP282263), Marijuana Product Manufacturer 

10. Euphorium, LLC (#MR284560), Marijuana Retailer 

11. JMK Gardening, LLC (#MR284654). Marijuana Retailer 

12. Mint Retail Facilities, LLC (#MR283295), Marijuana Retailer 

13. Ocean Breeze Cultivators, LLC (#MR283656), Marijuana Retailer 

14. Riverside Agriculture, LLC (#MR28327), Marijuana Retailer 

15. Silver Therapeutics, Inc. (#MR283074), Marijuana Retailer 

X. Enforcement Actions 

1. Life Essence, Inc. d/b/a Trulieve 

XI. Commission Discussion and Votes  

1. Executive Director Search Update Acting Executive Director Debra Hilton-

Creek 

2. CCC Key Priorities and Operational Changes Acting Chair Ava Concepcion 

3. Federal Public Comment Period for Rescheduling Director of Government 

Affairs and Policy Matt Giancola 

4. Island Transportation Discussion General Counsel Kristina Gasson 

5. Tri-Annual Review of Executive Session Minutes General Counsel Kristina 

Gasson 

6. Job Description: Accounting Manager (TBD) Acting Executive Director Debra 

Hilton-Creek 

XII. New Business Not Anticipated at the Time of Posting 

XIII. Next Meeting Date 



 

 

XIV. Adjournment 

Notice of Executive Session 

The Commission may enter into executive session to discuss the following items: 

 Under Purpose (3), of the Open Meeting Law, G. L. c. 30A, § 21, to discuss strategy with respect 

to litigation if an open meeting may have a detrimental effect on the litigating position of the 

public body and the chair so declares. 

 

*Closed captioning available 

 

If you need reasonable accommodations in order to participate in the meeting, contact the ADA 

Coordinator Debra Hilton-Creek in advance of the meeting. While the Commission will do its best 

to accommodate you, certain accommodations may not be available if requested immediately 

before the meeting. 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
 

CANNABIS CONTROL COMMISSION 

  

January 11, 2024 

10:00 AM 

 

In-Person and Remote via Microsoft Teams Live* 

 

PUBLIC MEETING MINUTES 

 

Documents: 

 Application Materials associated with:  

o Staff Recommendations on Changes of Ownership  

o Staff Recommendations on Renewal Licenses   

o Staff Recommendations on Provisional Licenses  

o Staff Recommendations on Final Licenses  

o Staff Recommendations on Responsible Vendor Training Renewals  

 Meeting Packet 

 January 2024 Government Affairs Update Memorandum 

 Model Host Community Agreement Template 

 Periodic Review of Executive Session Minutes Recommendation Memorandum 

 

In Attendance: 

 Acting Chair Ava Callender Concepcion 

 Commissioner Nurys Z. Camargo  

 Commissioner Kimberly Roy 

 Commissioner Bruce Stebbins  

 

Minutes:  

1) Call to Order 

 The Acting Chair (AC) recognized a quorum and called the meeting to order.  

 The AC gave notice that the meeting was being recorded.  

 The AC gave an overview of the agenda.  

 

2) Commissioners’ Comments and Updates – 00:01:24 

 Commissioner Camargo noted the work to come this year with the implementation of 

Chapter 180 and stated her focus going forward would be on social consumption, 

delivery policy and equity programing. Commissioner Roy celebrated the 

Commission’s work in 2023. She discussed additional policy areas she wished to 

address in the new year with a focus on potency inflation and lab shopping. 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_NmExY2MzZTItMDAzYi00MDFkLWFjYTgtYzA4NzJlZjQ2NDQ2%40thread.v2/0?context=%7B%22Tid%22%3A%222fa081e5-cafb-4989-9fe5-91317f047c5c%22%2C%22Oid%22%3A%22b81a5c1b-dc8d-4be0-9448-f451ca13085b%22%2C%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3Atrue%2C%22role%22%3A%22a%22%7D&btype=a&role=a
https://masscannabiscontrol.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/January-Monthly-Public-Meeting-Packet.pdf


 
 

   
2 

Commissioner Stebbins noted recent meetings with Commissioner Camargo and 

House Cannabis Policy Chair Daniel Donahue and, separately, with Senate Chair 

Adam Gomez. He added that himself and Commissioner Camargo had presented an 

update on social consumption to the Cannabis Advisory Board. Commissioner 

Stebbins noted a comment made by State Representative Jay Cutler regarding the 

state’s disability employment tax credit which might be useful to licensees. He 

mentioned upcoming visits with licensees and a Cannabis Business Association round 

table. The AC discussed a recent interview with Channel 5 news and commented on 

the accomplishments of the Commission and growth of the industry. She noted the 

search for the next Executive Director and the regulatory changes on the horizon.  

 

3) Acting Executive Director and Commission Staff Report – 00:22:03 

 Acting Executive Director Debra Hilton-Creek (AED Hilton-Creek) reported that the 

Fiscal Year 2025 budget had been submitted to the Executive Office of 

Administration and Finance, the bulletin on telehealth consultations was posted, and 

noted Cohort IV of the Social Equity Program would open for applications on 

February 5, 2024. Commissioners Roy, Camargo and Stebbins discussed the 

importance of reaching out to additional stakeholders to cast the widest net for the 

next cohort and asked what steps were taken as far as outreach. AED Hilton-Creek 

stated she could provide this information later. Commissioner Stebbins suggested 

having the equity team at the February public meeting. AED Hilton-Creek continued 

to give an update on the Executive Director search and presented a framework for the 

recruitment process. She stated that the job description was complete and would be 

circulated for review before potentially being discussed in the February public 

meeting. AED Hilton-Creek agreed with a comment from Commissioner Stebbins 

that an external contractor could be useful in finding qualified candidates and 

discussed costs. She clarified that the job search would only be public once the field 

of applicants had been narrowed down to the final three. Commissioner Stebbins 

noted that the public aspect should be disclosed from the start of the search process 

and expressed his preference that at least one Commissioner be on the search 

committee. The AED stated she would like to have at least two Commissioners on the 

search committee and discussed the process of the final public interview.  

 Licensing Director Kyle Potvin (Director Potvin) provided an update on the 

implementation of Chapter 180 and identified key dates and milestones through five 

phases addressing HCAs, municipal equity standards, Community Impact Fees, pre-

certified/amended agent registration applications and finally the completion of all 

remaining deliverables. Director Potvin updated the Commissioners on actions taken 

since the last public meeting. Commissioner Camargo asked for an update on the 

model equity ordinance. Director Potvin stated that the document was an identified 

deliverable and would likely be completed in phase two. Commissioner Camargo 

noted the State of Cannabis event at the Massachusetts State House and that it would 

be a good opportunity to educate lawmakers on the implementation of Chapter 180. 

 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to adjourn for a ten-minute recess.  



 
 

   
3 

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes  

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Callender Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved to adjourn for a ten-minute recess (2:07:17). 

 

 Director Potvin presented highlights from licensing data. He noted that there were 

zero applications awaiting a first review and licensees were moving through the 

process quickly. Director Potvin showed the numbers of applications that had been 

approved and where the applications were in the process.  

 

4) Staff Recommendations on Changes of Ownership – 02:12:45 

 Licensing Analyst Derek Chamberlin (LA Chamberlin) presented the Staff 

Recommendations for Changes of Ownership, Renewal Licenses, Provisional 

Licenses, Final Licenses, and Responsible Vendor Training Renewals. 

 

1. Aspen Blue Cultures, Inc. 

 Commissioner Camargo moved to approve the Change of Ownership.  

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes  

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Callender Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Change of Ownership. 

 

2. BeachGrass Topicals, LLC 

 Commissioner Roy moved to approve the Change of Ownership.  

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes  

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Callender Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Change of Ownership. 

 

3. GreenCare Collective, LLC d/b/a Plant 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the Change of Ownership.  

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 



 
 

   
4 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes  

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Callender Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Change of Ownership. 

 

5) Staff Recommendations on Renewal Licenses – 02:15:32 

 Commissioner Stebbins noted his reasoning for offering more conditions for license 

renewal applicants and highlighted some renewals. He noted the diversity guidance 

document him and Commissioner Camargo worked on that helped direct licensees to 

adapt strategies to meet Commission expectations and expressed his excitement to see 

many of those suggestions being incorporated into diversity plans.  

 

 Commissioner Camargo moved to approve items numbered 1-16, 18-33, 35-54, and 

56-61, on the agenda. 

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes  

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Callender Concepcion – Yes  

 The Commission unanimously approved items numbered 1-16, 18-33, 35-54, and 56-

61, on the agenda. 

 

 BeWell Organic Medicine, Inc. (#MRR206702) 

 Commissioner Stebbins requested a condition. 

o Proposed Condition: Within thirty business days of License renewal, consider 

revision to Positive Impact Plan Goal #1 and consider hiring or other 

strategies to impact Disproportionately Impacted Area designated 

communities of Lawrence and Haverhill in accordance 935 Code Mass. Regs. 

§ 500.101 (1)(a)11, and 935 Code Mass. Regs. § 500.103(4)(b), and provide 

any update to the CCC Licensing Division. 

 Commissioner Roy moved to approve item number 17 on the agenda, subject to the 

condition articulated by Commissioner Stebbins. 

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes  

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Callender Concepcion – Yes  

 The Commission unanimously approved item number 17 on the agenda, subject to the 

condition articulated by Commissioner Stebbins. 

 

 Good Feels Inc (#MPR244106) 



 
 

   
5 

 

 Commissioner Stebbins requested a condition. 

 Proposed Condition: Within thirty business days of License renewal, contact CCC 

Licensing Division and consider an update to identify any goals for utilizing 

LGBTQ+ business enterprises (LGBTBE’s) and Disability Owned Business 

Enterprises (DOBE’s) under licensee’s Diversity Plan goal #3 in accordance with 935 

Code Mass. Regs. § 500.101(1)(c)8.k.  

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve item number 34 on the agenda, subject to 

the condition articulated by Commissioner Stebbins. 

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes  

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Callender Concepcion – Yes  

 The Commission unanimously approved item number 34 on the agenda, subject to the 

condition articulated by Commissioner Stebbins.  

 

 Turning Leaf Centers Northampton, LLC (#MRR206633) 

 Commissioner Stebbins requested a condition. 

o Proposed Condition: Within thirty business days of License renewal, contact 

CCC Licensing Division with an update to confirm your training and 

recruitment partners and eligibility to support your activities in accordance 

with 935 Code Mass. Regs. § 500.101(1)(c)8.k. 

 Commissioner Camargo moved to approve item number 34 on the agenda, subject to 

the condition articulated by Commissioner Stebbins. 

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes  

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Callender Concepcion – Yes  

 The Commission unanimously approved item number 34 on the agenda, subject to the 

condition articulated by Commissioner Stebbins. 

 

6) Staff Recommendations on Provisional Licenses – 02:27:59  

 

1. ARL Healthcare, Inc. (#MRN284873), Retail  

 Commissioner reminded the licensee of the statutory requirement that, prior to 

performing job functions at a marijuana establishment, all internship program 

participants must become registered agents in the Commonwealth.  

 Commissioner Roy moved to approve the Provisional License.  

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.  



 
 

   
6 

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes  

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Callender Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Provisional License. 

 

2. Aro 31, LLC (#MRN284775), Retail  

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the Provisional License.  

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes  

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Callender Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Provisional License.  

 

3. Cloudfarming, LLC (#MBN281350), Microbusiness  

 Commissioner Camargo moved to approve the Provisional License. 

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes  

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Callender Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Provisional License.  

 

4. Fusion Drop, LLC (#MPN282269), Product Manufacturing 

 Commissioner Roy requested a condition. 

o Proposed Condition: Prior to final licensure please inform the Commission of 

your “Additional Operational Plans for Product Manufacturers” as it relates to 

Quality Control Samples in accordance with 935 Code Mass. Regs. 

500.130(5)(k), and 935 Code Mass. Regs. 500.130(9).  

 Commissioner Roy moved to approve the Provisional License, subject to the 

condition requested by Commissioner Roy. 

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes  

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Callender Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Provisional License, subject to the 

condition requested by Commissioner Roy.  



 
 

   
7 

 

5. Uma Flowers Waltham, LLC (#MRN284983), Retail  

 Commissioner Roy requested a condition. 

o Proposed Condition: Prior to final licensure, in accordance with 935 Code 

Mass. Regs. 500.140(6)(g) please include the phone number for the 

Massachusetts Substance Use Helpline on your consumer education. 

 Commissioner Stebbins requested a condition. 

o Proposed Condition: Prior to Final Application for Licensure, contact CCC 

Licensing Division and provide an update to identify any goals for including 

LGBTQ+ residents under licensee’s Diversity Plan Goal #2 in accordance 

with 935 Code Mass. Regs. § 500.101(1)(c)8k. 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the Provisional License, subject to the 

conditions requested by Commissioner Roy and Commissioner Stebbins.  

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes  

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Callender Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Provisional License, subject to the 

conditions requested by Commissioner Roy and Commissioner Stebbins.  

 

6. Witch City Gardens, LLC (#MCN283839), Cultivation, Tier 1 / Indoor  

 Commissioner Roy requested a condition. 

o Proposed Condition: Prior to final licensure please inform the Commission of 

your “Additional Operational Plans for Indoor Marijuana Cultivators” as it 

relates to Quality Control Samples in accordance with 935 Code Mass. Regs. 

500.120(12) and 935 Code Mass. Regs. 500.120(14). 

 Commissioner Camargo moved to approve the Provisional License, subject to the 

condition requested by Commissioner Roy. 

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes  

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Callender Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Provisional License, subject to the 

condition requested by Commissioner Roy.  

 

7) Staff Recommendations on Final Licenses – 02:37:45 

 

1. Alternative Compassion Services, Inc. (#MR284457), Retail 

2. Catdogg, LLC (#MP282258), Product Manufacturing 



 
 

   
8 

3. Catdogg, LLC (#MR284871), Retail 

4. Community Growth Partners Boston, LLC (#MR284256), Retail 

5. DMS Trinity, LLC (#MR282590), Retail 

6. Mainely Productions, LLC (#MC281899), Cultivation, Tier 2 / Indoor 

7. UC Cultivation, LLC (#MC282106), Cultivation, Tier 3 / Indoor 

 

 Commissioner Roy moved to approve the final license roster from one to seven as 

indicated on the agenda.  

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes  

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Callender Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the final license roster from one to seven as 

indicated on the agenda. 

 

8) Staff Recommendations on Responsible Vendor Training Renewals – 02:39:00 

 

1. Bud Education (#RVR453144)  

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the Responsible Vendor Training 

Renewal.  

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Callender Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Responsible Vendor Training Renewal. 

 

2. Green Flower Inc (#RVR453142)  

 Commissioner Camargo moved to approve the Responsible Vendor Training 

Renewal.  

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Callender Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Responsible Vendor Training Renewal. 

  

3. Leafy Green Agency LLC (#RVR453143)  



 
 

   
9 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the Responsible Vendor Training 

Renewal.  

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Callender Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Responsible Vendor Training Renewal. 

 

 Commissioner Roy asked Director Potvin for an update about the Responsible 

Vendor Training licensees who had registered with the Supply Diversity Office 

(SDO). Director Potvin responded that a notification went out to all certified vendors 

and all current applicants about the Commission adopting a policy for identification 

of any vendor which is certified by the SDO. He stated it went out in August, they 

were given a 60-day turn around and they only received one response. He added this 

would eventually be built into the Responsible Vendor Training applications.  

 

9) Commission Discussion and Votes – 02:50:12 

 

1. Model HCA Review and Discussion   

 Director Potvin presented the Model HCA Template to the Commission and 

discussed its purpose and utility. Commissioner Roy asked how applicants with 

compliant HCAs could be indicated to Commissioners and Director Potvin stated that 

information would be available in the executive summary and that high-level data on 

compliant HCAs would be available in the future. The AC noted that the public could 

comment for the next two weeks on the model. Commissioner Roy suggested editing 

the model so that it provided for all license types including social consumption, which 

Director Potvin said he would add. Commissioner Roy also suggested adding a 

section which could allow for the model to act as an interim agreement.  

 

2. Periodic Review of Executive Session Minutes  

 GC Gasson presented Legal’s recommendation regarding the periodic review of 

executive session minutes. Commissioner Roy asked if the purpose of withholding 

minutes related to governance would expire once the governance document was 

approved. GC Gasson stated that at the next tri-annual review they would be 

reviewed, and she would come back to the Commission with a new recommendation.  

 

 Commissioner Roy moved to approve Legal’s recommendation to withhold the 

universe of executive session minutes until the next periodic review. 

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 



 
 

   
10 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Callender Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved Legal’s recommendation to withhold the 

universe of executive session minutes until the next periodic review. 

 

3. Election of Commission Secretary and Treasurer   

 The AC noted Commissioner Camargo expressed her interest in being the secretary 

and Commissioner Roy expressed her interest in being the Treasurer.  

 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to nominate Commissioner Camargo as the 

Commission’s Secretary.  

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Callender Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved to nominate Commissioner Camargo as the 

Commission’s Secretary.  

 

 Commissioner Roy expressed the honor and pleasure it was to have served as 

Secretary and mentioned her and Commissioner Camargo helping each other 

transition to these new positions. Commissioner Camargo expressed her gratitude for 

serving as Treasurer for the last three years and her happiness to serve as Secretary. 

Commissioner Stebbins suggested that he serve in a support position to 

Commissioner Roy in this transition period. Commissioner Roy stated she would love 

to have a co-pilot. 

 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to nominate Commissioner Roy as the Commission’s 

Treasurer.  

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Callender Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved to nominate Commissioner Roy as the 

Commission’s Treasurer.  

 

10)  New Business Not Anticipated at the Time of Posting – 03:36:05 

 Commissioner Roy mentioned revisiting a worker safety hotline at a future meeting 

and unique issues which Third-Party Transporters face. She also flagged accounts 

receivable as a policy discussion at a future date. Commissioner Camargo noted the 



 
 

   
11 

work that she and Commissioner Stebbins were doing with Third-Party Transporters. 

Commissioner Camargo explained that she would talk with Commissioner Stebbins 

and figure out their priorities. Commissioner Stebbins suggested inviting Third-Party 

Transporters to a public meeting to discuss issues. Commissioner Camargo noted she 

would have a conversation with Commissioner Stebbins prior to the next public 

meeting to set expectations for third party transporters. Commissioner Roy stated she 

would be happy to be the sponsoring Commissioner around Third-Party Transporters 

and accounts receivable if it would be helpful to expedite the process.  

 

11) Next Meeting Date – 03:48:24 

 The AC noted that the next meeting would be on February 8, 2024, and gave a 

tentative schedule for the remainder of the calendar year.  

 

12) Adjournment – 03:49:38 

 Commissioner Camargo moved to adjourn.  

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes  

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Callender Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the motion to adjourn.  

 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
 

CANNABIS CONTROL COMMISSION 

 

February 8, 2024 

10:00 AM 

 

Remote via Microsoft Teams Live* 

 

 

PUBLIC MEETING MINUTES 

 

Documents: 

 Application Materials associated with:  

o Staff Recommendations on Changes of Ownership 

o Staff Recommendations on Renewal Licenses 

o Staff Recommendations on Provisional Licenses 

o Staff Recommendations on Final Licenses 

o Staff Recommendations on Responsible Vendor Training 

o Staff Recommendations on Responsible Vendor Training Renewals 

 Meeting Packet 

 

In Attendance: 

 Acting Chair Ava Callender Concepcion 

 Commissioner Nurys Z. Camargo  

 Commissioner Kimberly Roy 

 Commissioner Bruce Stebbins 

 

Minutes:  

1) Call to Order 

 The Acting Chair (AC) recognized a quorum and called the meeting to order.  

 The AC gave notice that the meeting is being recorded.  

 

2) Executive Session – 00:00:38 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to enter into Executive Session pursuant to Open 

Meeting Law, G.L. c. 30A, § 21 (a) (3), to discuss strategy with respect to litigation if 

an open meeting may have a detrimental effect on the litigating position of the public 

body and the Chair so declares. 

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion. 

 The Acting Chair took a roll call vote: 

 Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MGZjYjljMDktOWE5Ny00NzRjLTg3MjMtZWZhNGM3OTdhY2Iz%40thread.v2/0?context=%7B%22Tid%22%3A%222fa081e5-cafb-4989-9fe5-91317f047c5c%22%2C%22Oid%22%3A%22b81a5c1b-dc8d-4be0-9448-f451ca13085b%22%2C%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3Atrue%2C%22role%22%3A%22a%22%7D&btype=a&role=a
https://masscannabiscontrol.com/document/public-meeting-material-packet-february-8-2024/


 
 

   
2 

 Commissioner Roy – Yes 

 Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

 AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously voted to enter Executive Session and each 

Commissioner affirmed that no one could hear the deliberations of Executive Session. 

 

 The Commission entered Executive Session and reconvened in Public Session at 

10:53 AM (00:53:28) 

 

3) Commissioners’ Comments & Updates – 00:53:28 

 The AC gave an overview of the agenda. 

 Commissioner Stebbins stated that he had recently attended industry roundtables 

hosted by the Massachusetts Cannabis Coalition and the Massachusetts Cannabis 

Business Association and noted that he and Commissioner Roy had met with the 

Alcohol Beverages Control Commission to discuss their delinquent payer guidelines. 

Commissioner Roy celebrated the recent milestone of $1.5 billion in annual adult 

cannabis sales. She reiterated Commissioner Stebbins’ view that accounts receivable 

was an issue in Massachusetts. Commissioner Camargo praised the communications 

team for the Faces of Equity video series and noted that she had worked with the legal 

department regarding delivery and courier regulations. The AC noted recent meetings 

with the Massachusetts Municipal Association, the Senate Ways and Means Chair 

Michael J. Rodrigues and with Chairs Daniel Donahue and Adam Gomez of the Joint 

Committee on Cannabis Policy. The AC noted an additional public meeting added in 

February to discuss the model HCA. The AC reiterated her point from the December 

meeting where she noted her desire for the Commission to focus on worker safety and 

collaborate with the Department of Public Health and the Occupational Safety and 

Health Administration.  

 

4) Minutes for Approval – 01:19:45 

 September 19, 2023 

 Commissioner Camargo moved to approve the September 19, 2023, Commission 

public meeting minutes.  

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the September 19, 2023, Commission public 

meeting minutes. 

 

 September 21, 2023 



 
 

   
3 

 Commissioner Roy moved to approve the September 21, 2023, Commission public 

meeting minutes.  

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the September 21, 2023, Commission public 

meeting minutes. 

 

 September 29, 2023 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the September 29, 2023, Commission 

public meeting minutes.  

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the September 29, 2023, Commission public 

meeting minutes. 

 

5) Acting Executive Director and Commission Staff Report – 01:22:01 

 Acting Executive Director Debra Hilton-Creek (AED Hilton-Creek) updated the 

Commission regarding the record-breaking sales in the licensed cannabis industry 

during December 2023, and on the budget for fiscal year 2025. AED Hilton-Creek 

updated the Commission regarding the search for an Executive Director, the hiring of 

a new Chief Financial and Accounting Officer, and Budget Director. She discussed 

efforts to restructure the Commission as it continues to grow.  

 Commissioner Camargo requested a five-minute recess until 11:50 AM.   

 

 The Commissioners returned from recess (1:47:58). 

 Director of Equity Programming and Community Outreach Silea Williams (Director 

Williams) presented an overview of the Social Equity Program (SEP) and its mission. 

Director Williams noted that the application deadline for the SEP’s Cohort IV was 

April 30, 2024, and showcased the curricula available to participants. Director of 

Creative and Digital Services AnnMarie Burtt presented the Faces of Equity public 

awareness campaign and detailed recent community outreach efforts for the SEP. 

Director of Communications Maryalice Curley presented on efforts to leverage 

earned media and targeted outreach to further the SEP’s mission. Director of 

Licensing Kyle Potvin (Director Potvin) presented on the key dates and milestones of 

Chapter 180 implementation. 



 
 

   
4 

 Commissioner Camargo moved to recess for thirty-minutes until 02:02 PM 

(03:30:26). 

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.   

 The Acting Chair took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes – Commissioner Roy stated that at this point she 

was leaving the meeting. 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the recess until 2:02 PM (03:59:39).  

 

 Licensing Analyst Derek Chamberlin (LA Chamberlin) presented on licensing data 

and licensing applications. The Commissioners and AED Hilton-Creek discussed the 

potential issue of market saturation and Commissioner Camargo agreed to have a 

preliminary discussion on the topic with Director Potvin, LA Chamberlin and the 

Chief of Research Julie Johnson. The AC noted that, due to Commissioner Roy 

leaving the meeting and recusals, some of the applications up for renewal would have 

to be tabled. General Counsel Kristina Gasson (GC Gasson) clarified that the 

Commissioners had the option to table the matters where there was not a quorum or 

move to delegate the responsibility to vote on them to a member of the licensing staff. 

LA Chamberlin stated that he had conferred with the Acting Chief of Investigations 

and Enforcement Nomxolisi Khumalo and she was comfortable with a member of the 

licensing staff voting on renewals.  

 

6) Staff Recommendations on Changes of Ownership – 04:34:06 

 LA Chamberlin presented on behalf of the licensing department the Staff 

Recommendations for Changes of Ownership, Renewals, Provisionals, Final licenses, 

Responsible Vendor Training and Responsible Vendor Training Renewals.  

 

1. Ashli’s, Inc.  

 Commissioner Camargo moved to approve the Change of Ownership. 

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Change of Ownership. 

 

2. Aunty Budz, LLC.  

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the Change of Ownership. 

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 



 
 

   
5 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Change of Ownership. 

 

3. Canna Provisions, Inc.  

 Commissioner Camargo moved to approve the Change of Ownership. 

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Change of Ownership. 

 

4. West County Collective, LLC.  

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the Change of Ownership. 

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Change of Ownership. 

 

7) Staff Recommendations on Renewals – 04:38:51 

 Commissioner Stebbins made a motion to delegate authority to the director of 

licensing to review items numbered 91 and 92.  

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the motion to delegate authority to the 

Director of Licensing to review items numbered 91 and 92. 

 GC Gasson noted that the vote was sufficient to delegate authority but that the 

Director of Licensing was out of office. She provided the option that the 

Commissioners may move to amend the motion to strike the director of licensing and 

insert the Acting Chief of Investigations and Enforcement. 

 Commissioner Camargo made a motion to amend the earlier motion and insert the 

Acting Chief of Investigations and Enforcement.  

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion. 

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 



 
 

   
6 

 The Commission unanimously approved the motion. 

. 

 Commissioner Stebbins made a motion to approve items numbered 1-14, 16-35, 37-

60, and 62-75 on the agenda. 

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the renewal roster of items numbered 1-14, 

16-35, 37-60, and 62-75 on the agenda. 

 

 Bracts & Pistils, LLC (#DOR5182967), Delivery. 

 Commissioner Stebbins requested a condition. 

o Proposed condition: Within thirty business days of approval of Application for 

Renewal, contact CCC Licensing Division to provide an update on current 

progress toward goals in Diversity Plan in accordance with 935 Code Mass. 

Regs. § 500.103(4)(b) and 935 Code Mass. Regs. § 500.101(1)(c)8.k. 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the renewal of item number 15 on the 

agenda, subject to the condition articulated by Commissioner Stebbins. 

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the renewal roster item 15, subject to the 

condition articulated by Commissioner Stebbins. 

 

 Commissioner Camargo made a motion to approve items numbered 76-90 and 93-99 

on the agenda. 

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the renewal roster of items numbered 76-90, 

and 93-99, on the agenda. 

 

 GreenStar Herbals, Inc. (#MRR206741), Retail. 

 Commissioner Stebbins requested a condition. 

o Proposed condition: Within thirty business days of approval of Application for 

Renewal, contact CCC Licensing Division for an update to consider 



 
 

   
7 

identifying any goals for LGBTQ+ residents in accordance with 935 Code 

Mass. Regs. § 500.101(1)(c)8.k and 935 Code Mass. Regs. § 500.103(4)(b). 

 Commissioner Camargo moved to approve the renewal roster of item number 36 on 

the agenda, subject to the condition articulated by Commissioner Stebbins. 

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the renewal roster item 36, subject to the 

condition articulated by Commissioner Stebbins. 

 

 Patriot Care Corp  (#MRR206720), Retail. 

 Commissioner Stebbins requested a condition. 

o Within thirty business days of approval of Application for Renewal, contact 

CCC Licensing Division for an update to consider identifying any goals for 

veterans, residents with disabilities and LGBTQ+ residents under licensee’s 

Diversity Plan in accordance with 935 Code Mass. Regs. § 500.101(1)(c)8.k. 

and 935 Code Mass. Regs. § 500.103(4)(b). 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the renewal roster of item number 61 on 

the agenda, subject to the condition articulated by Commissioner Stebbins. 

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the renewal roster item 61, subject to the 

condition articulated by Commissioner Stebbins. 

 

8) Staff Recommendations on Provisional Licenses – 04:50:37 

 

1. Chill & Bliss, LLC (#MRN284916), Retail  

 Commissioner Camargo moved to approve the Provisional License.  

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Provisional License. 

 

2. Faded Flowers, LLC (#MCN283840), Cultivation, Tier 1 / Indoor  

 Commissioner Camargo moved to approve the Provisional License.  

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.   



 
 

   
8 

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Provisional License.  

 

3. Medicine Man Solutions, LLC (#MRN283261), Retail  

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the Provisional License.  

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Provisional License.  

 

4. Melting Pot Manufacturing, Inc. (#MPN281882), Product Manufacturing  

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the Provisional License.   

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Provisional License.  

 

5. Pure Tewksbury, Inc. (#MRN284994), Retail  

 Commissioner Stebbins requested two conditions on this license. 

o Proposed condition: Prior to Final Application for Licensure, review Positive 

Impact Plan and verify non-profit partner status and confirmation to accept 

donations in accordance with 935 Code Mass. Regs. § 500.101(1)(a)11, and 

provide any updates to CCC Licensing Division. 

o Proposed condition: Prior to Final Application for Licensure, review Positive 

Impact Plan and verify your non-profit partner’s ability to support your 

interest in assisting the Disproportionately Impacted Area of Lowell in 

accordance with 935 Code Mass. Regs. § 500.101(1)(a)11, and provide any 

updates to CCC Licensing Division. 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the Provisional License, subject to the 

conditions articulated by Commissioner Stebbins.  

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 



 
 

   
9 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Provisional License, subject to the 

conditions articulated by Commissioner Stebbins. 

 

6. The Copley Connection, LLC (#MRN284935), Retail  

 Commissioner Camargo moved to approve the Provisional License.  

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Provisional License.  

 

9) Staff Recommendations on Final Licenses – 04:59:24 

 

1. Aura Cannabis Company, LLC (#MR282487), Retail 

2. Cannabis Connection II, Inc. (#MR284816), Retail 

3. Diem Orange, LLC (#MP281684), Product Manufacturing 

4. Grassp Ventures, LLC (#MD1262), Marijuana Delivery Operator 

5. Greener Leaf, Inc. (#MR281790), Retail 

6. R and R Ventures, LLC (#MB281504), Microbusiness (Cultivation and Product 

Manufacturing Operations) 

7. The Holistic Concepts, Inc. (#MR283012), Retail 

8. Tree Market Lynn, LLC (#MR282587), Retail 

9. Underground Legacy Social Club, LLC (#MR284914), Retail 

 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the final license roster from one to nine as 

indicated on the agenda. 

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the final license roster from one to nine.  

 

10) Staff Recommendations on Responsible Vendor Training – 05:00:34 

 

1. 420 Trainers LLC (#DCCN462255) 

 Commissioner Camargo moved to approve the staff recommendation on the 

Responsible Vendor Training program. 

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 



 
 

   
10 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the staff recommendation on the 

Responsible Vendor Training program.  

 

2. Bright Buds Training (#DCCN462226) 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the staff recommendation on the 

Responsible Vendor Training program. 

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the staff recommendation on the 

Responsible Vendor Training program.  

 

11)  Staff Recommendations on Responsible Vendor Training Renewals – 05:02:32 

 

1. MACCTI, LLC (#RVR453145)  

 Commissioner Camargo moved to approve the Responsible Vendor Training renewal. 

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Responsible Vendor Training renewal. 
 

 The AC noted that on the presentation slide regarding Final Licenses, one of the 

applicants, item number four, was incorrectly identified as Grass Ventures, LLC and 

should have been listed as Grassp Ventures, LLC. 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the Final License for Grassp Ventures, 

LLC. 

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Final License.  
 

12) Commission Discussion and Votes – 05:07:19 
 

1. Acting Executive Director/Commission Check-In  



 
 

   
11 

 Commissioner Stebbins noted, as AED Hilton-Creek is serving as the Acting ED, that 

there were not established protocols for regular check-ins and the Commission’s open 

meetings could serve as an appropriate venue to do so. AED Hilton-Creek noted that 

the biggest issue she saw was communication between the ED, Commissioners and 

staff. Commissioner Camargo suggested that a committee could be established to 

hold regular meetings composed of two Commissioners to support AED Hilton-Creek 

and to pass on institutional knowledge. The Commissioners discussed how to 

establish better lines of communication. AED Hilton-Creek emphasized that resolving 

issues with communication would help the future ED and recommended that the two-

Commissioner meetings be held on an ad-hoc basis with any concerns run by GC 

Gasson to be sure that the meetings are compliant with the Open Meeting Law.  

 

2. Bulletin – Safe and Sanitary Requirements for the Processing of Marijuana 

 The AC noted that the Commission had recently released a bulletin regarding worker 

safety and emphasized her intent, and the intent of the Commission, to ensure 

adequate safety measures for workers in the cannabis industry.  

 

13) Next Meeting Date – 06:30:57 

 The AC noted that there was another meeting February which had not yet been 

noticed where topics could include the model HCA, corresponding guidance, the sale 

of non-marijuana products at licensed establishments with a focus on lottery tickets, 

and the ED search. 

 The AC stated that the notice would go out for the next February meeting shortly.  

 

14) New Business Not Anticipated at the Time of Posting – (6:32:28) 

 The AC stated that there was no new business. 

 

15) Adjournment – (6:33:32)  

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to adjourn.  

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the motion to adjourn. 
 



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

    

 

CANNABIS CONTROL COMMISSION 

 

February 29, 2024 

10:00 AM 

 

Via Remote Participation via Microsoft Teams Live* 

 

PUBLIC MEETING MINUTES 

 

Documents: 

 Meeting Packet 

 Model Host Community Agreement Template (Final-PM-DID190) 

 Guidance on Host Community Agreements (Final-PM-DID029) February 2024 

 Guidance on Licensure (Final-PM-DID027) February 2024 

 Memorandum-Sale of Lottery Products by Marijuana Establishments 

 Enforcement Counsel Advisory-Non-Marijuana Product Sales 

 Cannabis Control Commission’s February 6, 2024, letter to Senator Michael O. 

Moore 

 

In Attendance: 

 Acting Chair Ava Callender Concepcion 

 Commissioner Nurys Z. Camargo  

 Commissioner Kimberly Roy 

 Commissioner Bruce Stebbins 

  

Minutes:  

 

1) Call to Order 

 The Acting Chair recognized a quorum and called the meeting to order. She gave 

notice that the meeting was being recorded and provided an overview of the agenda.  

 

2) Commissioners’ Comments and Updates – 00:01:40 

 Commissioner Camargo discussed a visit to Tree House Craft Cannabis in Dracut 

where topics included market saturation, capital constraints, potential implementation 

of a Lottery system, renewals, Host Community Agreements (HCAs), hemp product 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_YzExMTYyMzgtMTJkMC00MDgxLTllYmMtNDMwNDY4MTBhYjY1%40thread.v2/0?context=%7B%22Tid%22%3A%222fa081e5-cafb-4989-9fe5-91317f047c5c%22%2C%22Oid%22%3A%22b81a5c1b-dc8d-4be0-9448-f451ca13085b%22%2C%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3Atrue%2C%22role%22%3A%22a%22%7D&btype=a&role=a
https://masscannabiscontrol.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/Meeting-Book-Cannabis-Control-Commission-February-Policy-Meeting-Packet.pdf


 

 

   

2 

regulations and challenges faced by breastfeeding mothers in accessing dispensaries. 

Commissioner Roy discussed a meeting she attended along with Commissioner 

Stebbins with the Association of Cannabis Testing Laboratories during which 

concerns regarding lab shopping and potency inflation were addressed as well as a 

visit with the City of Gardner's Council on Aging to speak about the cannabis 

industry. Commissioner Stebbins noted a separate visit to Tree House Craft Cannabis 

to learn about the company’s efforts to recycle cannabis packaging and their plans for 

an outdoor grow facility. He also noted a series of calls with the Cannabis Advisory 

Board along with the Social Consumption working group. The Acting Chair read a 

specific component of a letter to Senator Michael O. Moore noting that the intended 

purpose of the letter was to clarify the composition and function of the Commission 

and to address any potential questions. Acting Executive Director Debra Hilton-Creek 

(AED Hilton-Creek) announced the onboarding of two new members for the 

positions of Chief Financial and Accounting Officer and Budget Director. 

Furthermore, she announced that the Commission would be hosting a Social Equity 

Program application clinic in Lawrence on March 2, 2024. 

  

3) Commission Discussion and Votes – 00:24:50 

 

1. AED/CPO Evaluation Committees 

 

 The Acting Chair introduced the topic and stated the intention to establish two 

evaluation committees: one for the AED role and another for the Chief People Officer 

(CPO). The Acting Chair emphasized that the committees aimed to provide additional 

support, clarify reporting structures, conduct evaluations and facilitate regular check-

ins. Commissioner Stebbins expressed some reluctance toward forming an evaluation 

committee and suggested focusing on teamwork to support the AED. General 

Counsel Kristina Gasson (GC Gasson) proposed reframing the evaluation process as a 

delegation of authority rather than as a committee. GC Gasson’s suggestion involved 

conducting reviews among less-than a quorum of Commissioners and sharing those 

results during a public meeting. Commissioner Stebbins emphasized the importance 

of considering evaluations in relation to the AED/CPO dual roles and suggested that 

any evaluation process would require agreement from all Commissioners. 

Commissioner Roy proposed aligning the evaluation timeline with the fiscal year, and 

revisiting the evaluation process with a new ED on board. Commissioner Stebbins 

agreed and stated that this should be a part of a long-term discussion.  

 Commissioner Camargo moved to delegate authority to Acting Chair Concepcion and 

Commissioner Roy to conduct check-ins and performance reviews with Debra Hilton-

Creek in her capacity as AED of the Commission. 

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.  

 The Acting Chair took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes   

o Commission Roy – Yes  



 

 

   

3 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes  

o Acting Chair Concepcion – Yes  

 The Commission unanimously approved to delegate authority to Acting Chair 

Concepcion and Commissioner Roy to conduct check-ins and performance reviews 

with Debra Hilton-Creek in her capacity as AED of the Commission. 
 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to delegate authority to Commissioner Camargo and 

Commissioner Stebbins to conduct check-ins and performance reviews with Debra 

Hilton-Creek in her capacity as CPO of the Commission. 

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.  

 The Acting Chair took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes   

o Commission Roy – Yes  

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes  

o Acting Chair Concepcion – Yes  

 The Commission unanimously approved to delegate authority to Commissioner 

Camargo and Commissioner Stebbins to conduct check-ins and performance reviews 

with Debra Hilton-Creek in her capacity as CPO of the Commission. 

 

 2. Model HCA Template 

 Director of Licensing Kyle Potvin (DOL Potvin) provided an overview of the Model 

HCA. He highlighted that a public comment period was held from January 17, 2024, 

to January 31, 2024, during which 20 submissions were received. He explained that 

comments were reviewed, categorized, and assessed to ensure compliance with 

relevant laws and regulations. He acknowledged that once finalized, the template 

would be posted on the Commission’s website for use by industry applicants and 

municipalities. Commissioner Roy raised questions about renewal timelines and the 

five-day notification period for licensees to inform municipalities about renewal 

dates. DOL Potvin clarified that the five-day notification period was based on 

consistent requirements outlined in the regulations. Commissioner Roy addressed 

concerns about nuisance complaints, terms clarification, disputed Community Impact 

Fees (CIFs) and fiscal year definition. DOL Potvin addressed Commissioner Roy’s 

questions and provided explanations. Commissioner Camargo expressed the need for 

education regarding the implementation of Chapter 180 to address confusion among 

operators and municipalities. She raised concerns about renewals which highlighted 

challenges faced by individuals in HCA negotiations. The Acting Chair clarified that 

the Model HCA served as a supportive tool, and legal requirements had been 

established months prior. Commissioner Roy proposed incorporating the term 

“upfront” preceding “payments” in relation to 935 Code Mass. Regs. 500.180(2)(l)2, 

and the Acting Chair voiced agreement with the proposed language. 

 



 

 

   

4 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve and adopt the draft Model HCA as 

amended to be used as described in the Board’s regulations at 935 CMR 500.180, and 

935 CMR 501.180, subject to non-substantive typographical and ministerial edits by 

staff and inclusion of the term “upfront monetary payments” as prescribed on page 7 

of the model. 

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion. 

 The Acting Chair took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes  

o Commission Roy – Yes  

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes  

o Acting Chair Concepcion – Yes  

 The Commission unanimously approved the draft Model HCA. 

 The Commission recessed for a ten-minute break, returning at 12:15 PM.  

 

3. Guidance on Host Community Agreements (02:14:28) 

 DOL Potvin presented an overview of the draft guidance on HCAs. The document 

outlined the usage of the Model HCA, HCA waiver and Equitable relief as interim 

solutions for municipalities and licensees without compliant HCAs. He explained the 

concept of “reasonably related” was defined in the guidance, but specific examples 

were not provided due to the need for a fact-specific analysis. Commissioner Roy 

suggested enhancing document accessibility by including links to relevant sections on 

the Commission's website. Commissioner Camargo expressed concerns about the 

negative impact of inappropriate CIFs on cannabis industry operators and emphasized 

the importance of training, ongoing dialogue and clear guidelines for fairness and 

integrity. DOL Potvin discussed how the Commission’s HCA review process would 

address this issue. Commissioner Roy proposed expanding the Municipal tracker to 

include information on HCAs and municipalities that no longer charge CIFs. 

Commissioner Stebbins suggested creating an application to collect data from 

municipalities regarding their bylaws and ordinances related to Municipal Equity 

provisions and CIFs. 

 

 Commissioner Roy moved to approve the posting and distribution of the draft 

Guidance on HCAs, subject to non-substantive of typographical and ministerial edits 

by staff. 

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion. 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o Acting Chair Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the motion. 

 

4. Guidance on Licensure 



 

 

   

5 

 DOL Potvin presented an overview of the Guidance on Licensure, providing key 

details and explanations. He acknowledged that various changes were implemented, 

such as the removal of information about the Social Consumption Pilot Program, 

modification of the HCA Certification Form requirement, and the inclusion of details 

about the Cannabis Social Equity Trust Fund. He highlighted that the Guidance 

document covered the expansion of pre-certification eligibility for SE businesses, and 

the timeframe for municipal responses was adjusted from 60 to 30 days for certain 

applicants. 

 

 Commissioner Camargo moved to approve the draft Guidance on Licensure for 

posting and distribution, subject to non-substantive of typographical and ministerial 

edits by staff. 

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion. 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o Acting Chair Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the motion. 

   

 DOL Potvin presented two additional slides focused on the development of updated 

forms such as the Equitable Relief Form, HCA Waiver Form, and General Complaint 

Form. He acknowledged changes to forms related to ownership, location and name 

updates due to Chapter 180. The presentation mentioned forthcoming guidance on 

Municipal Equity, the creation of a standard evaluation form for HCAs, and 

implementation of improved license application processes. Commissioner Roy 

proposed the publication of CIFs as public documents. DOL Potvin noted that while 

publishing CIFs is not currently mandated by policy, it could be considered an 

administrative decision in the future. He emphasized that the goal was to strike a 

balance between administrative processes, transparency and policy objectives. He 

concluded that specific details and implementation approaches for making CIFs 

public would be part of ongoing discussions and considerations. 

 The Commission agreed to a thirteen-minute recess, returning at 1:20 PM.  

 

5. Massachusetts Lottery Sales at Licensed Marijuana Retailers Discussion (03:19:47) 

 GC Gasson provided an overview on the sale of lottery products by a Marijuana 

Establishment and presented a memorandum on the topic. Commissioner Stebbins 

noted some that this was a substantive issue which would require further 

consideration in light of potential compliance issues and conflicts with the 

Massachusetts State Lottery Commission’s (MSLC’s) regulations. He suggested that 

a Memorandum of Understanding with the MSLC could alleviate some issues. 

Commissioner Roy brought up the issues of loitering and Cannabis and lottery money 

intermingling. Acting Chief of Investigations and Enforcement Nomxolisi Khumalo 



 

 

   

6 

spoke about compliance concerns and pointed out that an entity in Colorado which 

had previously engaged in lottery sales had discontinued due to profitability concerns. 

She confirmed that it was a single licensee who was seeking to sell lottery products 

and they had been approved by the MSLC. AED Hilton-Creek noted that Social 

Consumption could prompt licensees to request permission to sell many products 

besides Marijuana and that this required a broad conversation. The Acting Chair 

agreed and stated she would not be in favor of approving lottery sales at this meeting. 

Commissioner Roy emphasized the need for further information, a comprehensive 

review and deliberation before reaching a final decision. Commissioner Stebbins 

agreed to work with the Legal and Investigations and Enforcement teams to further 

research the topic. The vote on the matter remained pending and awaiting a policy 

discussion among the Commissioners. 

 

4) New Business Not Anticipated at the Time of Posting – 03:57:10 

 No new items were identified. 

 Commissioner Roy announced her intention to include the Excel delegation list in the 

March 7, 2024, public meeting. She explained that the Commission would need to 

assess each item on the list to ascertain its jurisdiction and potential reallocation to 

other departments.  

 

5) Next Meeting Date – 03:57:24 

 The Acting Chair noted that the next meeting would take place on Thursday, March 

7, 2024. 

 

6) Adjournment – 04:04:37  

 Commissioner Roy moved to adjourn.  

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.  

 The Acting Chair took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o Acting Chair Concepcion – Yes 
 The Commission unanimously approved the motion to adjourn. 

 

 

 

 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
 

CANNABIS CONTROL COMMISSION 

 

March 7, 2024 

10:00 AM 

 

Remote via Microsoft Teams Live* 

 

 

PUBLIC MEETING MINUTES 

 

Documents: 

 Application Materials associated with:  

o Staff Recommendations on Changes of Ownership 

o Staff Recommendations on Renewal Licenses 

o Staff Recommendations on Provisional Licenses 

o Staff Recommendations on Final Licenses 

o Staff Recommendations on Responsible Vendor Training Renewals 

 Meeting Packet 

 Job Description: Human Resources Manager 

 Job Description: Executive Director 

 

In Attendance: 

 Acting Chair Ava Callender Concepcion 

 Commissioner Nurys Z. Camargo  

 Commissioner Kimberly Roy 

 Commissioner Bruce Stebbins 

 

Minutes:  

1) Call to Order 

 The Acting Chair (AC) recognized a quorum and called the meeting to order.  

 The AC gave notice that the meeting is being recorded.  

 The AC gave an overview of the agenda. 

 

2) Commissioners’ Comments & Updates – 00:01:58 

 Commissioner Stebbins noted a recent public appearance at a Social Equity Program 

kickoff event and the upcoming New England Cannabis Convention (NECANN) 

event. Commissioner Roy discussed the nation-wide issue of lab-shopping. She noted 

the potential conflict of having Independent Testing Laboratories (ITLs), which the 

Commission is responsible for regulating, serve as the Commission’s testing vendor. 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_NWU4NzM2ZTctZWJhNC00NzJhLTgyYTYtYWMxZmU3YjViNjlj%40thread.v2/0?context=%7B%22Tid%22%3A%222fa081e5-cafb-4989-9fe5-91317f047c5c%22%2C%22Oid%22%3A%22b81a5c1b-dc8d-4be0-9448-f451ca13085b%22%2C%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3Atrue%2C%22role%22%3A%22a%22%7D&btype=a&role=a
https://masscannabiscontrol.com/document/public-meeting-material-packet-march-7-2024/


 
 

   
2 

Commissioner Roy advocated for a standards laboratory to serve as the 

Commission’s final arbiter of confirmatory testing. She noted that Vermont’s 

Cannabis Control Board’s recent establishment of an agency-run testing lab could 

serve as a model for the Commission. The AC noted she would also be presenting at 

NECANN. 

 

3) Minutes for Approval – 00:13:10 

 September 22, 2023 

o Commissioner Roy moved to approve the September 22, 2023, Commission 

public meeting minutes.  

o Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.  

o The AC took a roll call vote:  

 Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

 Commissioner Roy – Yes 

 Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

 AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the September 22, 2023, Commission public 

meeting minutes. 

 

4) Executive Director and Commission Staff Report – 00:13:57 

 Acting Executive Director Debra Hilton-Creek (AED Hilton-Creek) updated the 

Commissioners on the ongoing search for a new Executive Director and a presented a 

framework for different roles, responsibilities and milestones that she had created to 

facilitate the search. Commissioner Roy requested that the Commissioners go through 

the job description line-by-line to ensure that everyone’s voice was heard during the 

Commission Discussion and Votes section of the agenda. The AC agreed. AED 

Hilton-Creek noted the onboarding of new staff and fielded questions from the 

Commissioners on the recently reintroduced Chief of Staff position. She clarified the 

Chief of Staff role would facilitate communication between departments, 

Commissioners, and the Executive Director. Director of Licensing Kyle Potvin 

(Director Potvin) updated the Commissioners on the implementation of Chapter 180. 

Commissioner Roy asked if he had noticed any common themes in his review of Host 

Community Agreements (HCAs) as is often the case with Post Provisional License 

Inspections. Director Potvin noted that in his preliminary review of renewal 

applications, he had not found a compliant HCA and that the most common issue was 

improper Community Impact Fees. Director Potvin presented highlights from general 

licensing data. 

 

5) Staff Recommendations on Changes of Ownership – 01:33:26 

 Licensing Analyst Derek Chamberlin presented on behalf of the licensing department 

the Staff Recommendations for Changes of Ownership, Renewals, Provisionals, Final 

licenses and Responsible Vendor Training Renewals.  

 

1. Grow Rite, LLC.  



 
 

   
3 

 Commissioner Camargo moved to approve the Change of Ownership. 

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Change of Ownership. 

 

2. Metro Harvest, Inc. 

 Commissioner Roy moved to approve the Change of Ownership. 

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

3. The Commission unanimously approved the Change of Ownership 

 

6) Staff Recommendations on Renewals – 01:35:42 

 Commissioner Stebbins made a motion to approve items numbered 1-67, excluding 

items numbered 6, 9, 45, 54, and 57 on the agenda. 

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the renewal roster of items numbered 1-67, 

excluding items numbered 6, 9, 45, 54, and 57 on the agenda. 

 

 Atlas Marketplace & Delivery, LLC (#MTR263112)  

 Commissioner Stebbins requested a condition. 

o Proposed condition: Within thirty business days of approval of Application for 

Renewal, contact CCC Licensing Division for an update to clarify goals and 

updates to licensee’s Positive Impact Plan in accordance with 935 Code Mass. 

Regs. § 500.103(4)(b). 

 Commissioner Roy moved to approve the renewal of item number 6 on the agenda, 

subject to the condition articulated by Commissioner Stebbins. 

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 



 
 

   
4 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the renewal of item number 6 on the agenda, 

subject to the condition articulated by Commissioner Stebbins. 

 

 Calverde Naturals, LLC (#MRR206775) 

 Commissioner Stebbins requested a condition. 

o Proposed condition: Within thirty business days of approval of Application for 

Renewal, contact CCC Licensing Division with any updates upon 

consideration whether Goal #3 under licensee’s Diversity Plan could better 

align with goals of Positive Impact Plan in accordance with 935 Code Mass. 

Regs. § 500.101(1)(a)11. 

 Commissioner Camargo moved to approve the renewal of item number 9 on the 

agenda, subject to the condition articulated by Commissioner Stebbins. 

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the renewal of item number 9 on the agenda, 

subject to the condition articulated by Commissioner Stebbins. 

 

 Legacy Foundation Group, LLC (#ILR267936),  

 Commissioner Stebbins requested a condition. 

o Proposed condition: Within thirty business days of approval of Application for 

Renewal, contact CCC Licensing Division for an update on progress with 

respect to Goal #2 of licensee’s Diversity Plan in accordance with 935 Code 

Mass. Regs. § 500.101(1)(c)8.k. and 935 Code Mass. Regs. § 500.103(4)(b). 

 Commissioner Roy moved to approve the renewal of item number 45 on the agenda, 

subject to the condition articulated by Commissioner Stebbins. 

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the renewal of item number 45 on the 

agenda, subject to the condition articulated by Commissioner Stebbins. 

 

 Regenerative LLC (#MPR244145) 

 Commissioner Stebbins requested a condition. 



 
 

   
5 

o Proposed condition: Within thirty business days of approval of Application for 

Renewal, contact CCC Licensing Division to identify any goals for hiring 

veterans and residents with disabilities in licensee’s Diversity Plan in 

accordance with 935 Code Mass. Regs. § 500.101(1)(c)8.k. and 935 Code 

Mass. Regs. § 500.103(4)(b). 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the renewal of item number 54 on the 

agenda, subject to the condition articulated by Commissioner Stebbins. 

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the renewal of item number 54 on the 

agenda, subject to the condition articulated by Commissioner Stebbins. 

 

 Solar Therapeutics Inc (#MCR140688) 

 Commissioner Stebbins requested a condition. 

o Proposed condition: Within thirty business days of approval of Application for 

Renewal, contact CCC Licensing Division to identify any timeline for 

initiating goals #2 and #3 under licensee’s Positive Impact Plan in accordance 

with 935 Code Mass. Regs. § 500.101(1)(a)11 and 935 Code Mass. Regs. § 

500.103(4)(b). 

 Commissioner Camargo moved to approve the renewal of item number 57 on the 

agenda, subject to the condition articulated by Commissioner Stebbins. 

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the renewal of item number 57 on the 

agenda, subject to the condition articulated by Commissioner Stebbins. 

 

7) Staff Recommendations on Provisional Licenses – 01:47:48 

 

1. Hidden Wonders, LLC (#MRN285040), Retail  

 Commissioner Roy requested a condition. 

o Proposed condition: Prior to final licensure, in accordance with 935 Code 

Mass. Regs. § 500.140(6)(g) please include the phone number for the 

Massachusetts Substance Use Helpline on your consumer education. 

 Commissioner Roy moved to approve the Provisional License, subject to the 

condition articulated by Commissioner Roy.   



 
 

   
6 

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Provisional License, subject to the 

condition articulated by Commissioner Roy. 

 

8) Staff Recommendations on Final Licenses – 01:49:45 

 

1. Aura Cannabis Company (#MC282387), Cultivation, Tier 3 / Indoor 

2. Coastal Cultivars, Inc. (#MP281764), Product Manufacturing 

3. Dreamfields Massachusetts One, LLC (#MP282054), Product Manufacturing 

4. Enlite Cannabis Dispensary, LLC (#MR284651), Retail 

5. Gan Or, LLC (#MC283548), Cultivation, Tier 1 / Indoor 

6. JO Gardner, Inc. (#MR284026), Retail 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the Final License roster from one to six, as 

indicated on the agenda. 

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the final license roster from one to six.  

 

9)  Staff Recommendations on Responsible Vendor Training Renewals – 01:50:55 

 

1. Marijuana Handlers (#RVR453146)  

 Commissioner Camargo moved to approve the Responsible Vendor Training renewal. 

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Responsible Vendor Training renewal. 

 The Commissioners agreed to take a one-hour recess until 1:00PM. 
 

10)  Commission Discussion and Votes – 03:03:29 

 

1. Executive Director Search Update 



 
 

   
7 

 The Commissioners discussed the substance and wording of the job 

purpose/summary, core responsibilities, and pay band for the Executive Director (ED) 

position with input from AED Hilton-Creek and General Counsel Kristina Gasson. 

For the purpose of determining the pay band, the Commissioners discussed the 

salaries of other EDs in the Commonwealth, similar positions in other states, and 

what the previous ED was paid. AED Hilton-Creek stated that further research was 

needed, and that the salary would likely not be finalized at the meeting. 

 The Commissioners agreed to take a five-minute recess until 3:20PM.  

 

 The Commission returned (05:21:51). 

 The AC reiterated the edits to the core responsibilities section of the ED job posting 

and Commissioners continued to edit the professional competencies, skills and 

attributes section. Moving on to the minimum qualifications section, the 

Commissioners discussed reasonable expectations for educational background. The 

AC noted that Commissioner Roy was no longer in attendance and there would not be 

enough time to complete discussion regarding the ED job posting.  

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to table the ED search update/job description until the 

next public meeting. 

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the motion to table the ED search update/job 

description until the next public meeting. 

 

2. Job Description: Human Resources Manager 

 AED Hilton-Creek explained her rationale for moving forward on hiring a Human 

Resources Manager rather than a Human Resources Director. She noted that the 

human resources department was mostly composed of individuals that were towards 

the beginning of their human resource careers and a manager would be able to work 

more closely with existing staff and aid in their professional development. AED 

Hilton-Creek noted that a Director would eventually be sought out, but that the 

budget did not allow for both positions to be filled at the current time. Commissioner 

Stebbins expressed concern that a leadership position was being left vacant and 

potentially removing a route for current employees to advance. AED Hilton-Creek 

responded that establishing a Human Resources Manager position would better serve 

the needs of the department and would serve as a track for promotions. AED Hilton-

Creek fielded questions from the Commissioners regarding the distinction between 

the two positions and responded that a manager would better address the needs of the 

department.  

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the job description for a Human Resources 

Manager. 

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.   



 
 

   
8 

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the job description for a Human Resources 

Manager. 

 

11) Next Meeting Date – 07:43:58 

 The AC explained that there would be another public meeting in March which had 

not yet been noticed to complete the discussion regarding the ED job description and 

displayed the slide indicating that the next scheduled meeting would be on Thursday, 

April 11, 2024.  

 

12) New Business Not Anticipated at the Time of Posting – 07:44:45  

 Commissioner Stebbins noted that in the meeting on February 16, 2024, he had 

mentioned a meeting with a group of ITLs and had stated that staff from the testing 

department were there. He elaborated on his mistake and clarified that no staff from 

the testing department were present.  

 

13) Adjournment – 07:46:40  

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to adjourn.  

 Commissioner Camargo seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Camargo – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the motion to adjourn. 
 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
 

CANNABIS CONTROL COMMISSION 

 

March 29, 2024 

10:00 AM 

 

Remote via Microsoft Teams Live* 

 

PUBLIC MEETING MINUTES 

 

Documents: 

 Meeting Packet 

 Executive Director Job Description 

 

In Attendance: 

 Acting Chair Ava Callender Concepcion 

 Commissioner Kimberly Roy 

 Commissioner Bruce Stebbins 

 

Minutes:  

1) Call to Order 

 The Acting Chair (AC) recognized a quorum and called the meeting to order.  

 The AC gave notice that the meeting is being recorded.  

 The AC gave an overview of the agenda. 

 

2) Commissioners’ Comments & Updates – 00:00:55 

 Commissioner Roy spoke about her recent public appearances at the New England 

Cannabis Convention (NECANN), on Quincy public access, and at a meeting 

regarding diversion with representatives from Washington State. Commissioner Roy 

also noted a meeting with Commissioner Stebbins, Chief of Research Dr. Julie 

Johnson, and an Independent Testing Lab regarding the issue of lab shopping. She 

commented about the potential inflation of potency of marijuana and marijuana 

products. Commissioner Stebbins also mentioned his appearance at NECANN where 

he spoke about social consumption and noted that he was happy to see more banking 

institutions present at the event. He also mentioned a successful Social Equity 

Program (SEP) application orientation at the New Bedford public library and recent 

tours of dispensaries he had taken on the South Shore and in Fitchburg. The AC 

discussed her fireside chat at NECANN and praised Governor Maura Healey’s recent 

pardons of past cannabis convictions and efforts to right the previous wrongs of 

convictions under marijuana prohibition.  

 

3) Executive Director Job Description – 00:11:00 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_YTM4ZTRlYTgtOTU3NC00NDY4LTg5ZjktOWJiNjBiMTExY2Nk%40thread.v2/0?context=%7B%22Tid%22%3A%222fa081e5-cafb-4989-9fe5-91317f047c5c%22%2C%22Oid%22%3A%22b81a5c1b-dc8d-4be0-9448-f451ca13085b%22%2C%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3Atrue%2C%22role%22%3A%22a%22%7D&btype=a&role=a
https://masscannabiscontrol.com/document/public-meeting-material-packet-march-29-2024/


 
 

   
2 

 The AC noted herself and Commissioner Stebbins began looking into the Executive 

Director (ED) search and that the goal for the day was to finalize the job description. 

The AC stated that she, Commissioner Stebbins and Acting Executive Director Debra 

Hilton-Creek (AED Hilton-Creek) will meet before the April meeting to identify 

members of the working group.  General Counsel Kristina Gasson (GC Gasson) 

summarized where the Commission had left off during its last meeting regarding the 

ED job description and that at this point the Commission would move on to discuss 

minimum qualifications and requirements. 

 The AC began discussing minimum qualifications and asked GC Gasson for context 

on a comment regarding the requirement for 5-10 years of relevant management 

experience. GC Gasson noted that there was a statutory requirement for the ED to 

have management experience and that it was up to the Commission to decide the 

minimum number of years of relevant management experience. AED Hilton-Creek 

stated that a minimum of 5 years of relevant management experience was reasonable 

and that 3-7 years would also work in light of the fact that another qualification was a 

degree minimum. She emphasized that she did not want to eliminate potential 

candidates who may not have the degree but may have the number of years of 

experience. The Commissioners discussed how to best balance the minimum 

requirements as to the number of years of relevant management experience, higher 

education and experience in the cannabis industry in order to cast the widest possible 

net. The Commissioners noted consensus that the minimum qualifications language 

should include, “A bachelor’s degree in public administration or business 

administration/management, or a related field, and three (3) to seven (7) years of 

relevant management experience. Cannabis industry experience or experience in a 

regulatory, enforcement and/or compliance environment a plus.” The Commissioners 

also agreed to include the language, “In lieu of a bachelor’s degree, five (5) to 10 

(ten) years of relevant management experience may be substituted.”  

 The AC read the next bullet point regarding a requirement for applicants to have an 

understanding of the Massachusetts cannabis industry. Commissioner Stebbins 

expressed concern about wording and limiting the search to individuals with 

knowledge of the Massachusetts cannabis industry. Commissioner Roy stated that 

specific knowledge of Massachusetts’ industry was a must for any applicant. The AC 

agreed. Commissioner Stebbins agreed that anyone who moved to the interview stage 

should certainly have knowledge of Massachusetts, but that to cast the largest net, it 

could be beneficial to include candidates who may not have direct experience with 

the state’s industry.  Commissioner Roy posed that Massachusetts was the first state 

to have an equity mandate and that candidates must be familiar with that requirement. 

Commissioner Stebbins said that he would let majority rule. The Commissioners 

deliberated on the wording of a bullet point describing the required experience in 

fiscal management, strategic planning and collaboration with executive level staff, 

and board members to best describe the experience sought.  

 The AC moved to the section titled “Preferred Qualifications” and AED Hilton-Creek 

described how the human resources world was moving away from using terms like 

“preferred qualifications” and instead using words like “plus” or “ideal” as using the 

word “preferred” might discourage people who are qualified from applying. 



 
 

   
3 

Commissioner Stebbins asked if the decision-making process came down to two 

candidates, but there was no “Preferred Qualifications” section, could the 

Commission still defer to those qualifications to determine the best candidate. AED 

Hilton-Creek stated it would not come to that point as an applicant who did not meet 

the preferred qualifications would be eliminated earlier in the process. AED Hilton-

Creek suggested that the header “Preferred Qualifications” should be removed, and 

each of the bullet points moved to the “Minimum Qualifications” section, with the 

phrase “a plus” added to the end of each, which the Commissioners agreed. The 

Commissioners discussed the bullet point regarding the necessity of candidates 

having worked in a municipal, state, or federal agency/organization and decided to 

expand the point to include those who had experience working in collaboration with 

government agencies. The AC moved to the section titled “ADAA – Working 

Conditions” and read the bullet points. Commissioner Roy expressed concern that the 

first bullet was overly prescriptive and that it may exclude people who are wheelchair 

bound. AED Hilton-Creek explained that the “reasonable accommodations” 

disclaimer addressed this issue. 

 The AC moved to the section titled “Cannabis Control Commission – Mission 

Statement and Operating Principals” and read the mission statement. Commissioner 

Roy expressed concern that disabled people were not identified in the mission 

statement. AED Hilton-Creek stated that this is the Commission’s mission statement 

and that it could not be changed for the purpose of the job posting. She suggested 

that, if this was a concern of Commissioner Roy’s, it should be brought up the next 

time the mission statement is revisited. The AC moved to the section titled “Our 

Operating Principles” and read the bullet points. AED Hilton-Creek explained that the 

approvals section would be signed when the description was finalized along with a 

salary suggested by the Chief Financial and Accounting Officer that falls within the 

CCC budget.  

 AED Hilton-Creek explained that the Commission uses a “Broadbanding” 

methodology for determining pay band where positions of similar rank fall within a 

given salary range. The ED position is an exception, as the Commission sets the ED’s 

salary, however the Commission has the authority to use a similar philosophy. AED 

Hilton-Creek stated that a market analysis was completed to guide the Commission in 

its decision which looked at other state agencies with a similar number of employees 

and that the Commission may decide the appropriate salary range based on the 

analysis.  AED Hilton-Creek stated that based on the previously stated factors, the 

recommendation for the ED salary was a minimum of $157,000, a mid-range of 

$187,000, and a maximum of $217,000. The AC asked what the effect of moving the 

minimum to $187,000.00 would be. AED Hilton-Creek stated that it would be 

financially difficult for the Commission and clarified that, if there was a well-

qualified candidate, the Commission was free to go above the mid-point. The 

Commissioners agreed a salary range of $157,000.00 - $187,000.00 for the purpose of 

the job posting, with a maximum of $217,000.00 if the candidate far exceeds the 

minimum requirements. Commissioner Stebbins noted that applicants should be 

aware that, if chosen, they would be interviewed by the Commission in an open 

meeting.  The AC asked AED Hilton-Creek how that could be included in the 

posting. AED Hilton-Creek suggested putting it in a supplemental document which 



 
 

   
4 

described basic information regarding the Commission’s location, demographics, and 

purpose. 

 Commissioner Roy moved to approve the job description for the ED position. 

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the job description for the ED position. 

 The AC continued the discussion regarding the job posting and asked when it could 

be posted online. AED Hilton-Creek stated that the job description and supplemental 

documents would need to be finalized and that they could be posted within one or two 

weeks. AED Hilton-Creek noted that a discussion was needed as to how to process 

applications and how wide the search should be geographically. The AC stated that 

the search would be nation-wide and that the purpose of the subcommittee discussed 

earlier was to take care of the processing of applications and to provide updates to 

Commission in public meetings. The AC asked what needed to be finalized today so 

that the job can be posted as soon as possible. AED Hilton-Creek reiterated that the 

next steps were to finalize the documents so they could be posted and that there 

should be a meeting with the communications team for how to post it nation-wide. 

AED Hilton-Creek said it would likely be launched during the week of April 11th. 

Commissioner Roy asked if an external contractor would be used to handle the first 

round of screenings. AED Hilton-Creek stated that if an external contractor was used, 

it would need to go through the procurement process which would greatly delay the 

posting. The AC stated that first it should be an internal discussion as to what 

resources are available to the Commission and that this would be discussed before the 

April meeting. Commissioner Stebbins noted that the communications team would be 

a great help and that the Commission could revisit using a recruiter to cast a wider net 

if needed. Commissioner Stebbins also asked AED Hilton-Creek how long the job 

would be posted online. AED Hilton-Creek stated that it should only need to be 

posted for one month as the Commission does not have problems finding candidates. 

AED Hilton-Creek noted that the Cannabis Regulators Association would likely 

amplify the Commission’s efforts and that the Commission could also seek help from 

other state agencies who might be able to serve on the search committee. The AC 

stated that she, AED Hilton-Creek and Commissioner Stebbins would meet to review 

what was actually posted and confirm that all of the Commissioners’ comments were 

incorporated.  

 

4) New Business Not Anticipated at the Time of Posting – (2:16:17)  

 No new business. 

 

5) Next Meeting Date – (2:16:23) 

 The AC noted that the next meeting on be on Wednesday, April 11, 2024. 

 Commissioner Stebbins noted that the SEP team had an upcoming program 

orientation at the Roxbury Innovation Center on Saturday, April 6, 2024. 



 
 

   
5 

 

6) Adjournment – (2:17:21)  

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to adjourn. 

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion. 

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes  

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the motion to adjourn. 
 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
 

CANNABIS CONTROL COMMISSION 

 

April 11, 2024 

10:00 AM 

 

Remote via Microsoft Teams Live* 

 

PUBLIC MEETING MINUTES 

 

Documents: 

 Application Materials associated with:  

o Staff Recommendations on Changes of Ownership 

o Staff Recommendations on Renewal Licenses 

o Staff Recommendations on Provisional Licenses 

o Staff Recommendations on Final Licenses 

 Meeting Packet 

 50 Franklin Street lease 

 

In Attendance: 

 Acting Chair Ava Callender Concepcion 

 Commissioner Kimberly Roy 

 Commissioner Bruce Stebbins 

 

Minutes:  

1) Call to Order 

 The Acting Chair (AC) recognized a quorum and called the meeting to order.  

 The AC gave notice that the meeting is being recorded.  

 The AC gave an overview of the agenda and noted that the Commission would not 

reconvene in open session after the scheduled executive session. 

 

2) Commissioners’ Comments & Updates – 00:01:30 

 Commissioner Roy noted her recent appearances at the DCU Center for a Social 

Equity Program (SEP) application orientation and on the “Weed Wonks” podcast. 

She also referred licensees to the consumer education brochures available through the 

Massachusetts Health Promotion Clearinghouse in light of the upcoming 4/20 

holiday. Commissioner Stebbins noted his recent appearances at the DCU Center and 

on the “This is Worcester” program. He thanked the Government Affairs & Policy 

team for gathering research on the accounts receivable issue from other jurisdictions’ 

respective cannabis industries which he intended to review along with Commissioner 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_ODdmOTQ2M2QtZGRiOC00MDFkLWI0MDEtYzc1MTllYmEwZDA2%40thread.v2/0?context=%7B%22Tid%22%3A%222fa081e5-cafb-4989-9fe5-91317f047c5c%22%2C%22Oid%22%3A%22b81a5c1b-dc8d-4be0-9448-f451ca13085b%22%2C%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3Atrue%2C%22role%22%3A%22a%22%7D&btype=a&role=a
https://masscannabiscontrol.com/document/public-meeting-material-packet-april-11-2024/


 
 

   
2 

Roy and present at an upcoming public meeting. The AC noted recent appearances at 

an SEP application orientation at the Roxbury Innovation Center and with the 

Cannabis Regulators of Color Coalition. The AC highlighted a recent meeting with 

Director of Government Affairs & Policy Matthew Giancola (Director Giancola) and 

Copywriter Nadine Sanchara with a member of Senator Elizabeth Warren’s staff 

regarding federal legalization of marijuana. The AC noted upcoming events at the 

Harvard Business School for its first annual Cannabis Business Conference and the 

State of Cannabis Event at the State House.  

 

3) Minutes for Approval – 00:13:03 

 October 10, 2023 

 Commissioner Roy moved to approve the October 10, 2023, Commission public 

meeting minutes.  

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the October 10, 2023, Commission public 

meeting minutes. 

 

 October 12, 2023 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the October 12, 2023, Commission public 

meeting minutes.  

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the October 12, 2023, Commission public 

meeting minutes. 

 

 October 16, 2023 

 Commissioner Roy moved to approve the October 16, 2023, Commission public 

meeting minutes.  

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the October 16, 2023, Commission public 

meeting minutes. 

 



 
 

   
3 

 October 25, 2023 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the October 25, 2023, Commission public 

meeting minutes.  

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the October 25, 2023, Commission public 

meeting minutes. 

 

 November 1, 2023 

 Commissioner Roy moved to approve the November 1, 2023, Commission public 

meeting minutes.  

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the November 1, 2023, Commission public 

meeting minutes. 

 

 November 7, 2023 

 Commissioner Roy moved to approve the November 7, 2023, Commission public 

meeting minutes.  

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the November 7, 2023, Commission public 

meeting minutes. 

 

 November 14, 2023 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the November 14, 2023, Commission 

public meeting minutes.  

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the November 14, 2023, Commission public 

meeting minutes. 



 
 

   
4 

 

 November 30, 2023 

 Commissioner Roy moved to approve the November 30, 2023, Commission public 

meeting minutes.  

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the November 30, 2023, Commission public 

meeting minutes. 

 

 February 27, 2024 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the February 27, 2024, Commission public 

meeting minutes.  

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the February 27, 2024, Commission public 

meeting minutes. 

 

4) Acting Executive Director and Commission Staff Report – 00:17:43 

 Acting Executive Director Debra Hilton-Creek (AED Hilton-Creek) updated the 

Commission on recent hires and noted improved communication among employees. 

AED Hilton-Creek presented an overview of retention statistics and recruitment of 

key roles. Commissioner Stebbins asked about how to progress internal candidates 

who had not been chosen for promotion. AED Hilton-Creek noted that she had 

scheduled meeting to discuss options with internal candidates who had not been 

selected. Director of Licensing Kyle Potvin (Director Potvin) presented an update on 

the implementation of Chapter 180 and completion of deliverables since the last 

public meeting. Director Potvin noted that the largest issue with implementation of 

Chapter 180 would be getting compliant Host Community Agreements (HCAs) with 

the most common issue being inappropriate Community Impact Fees. He stated that 

by the end of the summer he expected to be able to provide Commissioners with data 

regarding the percentage of applications that were submitted with compliant HCAs. 

Director Potvin presented highlights from licensing data and noted that there were a 

larger number of applications awaiting first review as they were subject to the new 

regulations with regard to HCAs.  
 

5) Staff Recommendations on Changes of Ownership – 00:52:29 



 
 

   
5 

 Licensing Manager Anne DiMare presented on behalf of the licensing department the 

Staff Recommendations for Changes of Ownership, Renewals, Provisionals, Final 

licenses.  

 

1. Ganesh Wellness, Inc.  

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the Change of Ownership. 

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Change of Ownership. 

 

 Commissioner Roy asked how the complex corporate structures of some licensees 

and their potential involvement with litigation in Massachusetts and other 

jurisdictions affects the decision-making process of the licensing department. Director 

Potvin described the process for vetting licensees and any new entities introduced 

through changes of ownership, including proactive disclosures and background 

checks. Acting Director of Investigations Katherine Binkoski (Acting Director 

Binkoski) described the financial due diligence check that would be triggered by an 

entity on an application or change of ownership form and how that could potentially 

trigger a Request for Information to determine if there are any issues.  

 

2. New England Treatment Access, LLC.  

 Commissioner Roy moved to approve the Change of Ownership. 

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Change of Ownership. 

 

3. Underground Legacy Social Club, LLC.  

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the Change of Ownership. 

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Change of Ownership. 

 

6) Staff Recommendations on Renewals – 01:02:53 



 
 

   
6 

 Commissioner Stebbins noted that some licensees have found it difficult to fulfill 

their Positive Impact Plan (PIP) goals because of their distance from Areas of 

Disproportionate Impact (ADIs) and that one of the licensees up for renewal had 

scheduled an event for educational session in an ADI where there was no turn out. 

Commissioner Stebbins stated that the licensee’s explanation that there was a 

decreasing interest in entering the cannabis industry was a stretch and asked that 

licensees be proactive in ensuring that their PIP is impactful. The other 

Commissioners agreed with the sentiment.  

 Commissioner Stebbins made a motion to approve items numbered 1-44 and 46-49.  

Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the renewal roster of items numbered 1-44, 

and 46-49, on the agenda. 

 

 Commissioner Stebbins made a motion to delegate authority to review and approve 

the renewal of item number 45 to the Director of Licensing.  

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the motion to delegate authority to review 

and approve the renewal of item number 45 to the Director of Licensing. 

 

7) Staff Recommendations on Provisional Licenses – 01:16:42 

 

1. 686 Cultivation, LLC (#MCN283899), Cultivation, Tier 2 / Indoor and 686 Cultivation, LLC 

(#MPN282298), Product Manufacturer (colocated operations) 

 Commissioner Stebbins requested a condition for both licenses.  

o Proposed condition: Prior to Final Application for Licensure, consider 

revision to Positive Impact Plan Goal #1 and clarify hiring to impact 

Disproportionately Impacted Area designated community of Lowell in 

accordance with 935 Code Mass. Regs. § 500.101(1)(a)11 and 935 Code 

Mass. Regs. § 500.103(4)(b) and provide an update to CCC Licensing 

Division.  

 Commissioner Roy moved to approve both Provisional Licenses, subject to the 

condition requested by Commissioner Stebbins.    

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.   

 The Acting Chair took a roll call vote:   

o Commissioner Roy – Yes   

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes  



 
 

   
7 

o Acting Chair Concepcion – Yes  

 The Commission unanimously approved the Provisional Licenses, subject to the 

condition requested by Commissioner Stebbins.   

 

2. Clovercraft, LLC (#MRN284574), Retail  

 Commissioner Roy requested a condition.  

o Proposed condition: Prior to final licensure, in accordance with 935 Code 

Mass. Regs. § 500.140(6)(g) please include the phone number for the 

Massachusetts Substance Use Helpline on your consumer education. 

 Commissioner Roy moved to approve the Provisional License, subject to the 

condition requested by Commissioner Roy.    

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.   

 The Acting Chair took a roll call vote:   

o Commissioner Roy – Yes   

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes  

o Acting Chair Concepcion – Yes  

 The Commission unanimously approved the Provisional Licenses, subject to the 

condition requested by Commissioner Roy.   

 

3. Crafted Cannabis, LLC (#MCN283858), Cultivation, Tier 2 / Indoor  

 Commissioner Roy requested a condition.  

o Proposed condition: Prior to final licensure please inform the Commission of 

your “Additional Operational Plans for Indoor Marijuana Cultivators” as it 

relates to Quality Control Samples in accordance with 935 Code Mass. Regs § 

500.120(12), and 935 Code Mass. Regs. § 500.120(14).  

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the Provisional License, subject to the 

condition requested by Commissioner Roy.    

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.   

 The Acting Chair took a roll call vote:   

o Commissioner Roy – Yes   

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes  

o Acting Chair Concepcion – Yes  

 The Commission unanimously approved the Provisional Licenses, subject to the 

condition requested by Commissioner Roy.   

 

4. Safe-Lyfe, LLC (#DOA100173), Marijuana Delivery Courier  

 Commissioner Stebbins requested two conditions.  

o Proposed condition: Prior to Final Application for Licensure, consider 

revision to Positive Impact Plan Goal #1 and consider hiring or other 

strategies to impact Disproportionately Impacted Area designated 

communities in closer proximity to city of Northampton in accordance with 

935 Code Mass. Regs. § 500.101(1)(a)11 and 935 Code Mass Regs. § 

500.103(4)(b) and provide an update to CCC Licensing Division.  



 
 

   
8 

o Proposed condition: Prior to Final Application for Licensure, contact CCC 

Licensing Division and consider any updates for goals of hiring and 

contracting with diverse vendors under licensee’s Diversity Plan Goals in 

accordance with 935 Code Mass. Regs. § 500.101(1)(c)8k.  

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the Provisional License, subject to the 

conditions requested by Commissioner Stebbins.    

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.   

 The Acting Chair took a roll call vote:   

o Commissioner Roy – Yes   

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes  

o Acting Chair Concepcion – Yes  

 The Commission unanimously approved the Provisional License, subject to the 

conditions requested by Commissioner Stebbins.   
 

8) Staff Recommendations on Final Licenses – 01:26:07 

 

1. 191 Lafayette Rd Dispensary Company, LLC (#MR282740), Retail 

2. Bostica, LLC (#MP281664), Product Manufacturer 

3. FFD Enterprises MA, Inc. (#MR284920), Retail 

4. Green Adventure, LLC (#MR284710), Retail 

5. LMCC, LLC (#MR282796), Retail 

6. Reverie 73 Gloucester, LLC (#MR282315), Retail 

7. Stone’s Throw Cannabis, LLC (#MR284843), Retail 

8. Union Leaf, Inc. (#MR282570), Retail 

9. Uproot, LLC (#MB281346), Microbusiness 

 

 Commissioner Roy moved to approve the Final License roster from one to nine as 

indicated on the agenda. 

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the Final License roster from one to nine.  

 

 The Commissioners agreed to a 15-minute recess until 11:50 AM. 
 

9)  Commission Discussion and Votes – 01:48:37  
 

1. Executive Director Search Update  

 The AC discussed the selection process of a subcommittee to search for an Executive 

Director (ED) and that Commissioner Stebbins was selected due to his previous 

experience. She stated that there would be regular updates for all Commissioners 



 
 

   
9 

during public meetings. AED Hilton-Creek explained that the job posting for the ED 

position will include multiple documents which were currently with the 

communications team for review and would likely be posted the week of April 21, 

2024. She stated that the documents would be posted on the Mass Careers website, 

which will automatically be cross posted to popular nation-wide job boards. AED 

Hilton-Creek said that additional job boards with a Diversity, Equity and Inclusion 

focus would be sought out and the job search would also be picked up by the State 

House News Service. Commissioner Roy also suggested posting on veteran and 

cannabis-specific job boards or outlets like the Cannabis Regulators Association. 

AED Hilton Creek noted that the subcommittee for the ED search was composed of 

herself, Senior IT Support Specialist Freyja Brocklehurst, Director of Digital and 

Creative Services AnnMarie Burtt, Director of Communications Maryalice Curley, 

Investigations Manager Armond Enos, General Counsel Kristina Gasson (GC 

Gasson), Director of Constituent Services Kathy Oliver Jones, Investigations and 

Enforcement Assistant Roque Rosa, Human Resources Generalist Wendy Sanchez, 

Manager of Equity Programming and Strategic Partnerships Darrus Sands, Chief 

Financial Accounting Officer Lisa Schlegel (CFAO Schlegel), the AC and 

Commissioner Stebbins. GC Gasson clarified that subcommittee was technically a 

preliminary screening committee which allows it to meet with the Commission in 

executive session for the purpose of deliberating and reviewing resumes. GC Gasson 

advised the Commissioners that they may vote to appoint members of the screening 

committee and then vote at a later date on which members have voting privileges, 

which Commissioner Stebbins indicated he supported.  

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to appoint the members to the preliminary screening 

committee to perform preliminary screening of candidates for the position of ED, 

which will include the AC, Commissioner Stebbins, AED Hilton Creek, Freyja 

Brocklehurst, AnnMarie Burtt, Maryalice Curley, Armond Enos, GC Gasson, Kathy 

Oliver Jones, Roque Rosa, Wendy Sanchez, CFAO Schlegel and Darrus Sands.  

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.   

 The AC took a roll call vote: 

o Commissioner Roy – Yes 

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the motion.  

 

2. Guidance on Municipal Equity 

 Director Potvin updated the Commissioners on the draft guidance document which 

will advise municipalities on how to incorporate the new municipal equity 

requirements introduced as a part of Chapter 180. Director Potvin submitted the draft 

document to the Commissioners for their review and comment and stated that 

comments on the Model Municipal Equity Ordinance would influence further edits 

before a final draft was submitted for the Commissioners’ vote. Commissioner Roy 

requested that suitability requirements be included as well as a table listing all ADIs. 

The AC stated that she found the ADI map more helpful. Director Potvin stated that 



 
 

   
10 

these suggestions could both be incorporated. Commissioner Stebbins asked that the 

draft guidance be submitted to the Massachusetts Municipal Association (MMA) for 

their feedback. Director Potvin reiterated that the public comment period on the 

Model Municipal Equity Ordinance would be one way that the MMA could make a 

comment which would influence further edits to the draft guidance document, but that 

he would speak with Director Giancola on how to best communicate this to the 

MMA. Commissioner Roy asked if there was an established way to file a complaint 

with the Commission. Director Potvin stated that one of the Chapter 180 deliverables 

was to have a page on the Commission’s website dedicated to receiving complaints 

and that it was currently in progress.  

 

3. Model Municipal Equity Ordinance 

 Director Potvin presented the draft of the new Model Ordinance or By-Law, stating 

that its purpose was to provide Host Communities with a template for complying with 

the new municipal equity requirements. Director Potvin noted that the Model 

Ordinance had been submitted to the Attorney General’s Office, which provided 

feedback which is currently in the process of being incorporated. He stated that notice 

of the public comment period was going out by email within the next few minutes 

and that the final document would be available during the May public meeting. 

Director Potvin advised the Commissioners that the public comment period also gives 

them an opportunity to comment. Commissioner Roy asked about a provision stating 

that if a municipality chose to allow additional Marijuana Establishments or 

Marijuana Treatment Centers at least 50% of those licenses, but no less than one 

license above the previously established cap, shall be reserved for license applicants 

that are pre-verified or verified social equity businesses, SEP participants or 

economic priority applicants. The Commissioner stated that in a previous meeting she 

had asked about what a municipality should do if there were no applicants fitting that 

criteria, which she did not see addressed in the Model Ordinance. Director Potvin 

stated that he would have to review the previous meeting and regulations before 

providing a definitive answer. Director Potvin noted that there was also a new 

notification requirement for Host Communities to inform the Commission of the steps 

that they have taken to satisfy the equity requirement through Mass CIP. He stated 

that review of compliance would be led by Acting Director Binkoski and that more 

information will be available soon. 

 The Commissioners agreed to recess until 1:40 PM. 

 

4. Boston Office Discussion (03:35:55) 

 AED Hilton-Creek stated that the purpose of this discussion to was to revisit the 

Commission’s previous conversation regarding subletting the Boston office. She 

stated that since the last meeting, a partner agency was not found. AED Hilton-Creek 

presented two options: the Commission could continue to use the space, or it could 

relinquish the lease. Commissioner Roy said that the monthly rent for the Boston 

Office was $21,000.00 per month and that an average of 1.2 employees used the 

office per day. Commissioner Roy added that the Division of Capital Asset 



 
 

   
11 

Management and Maintenance (DCAMM) was waiting on a decision from the 

Commission as to whether they could move forward with another agency which 

wants to use the space. AED Hilton-Creek added that DCAMM could provide 

transitional office space if the Commission decided to relinquish the lease until a 

permanent location was found. GC Gasson stated that the other agency which wants 

to use the space would like to have access by July, which would be an aggressive 

timeline for the Commission. The AC suggested amending the hybrid work schedule 

for individuals who regularly use the Boston office. The Commissioners and GC 

Gasson discussed how the rent would increase if the Commission continued the lease. 

Commissioner Stebbins noted that the Boston office was used by the Commission at 

its outset because it was initially composed of individuals from the area, but that there 

has since been a decision to be located more centrally within the Commonwealth and 

the requirements for the Boston office have changed with regard to the necessary 

square footage. He recommended relinquishing the lease. The AC agreed. 

 Commissioner Roy moved to delegate to AED Hilton-Creek and CFAO Schlegel to 

open negotiations with DCAMM to relinquish and reassign the Boston office lease 

provided that another office in the downtown Boston area can be found that can 

accommodate the Boston staff members. 

 Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Roy – Yes  

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the motion to delegate to AED Hilton-Creek 

and CFAO Schlegel to open negotiations with DCAMM to relinquish and reassign 

the Boston office lease provided that another office in the downtown Boston area can 

be found that can accommodate the Boston staff members. 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to direct the return to office working group to reassess 

the return to office plan based upon the potential loss of Boston office space. 

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Roy – Yes  

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the motion to direct the return to office 

working group to reassess the return to office plan based upon the potential loss of 

Boston office space. 

 GC Gasson noted that the earlier motion to relinquish the Boston office space did not 

address the office assets located there. Commissioner Roy suggested adding the word 

“assets” in addition to “lease” in the motion. 

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the amendment suggested by 

Commissioner Roy. 

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.  



 
 

   
12 

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Roy – Yes  

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the amendment suggested by Commissioner 

Roy. 

 

10) New Business Not Anticipated at the Time of Posting 04:15:04 

 The AC asked Commissioner Roy to join the secret shopper charter, which 

Commissioner Roy accepted. 

 

11) Next Meeting Date – 04:16:11 

 The AC noted the next meeting would be on Thursday, May 9, 2024.  

 

12) Executive Session – 04:16:36  

 Commissioner Stebbins moved to enter into executive session pursuant to G.L. c. 

30A, § 21(a)(3), to discuss strategy with respect to collective bargaining because an 

open meeting may have a detrimental effect on the litigating position of the public 

body and the Chair so declares. 

 Commissioner Roy seconded the motion.  

 The AC took a roll call vote:  

o Commissioner Roy – Yes  

o Commissioner Stebbins – Yes 

o AC Concepcion – Yes 

 The Commission unanimously approved the motion to enter into executive session. 

 The AC noted that the Commission will not reconvene in open session and will 

adjourn the meeting in executive session. 















































Meghan.Dube
Highlight

Meghan.Dube
Highlight

Meghan.Dube
Highlight

















































Meghan.Dube
Highlight

Meghan.Dube
Highlight

































Meghan.Dube
Highlight









Meghan.Dube
Highlight











 

  

 

   
 

February 6, 2024 
 
The Honorable Michael O. Moore 
Massachusetts Senate 
State House, Room 109-B  
Boston, MA 02133 
 

Dear Senator Moore: 

I hope this message finds you well and excited to embrace the new year ahead.  Although 
the Cannabis Control Commission (Commission) did not receive your recent letter to Secretary 
Gorzkowicz directly, I wanted to take this opportunity to share with you some crucial information 
regarding our budget request for FY 2025 submitted to the Executive Office for Administration 
and Finance (ANF).  In the spirit of transparency, I hope the following information will be useful 
to you. Please know that if you or your team ever have any questions regarding the work of the 
Commission, we are ready and willing to assist with providing any clarity you may need. Please 
also know our agency is a resource to you and is grateful for the years of collaboration we have 
shared with the Legislature. 

First, we understand you had questions regarding the delegation of staff work during the 
former Executive Director’s parental leave this past fall. The former Executive Director submitted 
a Key Contact Form to the Comptroller’s office designating the Chief Operating Officer (COO) as 
agency head during his leave of absence, even though this action was unnecessary as he was still 
actively employed by the Commission, and the COO had been duly authorized to perform agency 
financial functions since 2020. The Comptroller’s office notified the Commission that it was 
returning the filing as invalid since the Executive Director remained the duly appointed agency 
head pursuant to G.L. c. 10, § 76(j). Upon review, the Comptroller’s Office notified the 
Commission that the previous Key Contact filing remained effective and that since the COO 
retained Department Head Signature Authorization and credit card designation, all Commission 
financial functions were valid and authorized during this period of time.  

Pursuant to G.L. c. 10, § 76(j), “[t]he commission shall [emphasis added] appoint an 
executive director . . . In the case of an absence or vacancy in the office of the executive director 
or in the case of disability as determined by the commission, the commission may [emphasis 
added] designate an acting executive director to serve as executive director until the vacancy is 
filled or the absence or disability ceases”. In October 2023, the Commission exercised this 
authority to appoint Debra Hilton-Creek as Acting Executive Director during the Executive 
Director’s absence. The Acting Executive Director has all the powers and duties of the Executive 
Director and is the executive and administrative head of the Commission. Notification of the vote 
was sent to the Comptroller and the key contact forms were updated to reflect that designation and 
was accepted without issue.  All Commission business, financial or otherwise, was duly conducted 



 

  

 

   
 

while the former Executive Director was on leave and served as our agency head until the Acting 
Executive Director’s appointment. I hope this information alleviates any concerns you may have, 
as well as dispels any rumors that you might have heard. 

Next, we wanted to reiterate the Commission’s commitment to responsible stewardship of 
public funds and our pride in operating on a revenue neutral basis for the entirety of our history. 
The Commission’s budgeting process is collaborative and incorporates feedback from 
Commissioners, agency leadership, and staff. As you may know, the agency’s FY 2024 budget 
allocation was approximately $600,000 below the required maintenance level. In response, the 
Commission redeployed resources to ensure continued public health and safety in the licensed 
Massachusetts cannabis industry and to begin the implementation of regulations adopted in the 
wake of the passage of Chapter 180 of the Acts of 2022. As a result, certain job positions, studies, 
and spending have been pushed out to the agency’s FY 2025 and FY 2026 requests to maintain 
appropriate spending levels. The Commission was grateful to receive a $200,000 supplemental 
budget in December 2023 that will allow the agency to add critical staff support and make needed 
upgrades to cybersecurity infrastructure in the months ahead. 

To date, the Commission regulates a $5.5 billion licensed industry that generates hundreds 
of millions of dollars in state and local revenue each year. Currently, cannabis generates more tax 
revenue than the alcohol industry, at $134.7 million YTD, and is the most profitable crop in 
Massachusetts. The regulated marketplace further comprises between 15,000 and 20,000 well-
paying jobs. The Commission’s non-tax revenue is just as substantial. In FY 2024 YTD, the 
Commission has generated more than $8 million, and the Commission projects total non-tax 
revenue receipts will end the fiscal year with more than $21 million. Additionally, the agency is 
assessing its revenue-generating services for potential modifications to increase receipts.  

Due to the continued federal prohibition of cannabis, the Commission has had to build out 
much of the necessary research, policy, and operational background on its own. Despite these 
unique challenges, the Commission’s work has been modeled by other states as they set up their 
own regulatory agencies. We are grateful for the support of the Legislature, Administration, and 
our partners in other states that have assisted the agency with developing a best-in-class licensed 
industry; however, that build-out continues and requires adequate resources. 

Since its inception in September 2017, the Commission has ensured licensees comply with 
state laws and regulations; upheld public health and safety; supported medical patients, caregivers, 
and providers; and incorporated its nation-leading equity mandate into every facet of its 
organization, policies, and programming. Over the course of the last fiscal year alone, the 
Commission has: 

• Approved 1,485 licenses, including 147 Marijuana Retailers, 62 Marijuana Cultivators, 
56 Product Manufacturers, 16 Delivery Operators, and 3 Independent Testing Laboratories. 



 

  

 

   
 

• Conducted inspections and license reviews, which has resulted in a total of 556 Marijuana 
Establishments commencing full business operations, including the new additions of, 1 
Microbusiness, 24 Marijuana Cultivators, 1 Delivery Courier, 3 Independent Testing Laboratories, 
5 Delivery Operators, 22 Product Manufacturers and 79 Marijuana Retailers. 

• Approved 22,260 Marijuana Establishment agent applications. 

• Registered 94,136 medical marijuana patients, 7,265 caregivers, and 441 Certified 
Healthcare Providers. 

• Developed and deployed new, specific courses for Delivery and Courier Licenses as well 
as 10 new Advanced Courses for Social Equity Program (SEP) Participants. The Commission is 
currently accepting new participants for Cohort 4 of the SEP. Recently codified into law, the Social 
Equity Program was the first statewide equity program in the nation to offer free technical 
assistance and training to individuals who were disproportionately impacted by marijuana 
prohibition and who are interested in becoming involved in the licensed marijuana industry. 

• Approved 30 applicants to be Responsible Vendor Trainers teaching Basic Core 
Curriculum, an Advanced Core Curriculum, and a new Delivery Core Curriculum for all registered 
Marijuana Agents in the industry. 

• In collaboration with the Massachusetts Registry of Motor Vehicles and AAA Northeast, 
developed and endorsed a nation leading curriculum to educate teenage drivers about the risks of 
cannabis-impaired driving. The curriculum was the first of its kind in the nation to be created and 
has been incorporated into driver education classes across the Commonwealth.  

• Published 6 scientific peer-review publications, including a full Specialty Update in 
Clinical Therapeutics, as well as gave 5 presentations at National scientific meetings and other 
conferences, including the Research Society of Marijuana (RSMj), Council of State and Territorial 
Epidemiologists (CSTE) and MCR Lab's Cannabis Science Fair. 

• Hosted a delegation of legislators and officials from the Executive Offices from the state 
of Hawaii, who consulted us regarding how to write regulations for, and then implement, legal 
marijuana marketplaces, including how to successfully protect medical marijuana programs. They 
have since publicized the fact their “Hawaii Cannabis Authority” and related equity efforts are 
modeled after Massachusetts. 

• Held the first-ever State of Cannabis briefing at the State House on May 29, 2023, 
designed to provide legislators and staff with information and insight into progress the agency has 
made and ongoing efforts to regulate a safe, effective, and equitable industry for the 
Commonwealth. 



 

  

 

   
 

You can learn more about these accomplishments and others by reviewing the agency’s 
Sixth Annual Activities Report, which was submitted to the Legislature in October 2023 in 
accordance with state law.  

In addition to the 2023 achievements of the Commission, the Secretary of the 
Commonwealth promulgated the Commission’s new regulations in response to the passage of 
Chapter 180 of the Acts of 2022. In 2024, the agency will continue to devote significant energy 
towards implementation with the creation of new online applications, updated guidance 
documents, and new systems and processes—both internal and external—to comply with the law. 

The Commission’s new mandates to oversee, review, and approve Host Community 
Agreements negotiated between municipalities and applicants and local municipal equity plans 
will require the onboarding of additional staff with subject-matter expertise in municipal finance 
and law. As a state agency devoted to transparency and open communication, Commission staff 
will put great effort into educating communities, applicants, equity program participants, and other 
stakeholders on these new changes. 

To keep up with the pace of the licensed cannabis industry and the requirements of Chapter 
180, the Commission’s FY 2025 request includes plans to hire 12 new positions for the 
Investigations and Enforcement division. Additional Licensing Specialists, Investigators, and 
Laboratory Testing Analysts will assist the Commission with promoting public health and safety, 
ensuring consistent enforcement of the Commonwealth’s comprehensive and varied regulations, 
and streamline the timeframe required for fair and thorough investigations. The FY 2025 request 
also includes hiring an additional six full-time professionals to support the agency’s operational 
infrastructure, covering critical agency needs in our Operations, Human Resources (HR), 
Communications, Information Technology (IT), and Legal divisions. Without new staffing, the 
Commission’s ability to execute new mandates to review and approve Host Community 
Agreements and municipal equity plans may prove difficult.  

Additionally, in compliance with Chapter 180, the agency seeks to restore public education 
funding to $1.5 million to further public health and safety in Massachusetts. In FY 2019, the 
Commission partnered with the Department of Public Health (DPH) to develop youth prevention 
materials with tips and techniques for parents and responsible adult-use messaging focusing on 
OUI, safe storage, and legal limits. In FY 2020, the agency expanded public education to develop 
material that targets young people with disengaged parents. Additionally, the Commission 
published content warnings of containments found in illicit-market cannabis products, the dangers 
of home cultivation and manufacturing, and the health risks of certain consumption practices 
during the pandemic.  

With the $1.5 million request for FY 2025, the Commission intends to continue its 
relationship with the Department of Public Health to further efforts relative to youth prevention 
messaging, raise awareness of the risks of high potency products and cannabis use during 

https://masscannabiscontrol.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/Cannabis-Control-Commission-Sixth-Annual-Activities-Report-2023.pdf
https://masscannabiscontrol.com/2023/09/cannabis-control-commission-approves-historic-regulatory-changes-to-implement-commonwealths-equity-reform-law/


 

  

 

   
 

pregnancy, and the dangers of home manufacturing as required by Chapter 180. The Commission 
also aims to develop and launch a campaign focused on safe consumption of cannabis as social 
consumption licenses become available and eventually operational. We also plan to contract a two-
year study to assess school cannabis use disciplinary actions, as required by statute. 

The Commission’s first-of-its-kind Cannabis Center of Excellence will develop important 
research into the study of cannabis and its effects, including its two-year health care study as 
required by G. L. c. 94G, § 17(a)(ii). Additionally, a study of registered Medical Use of Marijuana 
Program patients, caregivers, and providers will be conducted to determine patient needs and 
whether regulatory updates may be warranted. 

The Commission’s commitment to equity and promoting participation in the industry by 
people from communities disproportionately impacted by marijuana prohibition continues beyond 
our statutory mandate and mission. In FY 2024 the Commission has held and attended numerous 
community outreach events both in person and virtually, seeing an increase in attendance from 
Social Equity Participants and the community at large. With the FY 2025 requested funding, the 
Commission will seek to run a racial disparity and license exclusivity feasibility study as well as 
a study of disproportionately impacted areas throughout the Commonwealth. A contract 
employment position envisioned to assist the Equity Programming and Community Outreach 
department with bringing an Innovation Lab design and framework build-out forward and 
operational, as a part of the Commission’s three-year strategic planning initiative, which is in 
alignment with, and that supports newly promulgated regulations. 

The Government Affairs and Policy department will build out critical new resources to 
support an increase in incoming and outgoing municipal outreach, create space to review 
documents from municipalities, create new publicly available materials, and support an increased 
and assertive public presence throughout the Commonwealth. With the addition of new staff, the 
department will efficiently and effectively respond to questions and inquiries, assess and route 
local equity plan disputes, and serve as a more effective conduit for state and local policymakers’ 
inquiries.  Additional software tools will allow the agency to monitor developments and access 
information in real time, while maintaining a high level of security to safeguard its information. 

We also understand you raised concerns about the Commission’s engagement of outside 
legal counsel during a period of transition for our agency to address complex employment related 
matters. In November of 2023, the Commission filled the vacant full-time General Counsel 
position and is committed to filling future vacancies with experienced attorneys and legal staff to 
reduce the level of reliance on outside counsel. These positions are essential to ensure a well-
staffed, fully functioning legal department exist, which in turn ensures that Commission 
regulations and policies are supported by legal authority and licensees; that constituents have 
access to timely hearings of enforcement actions and administrative appeals; and that public 
records requests are fulfilled in accordance with statutory requirements. 



 

  

 

   
 

We appreciate the opportunity to share some of these exciting developments with you.  
With the continued support of our partners in state government, we intend to continue the 
Commonwealth’s tradition of serving as a national leader in regulating a safe, equitable, and 
effective licensed cannabis industry.  Please know that you are always more than welcome to 
contact the Commission directly with your questions.  In the meantime, if you need any further 
clarity about our operations or FY 2025 budget request, please do not hesitate to contact us directly. 
Thank you again. 

Sincerely, 

 

Debra Hilton-Creek 
Acting Executive Director 
 
cc: Secretary Matthew Gorzkowicz, Executive Office of Administration and Finance 
      Chair Michael Rodrigues, Senate Committee on Ways and Means 
      Chair Aaron Michlewitz; House Committee on Ways and Means 
 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
 

COO Executive Summary 1 

Baked Beans Farm, LLC 

0272-COO-01-0324 
 

 

CHANGE OF OWNERSHIP AND CONTROL OVERVIEW 

 

1. Licensee Information: 

 

Licensee Business Name:   Baked Beans Farm, LLC 

Licensee d/b/a Name:   N/A 

 

2. License(s) Affected by this Change Request: 

 

License Number License Type 

MP282045 Marijuana Product Manufacturer  

 

3. The licensee has paid the applicable fees for this change request. 

 

4. The licensee is proposing to add the following as Persons Having Direct or Indirect Control: 

 

Individual Role 

Mark LaRoche Person with Direct or Indirect Control 

 

5. Background checks were conducted on all proposed parties and no suitability issues were 

discovered. 

 

6. The proposed parties do not appear to have exceeded any ownership or control limits over any 

license type. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Commission staff recommend review and decision on the request for change of ownership and 

control, and if approved, request that the approval be subject to the following conditions: 

 

1. The licensee and proposed parties may now effectuate the approved change.  

2. The licensee shall notify the Commission when the change has occurred. 

3. The licensee shall submit a change of name request following this approval if any business or 

doing-business-as names associated with the license(s) will require modification. 



 
 

   
COO Executive Summary 2 

4. The licensee is subject to inspection to ascertain compliance with Commission regulations. 

5. The licensee shall remain suitable for licensure. 

6. The licensee shall cooperate with and provide information to Commission staff. 

7. The licensure is subject to notification to the Commission of any update to written operations 

plans required by 935 CMR 500.105(1) and/or 935 CMR 501.105(1) after effectuating the 

change, if applicable, and shall give Commission staff adequate opportunity to review said 

plans at the business location or the location where any such plans are maintained in the normal 

course of business. 

 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
 

COO Executive Summary 1 

Hennep, Inc. 

0273-COO-01-0324 
 

 

CHANGE OF OWNERSHIP AND CONTROL OVERVIEW 

 

1. Licensee Information: 

 

Licensee Business Name:   Hennep, Inc. 

Licensee d/b/a Name:   N/A 

 

2. License(s) Affected by this Change Request: 

 

License Number License Type 

MR281450 Marijuana Retailer 

 

3. The licensee has paid the applicable fees for this change request. 

 

4. The licensee is proposing to add the following as Persons Having Direct or Indirect Control: 

 

Individual Role 

Colin Francis Richard Noel Person with Direct or Indirect Control 

 

5. Background checks were conducted on all proposed parties and no suitability issues were 

discovered. 

 

6. The proposed parties do not appear to have exceeded any ownership or control limits over any 

license type. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Commission staff recommend review and decision on the request for change of ownership and 

control, and if approved, request that the approval be subject to the following conditions: 

 

1. The licensee and proposed parties may now effectuate the approved change.  

2. The licensee shall notify the Commission when the change has occurred. 

3. The licensee shall submit a change of name request following this approval if any business or 

doing-business-as names associated with the license(s) will require modification. 



 
 

   
COO Executive Summary 2 

4. The licensee is subject to inspection to ascertain compliance with Commission regulations. 

5. The licensee shall remain suitable for licensure. 

6. The licensee shall cooperate with and provide information to Commission staff. 

7. The licensure is subject to notification to the Commission of any update to written operations 

plans required by 935 CMR 500.105(1) and/or 935 CMR 501.105(1) after effectuating the 

change, if applicable, and shall give Commission staff adequate opportunity to review said 

plans at the business location or the location where any such plans are maintained in the normal 

course of business. 

 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
ME Renewal Executive Summary 1 

MARIJUANA ESTABLISHMENT RENEWALS 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
COMMISSION MEETING: JUNE 13, 2024 

 

 

RENEWAL OVERVIEW 

 

1. Name, license number, renewal application number, host community, and funds deriving from a 

Host Community Agreement allocated for the municipality for each Marijuana Establishment 

presented for renewal: 

 

 

Licensee Name 
License 

Number 

Renewal 

Application 

Number 

Location  

1 Blossom Flower, LLC MP282139 MPR244150 Holyoke 

2 Blossom Flower, LLC MX281418 MXR126671 Holyoke 

3 BLUE SKY ORGANICS LLC MD1264 MDR272571 Newton 

4 Green Gold Group Inc MC281649 MCR140754 

North 

Brookfield 

5 Green Gold Group, INC MR281791 MRR206833 Charlton 

6 Ocean Breeze Cultivators LLC MR283656 MRR206836 Gloucester 

 

 

2. All licensees have submitted renewal applications pursuant to 935 CMR 500.103(4) which include 

the licensee’s disclosure of their progress or success towards their Positive Impact and Diversity 

Plans.  

 

3. All licensees have submitted documentation of good standing from the Secretary of the 

Commonwealth, Department of Revenue, and Department of Unemployment Assistance, if 

applicable. 

 

4. All licensees have paid the appropriate annual license fee. 

 

5. The licensees, when applicable, have been inspected over the previous year. Commission staff 

certify that, to the best of our knowledge, no information has been found that would prevent 

renewal of the licenses mentioned above pursuant to 935 CMR 500.450. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

 



 
 

   
ME Renewal Executive Summary 2 

Commission staff recommend review and decision on the above-mentioned licenses applying for 

renewal, and if approved, request that the approval be subject to the licensee remaining in compliance 

with the Commission regulations and applicable law. 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
Final License Executive Summary 1 

Blossom Flower, LLC 
MD1271 

MP282139 

MX281418 

 

 

ESTABLISHMENT OVERVIEW 

 

1. Name and address of the Marijuana Establishment: 

 

Licensee Business Name: Blossom Flower, LLC 

Licensed Location: 1 Cabot Street, Holyoke, MA 01040 

 

2. Type of final license sought (if cultivation, its tier level and outside/inside operation): 

 

     License Type(s) Sought: 

Marijuana Product Manufacturer 

Marijuana Existing Licensee Transporter 

Marijuana Delivery Operator 

 
3. The licensee is associated with the following license type(s):  

       

The licensee is not associated with any other license applications or licenses.  

 

LICENSING OVERVIEW 

 

4. The licensee was approved for provisional licensure for the above-mentioned license(s) on 

February 10, 2022 for its Marijuana Delivery Operator license; March 9, 2023 for its 

Product Manufacturing license; and April 14, 2023 for its Marijuana Existing Licensee 

Transporter license. 

 

5. The licensee has paid all applicable license fees. 

 

6. No new information has been reported to Commission staff regarding the organizational 

structure of the entity since the issuance of the provisional license(s). 

 

7. No new information has been discovered by Commission staff regarding the suitability of 

the licensees previously disclosed since the issuance of the provisional license(s). 

 



 
 

   
Final License Executive Summary 2 

INSPECTION OVERVIEW 

 

8. Commission staff inspected the licensee’s facility on the following date(s): April 17, 2024. 

 

9. The licensee’s facility was inspected by Commission staff and found to be in full 

compliance with the requirements listed in 935 CMR 500.105 through 935 CMR 500.160 as 

applicable. 

 

10. No evidence was discovered during the inspection(s) that indicated the licensee was not in 

compliance with all applicable state laws and local bylaws or ordinances.   

 

11. Specific information from Commission staff’s inspection is highlighted below: 

 

a. Security 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all security-related requirements were in full compliance 

with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. The security of all entrances and exits; 

ii. Visitor procedures; 

iii. Limited access areas; 

iv. Verification of a primary and back-up security company; 

v. Presence of perimeter and duress alarms; and 

vi. All cameras complied with Commission requirements. 

 

b. Inventory and Storage 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all inventory-related requirements were in full 

compliance with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the 

following: 

i. Secure storage of marijuana and marijuana products; 

ii. Sanitation and pest control measures; and 

iii. Inventory controls and procedures. 

 

c. Product Manufacturing Operation  

 

Enforcement staff verified that all manufacturing-related requirements were in full 

compliance with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the 

following: 

i. Proposed product compliance; and 

ii. Safety, sanitation, and security of the area and products. 

 

d. Transportation 

 



 
 

   
Final License Executive Summary 3 

Enforcement staff verified that all transportation-related requirements were in full 

compliance with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the 

following: 

i. Vehicle and staffing requirements; 

ii. Communication and reporting requirements; and 

iii. Inventory and manifests requirements. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Commission staff recommend final licensure with the following conditions: 

 

1. The licensee may possess, prepare, produce, and otherwise acquire marijuana, but shall not 

sell, or otherwise transport marijuana to other Marijuana Establishments, until upon 

inspection, receiving permission from the Commission to commence full operations. 

2. The licensee shall not deliver marijuana to consumers, patients, or caregivers, until upon 

inspection, receiving permission from the Commission to commence full operations. 

3. The licensee is subject to inspection to ascertain compliance with Commission regulations. 

4. The licensee remains suitable for licensure. 

5. The licensee shall cooperate with and provide information to Commission staff.  

6. Licensure is subject to notification to the Commission of any update to written operations 

plans required by 935 CMR 500.105(1) prior to the issuance of a commencement of 

operations and that Commission staff be given adequate opportunity to review said plans at 

the business location or the location where any such plans are maintained in the normal 

course of business. 

 

The licensee has demonstrated compliance with the laws and regulations of the Commonwealth 

and suitability for licensure. Therefore, the licensee is recommended for final licensure.  

 

As part of the approval of final licensure, the Commission authorizes staff to take all necessary 

actions to review compliance with the above-referenced conditions and to approve the 

commencement of operations. 

 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
Final License Executive Summary 1 

Blue Sky Organics, LLC 
MD1264 

 

 

 

LICENSEE OVERVIEW 

 

1. Name and address of the Marijuana Establishment: 

 

Licensee Business Name: Blue Sky Organics, LLC 

Licensee d/b/a Name: Spliff Second 

Licensed Location: 16 Maguire Court, Newton, MA 02458 

 

2. Type of final license sought (if cultivation, its tier level and outside/inside operation): 

 

 License Type(s) Sought: 

Marijuana Delivery Operator 

 
3. The licensee is associated with the following license type(s):  

      

The licensee is not associated with any other license applications or licenses.  

 

4. The licensee was approved for provisional licensure for the above-mentioned license(s) on 

March 10, 2022. 

 

5. The licensee has paid all applicable license fees. 

 

6. No new information has been reported to Commission staff regarding the organizational 

structure of the entity since the issuance of the provisional license(s). 

 

7. No new information has been discovered by Commission staff regarding the suitability of the 

licensees previously disclosed since the issuance of the provisional license(s). 

 

INSPECTION OVERVIEW 

 

8. Commission staff inspected the licensee’s facility on the following date(s): February 22, 2024. 

 

9. The licensee’s facility was inspected by Commission staff and found to be in full compliance 

with the requirements listed in 935 CMR 500.105 through 935 CMR 500.160 as applicable. 



 
 

   
Final License Executive Summary 2 

 

10. No evidence was discovered during the inspection(s) that indicated the licensee was not in 

compliance with all applicable state laws and local bylaws or ordinances.   

 

11. Specific information from Commission staff’s inspection is highlighted below: 

 

a. Security 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all security-related requirements were in full compliance 

with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. The security of all entrances and exits; 

ii. Visitor procedures; 

iii. Limited access areas; 

iv. Verification of a primary and back-up security company; 

v. Presence of perimeter and duress alarms; and 

vi. All cameras complied with Commission requirements. 

 

b. Inventory and Storage 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all inventory-related requirements were in full compliance 

with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. Secure storage of marijuana and marijuana products; 

ii. Sanitation and pest control measures; and 

iii. Inventory controls and procedures. 

 

c. Transportation 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all transportation-related requirements were in full 

compliance with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the 

following: 

i. Vehicle and staffing requirements; 

ii. Communication and reporting requirements; and 

iii. Inventory and manifests requirements. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Commission staff recommend final licensure with the following conditions: 

 

1. The licensee may acquire, possess, and warehouse marijuana products but shall not sell or 

delivery marijuana products to consumers, until upon inspection, receiving permission from 

the Commission to commence full operations. 

2. The licensee is subject to inspection to ascertain compliance with Commission regulations. 

3. The licensee remains suitable for licensure. 

4. The licensee shall cooperate with and provide information to Commission staff.  



 
 

   
Final License Executive Summary 3 

5. Licensure is subject to notification to the Commission of any update to written operations 

plans required by 935 CMR 500.105(1) prior to the issuance of a commencement of 

operations and that Commission staff be given adequate opportunity to review said plans at 

the business location or the location where any such plans are maintained in the normal 

course of business. 

 

The licensee has demonstrated compliance with the laws and regulations of the Commonwealth 

and suitability for licensure. Therefore, the licensee is recommended for final licensure.  

 

As part of the approval of final licensure, the Commission authorizes staff to take all necessary 

actions to review compliance with the above-referenced conditions and to approve the 

commencement of operations. 

 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
Final License Executive Summary 1 

 CommCan, Inc.-Mansfield 
MTC1686 

 

 

 

ESTABLISHMENT OVERVIEW 

 

1. Name and address of the Marijuana Establishment: 

 

Licensee Business Name: CommCan, Inc.-Mansfield 

Licensed Cultivation Location: (Previously approved) 

Licensed Manufacturing Location: (Previously approved) 

Licensed Dispensary Location: 611 West St., Mansfield, MA 02048 

 

2. Type of final license sought (if cultivation, its tier level and outside/inside operation): 

 

  License Type(s) Sought: 

Medical Marijuana Treatment Center 

 
3. The licensee is associated with the following license type(s):  

      

Type Status Location  

MTC Commence Operations Medway-Millis 

MTC Commence Operations Medway-Southborough 

Marijuana Cultivator, Tier 

3/Indoor 

(30,001 – 40,000 sq. ft.) 

Commence Operations Medway 

Marijuana Product 

Manufacturing 

Commence Operations Medway 

Marijuana Retail Commence Operations Rehoboth 

Marijuana Retail Commence Operations Millis 

Marijuana Retail Provisional License Mansfield 

 

LICENSING OVERVIEW 

 

4. The licensee was approved for provisional licensure for the above-mentioned license(s) on 

July 12, 2016. 

 



 
 

   
Final License Executive Summary 2 

5. The licensee has paid all applicable license fees. 

 

6. No new information has been reported to Commission staff regarding the organizational 

structure of the entity since the issuance of the provisional license(s). 

 

7. No new information has been discovered by Commission staff regarding the suitability of 

the licensees previously disclosed since the issuance of the provisional license(s). 

 

INSPECTION OVERVIEW 

 

8. Commission staff inspected the licensee’s facility on the following date(s): May 8, 2024. 

 

9. The licensee’s facility was inspected by Commission staff and found to be in full 

compliance with the requirements listed in 935 CMR 500.105 through 935 CMR 500.160 as 

applicable. 

 

10. No evidence was discovered during the inspection(s) that indicated the licensee was not in 

compliance with all applicable state laws and local bylaws or ordinances.   

 

11. Specific information from Commission staff’s inspection is highlighted below: 

 

a. Security 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all security-related requirements were in full compliance 

with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. The security of all entrances and exits; 

ii. Visitor procedures; 

iii. Limited access areas; 

iv. Verification of a primary and back-up security company; 

v. Presence of perimeter and duress alarms; and 

vi. All cameras complied with Commission requirements. 

 

b. Inventory and Storage 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all inventory-related requirements were in full 

compliance with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the 

following: 

i. Secure storage of marijuana and marijuana products; 

ii. Sanitation and pest control measures; and 

iii. Inventory controls and procedures. 

 

c. Retail Operation  

 



 
 

   
Final License Executive Summary 3 

Enforcement staff verified that all retail-related requirements were in full compliance 

with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. Verification of identifications for access; 

ii. Layout of the sales floor; and 

iii. Availability and contents of adult-use consumer education materials. 

 

d. Transportation 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all transportation-related requirements were in full 

compliance with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the 

following: 

i. Vehicle and staffing requirements; 

ii. Communication and reporting requirements; and 

iii. Inventory and manifests requirements. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Commission staff recommend final licensure with the following conditions: 

 

1. The licensee may possess and otherwise acquire marijuana, but shall not dispense, sell, or 

otherwise transport marijuana to other Marijuana Establishments, or to consumers, until 

upon inspection, receiving permission from the Commission to commence full operations. 

2. The licensee is subject to inspection to ascertain compliance with Commission regulations. 

3. The licensee remains suitable for licensure. 

4. The licensee shall cooperate with and provide information to Commission staff.  

5. Licensure is subject to notification to the Commission of any update to written operations 

plans required by 935 CMR 500.105(1) prior to the issuance of a commencement of 

operations and that Commission staff be given adequate opportunity to review said plans at 

the business location or the location where any such plans are maintained in the normal 

course of business. 

 

The licensee has demonstrated compliance with the laws and regulations of the Commonwealth 

and suitability for licensure. Therefore, the licensee is recommended for final licensure.  

 

As part of the approval of final licensure, the Commission authorizes staff to take all necessary 

actions to review compliance with the above-referenced conditions and to approve the 

commencement of operations. 

 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
Final License Executive Summary 1 

CommCan, Inc. 
MR284925 

 

 

 

LICENSEE OVERVIEW 

 

1. Name and address of the Marijuana Establishment: 

 

Licensee Business Name: CommCan, Inc. 

Licensed Location: 611 West Street, Mansfield, MA 02048 

 

2. Type of final license sought (if cultivation, its tier level and outside/inside operation): 

 

  License Type(s) Sought: 

Marijuana Retailer 

 
3. The licensee is associated with the following license type(s):  

        

Type Status Location  

Marijuana Cultivator, Tier 3/Indoor 

(30,001 – 40,000 sq. ft.) 

Commence Operations Medway 

Marijuana Product Manufacturing Commence Operations Medway 

Marijuana Retail Commence Operations Rehoboth 

Marijuana Retail Commence Operations Millis 

MTC Provisional License Medway-Mansfield 

MTC Commence Operations Medway-Millis 

MTC Commence Operations Medway-Southborough 

 

4. The licensee was approved for provisional licensure for the above-mentioned license(s) on 

December 14, 2023. 

 

5. The licensee has paid all applicable license fees. 

 

6. No new information has been reported to Commission staff regarding the organizational 

structure of the entity since the issuance of the provisional license(s). 

 



 
 

   
Final License Executive Summary 2 

7. No new information has been discovered by Commission staff regarding the suitability of the 

licensees previously disclosed since the issuance of the provisional license(s). 

 

INSPECTION OVERVIEW 

 

8. Commission staff inspected the licensee’s facility on the following date(s): May 8, 2024. 

 

9. The licensee’s facility was inspected by Commission staff and found to be in full compliance 

with the requirements listed in 935 CMR 500.105 through 935 CMR 500.160 as applicable. 

 

10. No evidence was discovered during the inspection(s) that indicated the licensee was not in 

compliance with all applicable state laws and local bylaws or ordinances.   

 

11. Specific information from Commission staff’s inspection is highlighted below: 

 

a. Security 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all security-related requirements were in full compliance 

with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. The security of all entrances and exits; 

ii. Visitor procedures; 

iii. Limited access areas; 

iv. Verification of a primary and back-up security company; 

v. Presence of perimeter and duress alarms; and 

vi. All cameras complied with Commission requirements. 

 

b. Inventory and Storage 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all inventory-related requirements were in full compliance 

with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. Secure storage of marijuana and marijuana products; 

ii. Sanitation and pest control measures; and 

iii. Inventory controls and procedures. 

 

c. Retail Operation  

 

Enforcement staff verified that all retail-related requirements were in full compliance with 

Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. Verification of identifications for access; 

ii. Layout of the sales floor; and 

iii. Availability and contents of adult-use consumer education materials. 

 

d. Transportation 

 



 
 

   
Final License Executive Summary 3 

Enforcement staff verified that all transportation-related requirements were in full 

compliance with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the 

following: 

i. Vehicle and staffing requirements; 

ii. Communication and reporting requirements; and 

iii. Inventory and manifests requirements. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Commission staff recommend final licensure with the following conditions: 

 

1. The licensee may possess and otherwise acquire marijuana, but shall not dispense, sell, or 

otherwise transport marijuana to other Marijuana Establishments, or to consumers, until upon 

inspection, receiving permission from the Commission to commence full operations. 

2. The licensee is subject to inspection to ascertain compliance with Commission regulations. 

3. The licensee remains suitable for licensure. 

4. The licensee shall cooperate with and provide information to Commission staff.  

5. Licensure is subject to notification to the Commission of any update to written operations 

plans required by 935 CMR 500.105(1) prior to the issuance of a commencement of 

operations and that Commission staff be given adequate opportunity to review said plans at 

the business location or the location where any such plans are maintained in the normal 

course of business. 

 

The licensee has demonstrated compliance with the laws and regulations of the Commonwealth 

and suitability for licensure. Therefore, the licensee is recommended for final licensure.  

 

As part of the approval of final licensure, the Commission authorizes staff to take all necessary 

actions to review compliance with the above-referenced conditions and to approve the 

commencement of operations. 

 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
Final License Executive Summary 1 

Ember Gardens Cape Cod, LLC 
MR284542 

 

 

 

ESTABLISHMENT OVERVIEW 

 

1. Name and address of the Marijuana Establishment: 

 

Licensee Business Name: Ember Gardens Cape Cod, LLC 

Licensed Location: 41 MA-6A, Orleans, MA 02653 

 

2. Type of final license sought (if cultivation, its tier level and outside/inside operation): 

 

     License Type(s) Sought: 

Marijuana Retailer 

 
3. The licensee is associated with the following license type(s):  

        

The licensee is not associated with any other license applications or licenses.  

 

LICENSING OVERVIEW 

 

4. The licensee was approved for provisional licensure for the above-mentioned license(s) on 

May 12, 2022. 

 

5. The licensee has paid all applicable license fees. 

 

6. No new information has been reported to Commission staff regarding the organizational 

structure of the entity since the issuance of the provisional license(s). 

 

7. No new information has been discovered by Commission staff regarding the suitability of 

the licensees previously disclosed since the issuance of the provisional license(s). 

 

INSPECTION OVERVIEW 

 

8. Commission staff inspected the licensee’s facility on the following date(s): April 9, 2024. 

 



 
 

   
Final License Executive Summary 2 

9. The licensee’s facility was inspected by Commission staff and found to be in full 

compliance with the requirements listed in 935 CMR 500.105 through 935 CMR 500.160 as 

applicable. 

 

10. No evidence was discovered during the inspection(s) that indicated the licensee was not in 

compliance with all applicable state laws and local bylaws or ordinances.   

 

11. Specific information from Commission staff’s inspection is highlighted below: 

 

a. Security 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all security-related requirements were in full compliance 

with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. The security of all entrances and exits; 

ii. Visitor procedures; 

iii. Limited access areas; 

iv. Verification of a primary and back-up security company; 

v. Presence of perimeter and duress alarms; and 

vi. All cameras complied with Commission requirements. 

 

b. Inventory and Storage 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all inventory-related requirements were in full 

compliance with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the 

following: 

i. Secure storage of marijuana and marijuana products; 

ii. Sanitation and pest control measures; and 

iii. Inventory controls and procedures. 

 

c. Retail Operation  

 

Enforcement staff verified that all retail-related requirements were in full compliance 

with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. Verification of identifications for access; 

ii. Layout of the sales floor; and 

iii. Availability and contents of adult-use consumer education materials. 

 

d. Transportation 

 

The licensee will not be performing transportation activities at this time. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Commission staff recommend final licensure with the following conditions: 



 
 

   
Final License Executive Summary 3 

 

1. The licensee may possess and otherwise acquire marijuana, but shall not dispense, sell, or 

otherwise transport marijuana to other Marijuana Establishments, or to consumers, until 

upon inspection, receiving permission from the Commission to commence full operations. 

2. The licensee is subject to inspection to ascertain compliance with Commission regulations. 

3. The licensee remains suitable for licensure. 

4. The licensee shall cooperate with and provide information to Commission staff.  

5. Licensure is subject to notification to the Commission of any update to written operations 

plans required by 935 CMR 500.105(1) prior to the issuance of a commencement of 

operations and that Commission staff be given adequate opportunity to review said plans at 

the business location or the location where any such plans are maintained in the normal 

course of business. 

 

The licensee has demonstrated compliance with the laws and regulations of the Commonwealth 

and suitability for licensure. Therefore, the licensee is recommended for final licensure.  

 

As part of the approval of final licensure, the Commission authorizes staff to take all necessary 

actions to review compliance with the above-referenced conditions and to approve the 

commencement of operations. 

 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
Final License Executive Summary 1 

 Euphorium, LLC 
MC283845 

MP282263 

MR284560 

 

 

ESTABLISHMENT OVERVIEW 

 

1. Name and address of the Marijuana Establishment: 

 

Licensee Business Name: Euphorium, LLC 

Licensed Location: 15 Main St., Holyoke, MA 01040 

 

2. Type of final license sought (if cultivation, its tier level and outside/inside operation): 

 

     License Type(s) Sought: 

Marijuana Cultivator, Tier 1, Indoor (up to 5,000 sq. ft.) 

Marijuana Product Manufacturer 

Marijuana Retailer 

 
3. The licensee is associated with the following license type(s):  

       

The licensee is not associated with any other license applications or licenses.  

 

LICENSING OVERVIEW 

 

4. The licensee was approved for provisional licensure for the above-mentioned license(s) on 

August 10, 2023. 

 

5. The licensee has paid all applicable license fees. 

 

6. No new information has been reported to Commission staff regarding the organizational 

structure of the entity since the issuance of the provisional license(s). 

 

7. No new information has been discovered by Commission staff regarding the suitability of 

the licensees previously disclosed since the issuance of the provisional license(s). 

 

INSPECTION OVERVIEW 

 



 
 

   
Final License Executive Summary 2 

8. Commission staff inspected the licensee’s facility on the following date(s): April 22, 2024. 

 

9. The licensee’s facility was inspected by Commission staff and found to be in full 

compliance with the requirements listed in 935 CMR 500.105 through 935 CMR 500.160 as 

applicable. 

 

10. No evidence was discovered during the inspection(s) that indicated the licensee was not in 

compliance with all applicable state laws and local bylaws or ordinances.   

 

11. Specific information from Commission staff’s inspection is highlighted below: 

 

a. Security 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all security-related requirements were in full compliance 

with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. The security of all entrances and exits; 

ii. Visitor procedures; 

iii. Limited access areas; 

iv. Verification of a primary and back-up security company; 

v. Presence of perimeter and duress alarms; and 

vi. All cameras complied with Commission requirements. 

 

b. Inventory and Storage 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all inventory-related requirements were in full 

compliance with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the 

following: 

i. Secure storage of marijuana and marijuana products; 

ii. Sanitation and pest control measures; and 

iii. Inventory controls and procedures. 

 

c. Cultivation Operation  

 

Enforcement staff verified that all cultivation operations were in compliance with the 

Commission’s regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. Seed-to-sale tracking; 

ii. Compliance with applicable pesticide laws and regulations; and 

iii. Best practices to limit contamination. 

 

d. Product Manufacturing Operation  

 

Enforcement staff verified that all manufacturing-related requirements were in full 

compliance with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the 

following: 



 
 

   
Final License Executive Summary 3 

i. Proposed product compliance; and 

ii. Safety, sanitation, and security of the area and products. 

 

e. Retail Operation  

 

Enforcement staff verified that all retail-related requirements were in full compliance 

with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. Verification of identifications for access; 

ii. Layout of the sales floor; and 

iii. Availability and contents of adult-use consumer education materials. 

 

f. Transportation 

 

The licensee will not be performing transportation activities at this time. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Commission staff recommend final licensure with the following conditions: 

 

1. The licensee may cultivate, harvest, possess, prepare, produce, and otherwise acquire 

marijuana, but shall not dispense, sell, or otherwise transport marijuana to other Marijuana 

Establishments, or to consumers, until upon inspection, receiving permission from the 

Commission to commence full operations. 

2. The licensee is subject to inspection to ascertain compliance with Commission regulations. 

3. The licensee remains suitable for licensure. 

4. The licensee shall cooperate with and provide information to Commission staff.  

5. Licensure is subject to notification to the Commission of any update to written operations 

plans required by 935 CMR 500.105(1) prior to the issuance of a commencement of 

operations and that Commission staff be given adequate opportunity to review said plans at 

the business location or the location where any such plans are maintained in the normal 

course of business. 

 

The licensee has demonstrated compliance with the laws and regulations of the Commonwealth 

and suitability for licensure. Therefore, the licensee is recommended for final licensure.  

 

As part of the approval of final licensure, the Commission authorizes staff to take all necessary 

actions to review compliance with the above-referenced conditions and to approve the 

commencement of operations. 

 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
Final License Executive Summary 1 

JMK Gardening, LLC 
MR284654 

 

 

 

LICENSEE OVERVIEW 

 

1. Name and address of the Marijuana Establishment: 

 

Licensee Business Name: JMK Gardening, LLC 

Licensee d/b/a Name: Wonderland Cannabis Co. 

Licensed Location: 11 McCracken Road, Suite C, Millbury, MA 01527 

 

2. Type of final license sought (if cultivation, its tier level and outside/inside operation): 

 

License Type(s) Sought: 

Marijuana Retailer 

 
3. The licensee is associated with the following license type(s):  

       

The licensee is not associated with any other license applications or licenses.  

 

4. The licensee was approved for provisional licensure for the above-mentioned license(s) on 

March 9, 2023. 

 

5. The licensee has paid all applicable license fees. 

 

6. No new information has been reported to Commission staff regarding the organizational 

structure of the entity since the issuance of the provisional license(s). 

 

7. No new information has been discovered by Commission staff regarding the suitability of the 

licensees previously disclosed since the issuance of the provisional license(s). 

 

INSPECTION OVERVIEW 

 

8. Commission staff inspected the licensee’s facility on the following date(s): March 25, 2024. 

 

9. The licensee’s facility was inspected by Commission staff and found to be in full compliance 

with the requirements listed in 935 CMR 500.105 through 935 CMR 500.160 as applicable. 



 
 

   
Final License Executive Summary 2 

10. No evidence was discovered during the inspection(s) that indicated the licensee was not in 

compliance with all applicable state laws and local bylaws or ordinances.   

 

11. Specific information from Commission staff’s inspection is highlighted below: 

 

a. Security 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all security-related requirements were in full compliance 

with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. The security of all entrances and exits; 

ii. Visitor procedures; 

iii. Limited access areas; 

iv. Verification of a primary and back-up security company; 

v. Presence of perimeter and duress alarms; and 

vi. All cameras complied with Commission requirements. 

 

b. Inventory and Storage 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all inventory-related requirements were in full compliance 

with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. Secure storage of marijuana and marijuana products; 

ii. Sanitation and pest control measures; and 

iii. Inventory controls and procedures. 

 

c. Retail Operation  

 

Enforcement staff verified that all retail-related requirements were in full compliance with 

Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. Verification of identifications for access; 

ii. Layout of the sales floor; and 

iii. Availability and contents of adult-use consumer education materials. 

 

d. Transportation 

 

The licensee will not be performing transportation activities at this time. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Commission staff recommend final licensure with the following conditions: 

 

1. The licensee may possess and otherwise acquire marijuana, but shall not dispense, sell, or 

otherwise transport marijuana to other Marijuana Establishments, or to consumers, until upon 

inspection, receiving permission from the Commission to commence full operations. 

2. The licensee is subject to inspection to ascertain compliance with Commission regulations. 



 
 

   
Final License Executive Summary 3 

3. The licensee remains suitable for licensure. 

4. The licensee shall cooperate with and provide information to Commission staff.  

5. Licensure is subject to notification to the Commission of any update to written operations 

plans required by 935 CMR 500.105(1) prior to the issuance of a commencement of 

operations and that Commission staff be given adequate opportunity to review said plans at 

the business location or the location where any such plans are maintained in the normal 

course of business. 

 

The licensee has demonstrated compliance with the laws and regulations of the Commonwealth 

and suitability for licensure. Therefore, the licensee is recommended for final licensure.  

 

As part of the approval of final licensure, the Commission authorizes staff to take all necessary 

actions to review compliance with the above-referenced conditions and to approve the 

commencement of operations. 

 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
Final License Executive Summary 1 

Mint Retail Facilities, LLC 
MR283295 

 

 

 

LICENSEE OVERVIEW 

 

1. Name and address of the Marijuana Establishment: 

 

Licensee Business Name: Mint Retail Facilities, LLC 

Licensed Location: 768 Pleasant Street, Belmont, MA 02478 

 

2. Type of final license sought (if cultivation, its tier level and outside/inside operation): 

 

      License Type(s) Sought: 

Marijuana Retailer 

 
3. The licensee is associated with the following license type(s):  

       

The licensee is not associated with any other license applications or licenses.  

 

4. The licensee was approved for provisional licensure for the above-mentioned license(s) on 

July 15, 2021. 

 

5. The licensee has paid all applicable license fees. 

 

6. No new information has been reported to Commission staff regarding the organizational 

structure of the entity since the issuance of the provisional license(s). 

 

7. No new information has been discovered by Commission staff regarding the suitability of the 

licensees previously disclosed since the issuance of the provisional license(s). 

 

INSPECTION OVERVIEW 

 

8. Commission staff inspected the licensee’s facility on the following date(s): April 22, 2024. 

 

9. The licensee’s facility was inspected by Commission staff and found to be in full compliance 

with the requirements listed in 935 CMR 500.105 through 935 CMR 500.160 as applicable. 

 



 
 

   
Final License Executive Summary 2 

10. No evidence was discovered during the inspection(s) that indicated the licensee was not in 

compliance with all applicable state laws and local bylaws or ordinances.   

 

11. Specific information from Commission staff’s inspection is highlighted below: 

 

a. Security 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all security-related requirements were in full compliance 

with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. The security of all entrances and exits; 

ii. Visitor procedures; 

iii. Limited access areas; 

iv. Verification of a primary and back-up security company; 

v. Presence of perimeter and duress alarms; and 

vi. All cameras complied with Commission requirements. 

 

b. Inventory and Storage 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all inventory-related requirements were in full compliance 

with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. Secure storage of marijuana and marijuana products; 

ii. Sanitation and pest control measures; and 

iii. Inventory controls and procedures. 

 

c. Retail Operation  

 

Enforcement staff verified that all retail-related requirements were in full compliance with 

Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. Verification of identifications for access; 

ii. Layout of the sales floor; and 

iii. Availability and contents of adult-use consumer education materials. 

 

d. Transportation 

 

The licensee will not be performing transportation activities at this time. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Commission staff recommend final licensure with the following conditions: 

 

1. The licensee may possess and otherwise acquire marijuana, but shall not dispense, sell, or 

otherwise transport marijuana to other Marijuana Establishments, or to consumers, until upon 

inspection, receiving permission from the Commission to commence full operations. 

 



 
 

   
Final License Executive Summary 3 

2. The licensee is subject to inspection to ascertain compliance with Commission regulations. 

3. The licensee remains suitable for licensure. 

4. The licensee shall cooperate with and provide information to Commission staff.  

5. Licensure is subject to notification to the Commission of any update to written operations 

plans required by 935 CMR 500.105(1) prior to the issuance of a commencement of 

operations and that Commission staff be given adequate opportunity to review said plans at 

the business location or the location where any such plans are maintained in the normal 

course of business. 

 

The licensee has demonstrated compliance with the laws and regulations of the Commonwealth 

and suitability for licensure. Therefore, the licensee is recommended for final licensure.  

 

As part of the approval of final licensure, the Commission authorizes staff to take all necessary 

actions to review compliance with the above-referenced conditions and to approve the 

commencement of operations. 

 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
Final License Executive Summary 1 

Ocean Breeze Cultivators, LLC 
MR283656 

 

 

 

LICENSEE OVERVIEW 

 

1. Name and address of the Marijuana Establishment: 

 

Licensee Business Name: Ocean Breeze Cultivators, LLC 

Licensed Location: 9 Whistle Stop Way, Gloucester, MA 01930 

 

2. Type of final license sought (if cultivation, its tier level and outside/inside operation): 

 

    License Type(s) Sought: 

Marijuana Retailer 

 
3. The licensee is associated with the following license type(s):  

     

Type Status Location  

Marijuana Product Manufacturing Commence Operations Gloucester 

Marijuana Cultivator, Tier 3/Indoor 

(10,000 – 20,000 sq. ft.) 

Commence Operations Gloucester 

 

4. The licensee was approved for provisional licensure for the above-mentioned license(s) on 

July 15, 2021. 

 

5. The licensee has paid all applicable license fees. 

 

6. No new information has been reported to Commission staff regarding the organizational 

structure of the entity since the issuance of the provisional license(s). 

 

7. No new information has been discovered by Commission staff regarding the suitability of the 

licensees previously disclosed since the issuance of the provisional license(s). 

 

INSPECTION OVERVIEW 

 

8. Commission staff inspected the licensee’s facility on the following date(s): April 10, 2024. 

 



 
 

   
Final License Executive Summary 2 

9. The licensee’s facility was inspected by Commission staff and found to be in full compliance 

with the requirements listed in 935 CMR 500.105 through 935 CMR 500.160 as applicable. 

 

10. No evidence was discovered during the inspection(s) that indicated the licensee was not in 

compliance with all applicable state laws and local bylaws or ordinances.   

 

11. Specific information from Commission staff’s inspection is highlighted below: 

 

a. Security 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all security-related requirements were in full compliance 

with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. The security of all entrances and exits; 

ii. Visitor procedures; 

iii. Limited access areas; 

iv. Verification of a primary and back-up security company; 

v. Presence of perimeter and duress alarms; and 

vi. All cameras complied with Commission requirements. 

 

b. Inventory and Storage 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all inventory-related requirements were in full compliance 

with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. Secure storage of marijuana and marijuana products; 

ii. Sanitation and pest control measures; and 

iii. Inventory controls and procedures. 

 

c. Retail Operation  

 

Enforcement staff verified that all retail-related requirements were in full compliance with 

Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. Verification of identifications for access; 

ii. Layout of the sales floor; and 

iii. Availability and contents of adult-use consumer education materials. 

 

d. Transportation 

 

The licensee will not be performing transportation activities at this time. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Commission staff recommend final licensure with the following conditions: 

 



 
 

   
Final License Executive Summary 3 

1. The licensee may possess and otherwise acquire marijuana, but shall not dispense, sell, or 

otherwise transport marijuana to other Marijuana Establishments, or to consumers, until upon 

inspection, receiving permission from the Commission to commence full operations. 

2. The licensee is subject to inspection to ascertain compliance with Commission regulations. 

3. The licensee remains suitable for licensure. 

4. The licensee shall cooperate with and provide information to Commission staff.  

5. Licensure is subject to notification to the Commission of any update to written operations 

plans required by 935 CMR 500.105(1) prior to the issuance of a commencement of 

operations and that Commission staff be given adequate opportunity to review said plans at 

the business location or the location where any such plans are maintained in the normal 

course of business. 

 

The licensee has demonstrated compliance with the laws and regulations of the Commonwealth 

and suitability for licensure. Therefore, the licensee is recommended for final licensure.  

 

As part of the approval of final licensure, the Commission authorizes staff to take all necessary 

actions to review compliance with the above-referenced conditions and to approve the 

commencement of operations. 

 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
Final License Executive Summary 1 

 Riverside Agriculture, LLC 
MR283237 

 

 

 

ESTABLISHMENT OVERVIEW 

 

1. Name and address of the Marijuana Establishment: 

 

Licensee Business Name: Riverside Agriculture, LLC 

Licensed Location: 1 Cabot Street, Holyoke, MA 01040 

 

2. Type of final license sought (if cultivation, its tier level and outside/inside operation): 

 

     License Type(s) Sought: 

Marijuana Retailer 

 
3. The licensee is associated with the following license type(s):  

      

The licensee is not associated with any other license applications or licenses.  

 

LICENSING OVERVIEW 

 

4. The licensee was approved for provisional licensure for the above-mentioned license(s) on 

September 10, 2020. 

 

5. The licensee has paid all applicable license fees. 

 

6. No new information has been reported to Commission staff regarding the organizational 

structure of the entity since the issuance of the provisional license(s). 

 

7. No new information has been discovered by Commission staff regarding the suitability of 

the licensees previously disclosed since the issuance of the provisional license(s). 

 

INSPECTION OVERVIEW 

 

8. Commission staff inspected the licensee’s facility on the following date(s): May 8, 2024. 

 



 
 

   
Final License Executive Summary 2 

9. The licensee’s facility was inspected by Commission staff and found to be in full 

compliance with the requirements listed in 935 CMR 500.105 through 935 CMR 500.160 as 

applicable. 

 

10. No evidence was discovered during the inspection(s) that indicated the licensee was not in 

compliance with all applicable state laws and local bylaws or ordinances.   

 

11. Specific information from Commission staff’s inspection is highlighted below: 

 

a. Security 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all security-related requirements were in full compliance 

with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. The security of all entrances and exits; 

ii. Visitor procedures; 

iii. Limited access areas; 

iv. Verification of a primary and back-up security company; 

v. Presence of perimeter and duress alarms; and 

vi. All cameras complied with Commission requirements. 

 

b. Inventory and Storage 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all inventory-related requirements were in full 

compliance with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the 

following: 

i. Secure storage of marijuana and marijuana products; 

ii. Sanitation and pest control measures; and 

iii. Inventory controls and procedures. 

 

c. Retail Operation  

 

Enforcement staff verified that all retail-related requirements were in full compliance 

with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. Verification of identifications for access; 

ii. Layout of the sales floor; and 

iii. Availability and contents of adult-use consumer education materials. 

 

d. Transportation 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all transportation-related requirements were in full 

compliance with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the 

following: 

 

The licensee will not be performing transportation activities at this time. 



 
 

   
Final License Executive Summary 3 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Commission staff recommend final licensure with the following conditions: 

 

1. The licensee may possess and otherwise acquire marijuana, but shall not dispense, sell, or 

otherwise transport marijuana to other Marijuana Establishments, or to consumers, until 

upon inspection, receiving permission from the Commission to commence full operations. 

2. The licensee is subject to inspection to ascertain compliance with Commission regulations. 

3. The licensee remains suitable for licensure. 

4. The licensee shall cooperate with and provide information to Commission staff.  

5. Licensure is subject to notification to the Commission of any update to written operations 

plans required by 935 CMR 500.105(1) prior to the issuance of a commencement of 

operations and that Commission staff be given adequate opportunity to review said plans at 

the business location or the location where any such plans are maintained in the normal 

course of business. 

 

The licensee has demonstrated compliance with the laws and regulations of the Commonwealth 

and suitability for licensure. Therefore, the licensee is recommended for final licensure.  

 

As part of the approval of final licensure, the Commission authorizes staff to take all necessary 

actions to review compliance with the above-referenced conditions and to approve the 

commencement of operations. 

 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
Final License Executive Summary 1 

Silver Therapeutics, Inc. 
MR283074 

 

 

ESTABLISHMENT OVERVIEW 

 

1. Name and address of the Marijuana Establishment: 

 

Licensee Business Name: Silver Therapeutics, Inc. 

Licensee d/b/a Name: City Farm 

Licensed Location: 717-721 American Legion Highway, Boston, MA 02121 

 

2. Type of final license sought (if cultivation, its tier level and outside/inside operation): 

 

License Type(s) Sought: 

Marijuana Retailer 

 
3. The licensee is associated with the following license type(s):  

      

Type Status Location  

Marijuana Retail Commence Operations Williamstown 

Marijuana Cultivator, Tier 1/Indoor 

(up to 5,000 sq. ft.) 

Provisional License Boston 

Marijuana Product Manufacturing Provisional License Boston 

MTC Provisional License Boston-Boston 

 

LICENSING OVERVIEW 

 

4. The licensee was approved for provisional licensure for the above-mentioned license(s) on 

September 10, 2020. 

 

5. The licensee has paid all applicable license fees. 

 

6. No new information has been reported to Commission staff regarding the organizational 

structure of the entity since the issuance of the provisional license(s). 

 

7. No new information has been discovered by Commission staff regarding the suitability of 

the licensees previously disclosed since the issuance of the provisional license(s). 

 



 
 

   
Final License Executive Summary 2 

INSPECTION OVERVIEW 

 

8. Commission staff inspected the licensee’s facility on the following date(s): April 18, 2024. 

 

9. The licensee’s facility was inspected by Commission staff and found to be in full 

compliance with the requirements listed in 935 CMR 500.105 through 935 CMR 500.160 as 

applicable. 

 

10. No evidence was discovered during the inspection(s) that indicated the licensee was not in 

compliance with all applicable state laws and local bylaws or ordinances.   

 

11. Specific information from Commission staff’s inspection is highlighted below: 

 

a. Security 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all security-related requirements were in full compliance 

with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. The security of all entrances and exits; 

ii. Visitor procedures; 

iii. Limited access areas; 

iv. Verification of a primary and back-up security company; 

v. Presence of perimeter and duress alarms; and 

vi. All cameras complied with Commission requirements. 

 

b. Inventory and Storage 

 

Enforcement staff verified that all inventory-related requirements were in full 

compliance with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the 

following: 

i. Secure storage of marijuana and marijuana products; 

ii. Sanitation and pest control measures; and 

iii. Inventory controls and procedures. 

 

c. Retail Operation  

 

Enforcement staff verified that all retail-related requirements were in full compliance 

with Commission regulations. Some of the requirements verified include the following: 

i. Verification of identifications for access; 

ii. Layout of the sales floor; and 

iii. Availability and contents of adult-use consumer education materials. 

 

d. Transportation 

 

The licensee will not be performing transportation activities at this time. 



 
 

   
Final License Executive Summary 3 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Commission staff recommend final licensure with the following conditions: 

 

1. The licensee may possess and otherwise acquire marijuana, but shall not dispense, sell, or 

otherwise transport marijuana to other Marijuana Establishments, or to consumers, until 

upon inspection, receiving permission from the Commission to commence full operations. 

2. The licensee is subject to inspection to ascertain compliance with Commission regulations. 

3. The licensee remains suitable for licensure. 

4. The licensee shall cooperate with and provide information to Commission staff.  

5. Licensure is subject to notification to the Commission of any update to written operations 

plans required by 935 CMR 500.105(1) prior to the issuance of a commencement of 

operations and that Commission staff be given adequate opportunity to review said plans at 

the business location or the location where any such plans are maintained in the normal 

course of business. 

 

The licensee has demonstrated compliance with the laws and regulations of the Commonwealth 

and suitability for licensure. Therefore, the licensee is recommended for final licensure.  

 

As part of the approval of final licensure, the Commission authorizes staff to take all necessary 

actions to review compliance with the above-referenced conditions and to approve the 

commencement of operations. 

 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
 

Provisional License Executive Summary 1 

GreenSoul Organics, Inc. 
MCN283834 

MPN282257 

 

 

APPLICATION OF INTENT REVIEW 

 

1. Name, address, and license type(s) sought of the proposed License Applicant: 

 

License Applicant Business Name: GreenSoul Orgaincs, Inc. 

License Applicant d/b/a Name: GreenSoul 

Proposed Location: 32 Oak Hill Lane, Fitchburg, MA 01420 

 

2. Type of final license sought (if cultivation, its tier level and outside/inside operation): 

 

License Type(s) Sought: 

Marijuana Cultivator, Tier 6, Indoor, (40,001 – 50,000 sq. ft.) 

Marijuana Product Manufacturer 

 

3. The license applicant is associated with the following license type(s):  

 

Type Status Location  

Marijuana Retail Provisional License Fitchburg 

 

4. List of all required individuals and their roles: 

 

Individual Role 

Tabasuri Moses Person Having Direct/Indirect Control  

Saba Kahassai Person Having Direct/Indirect Control  

Jason Wild Person Having Direct/Indirect Control  

 

5. List of all required entities and their roles: 

 

Entity Role 

JW Partners, LP Entity Having Direct/Indirect Control  

Green Soul Development, LLC Capital Contributor 

 

6. License Applicant’s Status: 



 
 

   
Provisional License Executive Summary 2 

Economic Empowerment Priority Applicant 

Saba Kahassai / 51% / EE202249 

 

7. The license applicant and host community executed a Host Community Agreement (“HCA”) 

on July 2, 2019. The license applicant submitted their application prior to March 1, 2024 and 

provided the required certification form.  

 

8. The Commission sent a municipal notice with a copy of the application to the host community 

on February 23, 2024. The Commission did not receive a response within 60 days pursuant to 

935 CMR 500.102(1)(d). 

 

9. The license applicant proposed the following goals for its Positive Impact Plan: 

 

# Goal 

1 The license applicant proposes to hire 30% of individuals from the following 

Commission identified Areas of Disproportionate Impact: Boston and Fitchburg, 

Economic Empowerment Priority Applicants, Social Equity Participants, MA 

Residents with Past Drug Convictions, and/or MA Residents with Parents or Spouses 

with Past Drug Convictions. 

2 The license applicant proposed to donate $5,000.00 to CultivatED. 

  

BACKGROUND CHECK REVIEW 

 

10. There were no disclosures of any past civil or criminal actions, occupational license issues, or 

marijuana-related business interests in other jurisdictions.  

 

11. There were no concerns arising from background checks on the individuals or entities 

associated with the application. 

 

MANAGEMENT AND OPERATIONS PROFILE REVIEW 

 

12. The license applicant submitted all required summaries of plans, policies, and procedures for 

the operation of the proposed establishment. The summaries were determined to be 

substantially compliant with the Commission’s regulations.  

 

13. The license applicant proposed the following goals for its Diversity Plan: 

 

# Goal 

1 The license applicant proposes to hire the following: 50% Women, 30% People of 

color, particularly Black, African American, Hispanic, Latinx, and Indigenous peoples, 

10% Veterans, 5% Persons with Disabilities, and 10% LGBTQ+ People. 

2 The license applicant proposes to implement anti-racism and anti-bias training 

programs for executives and employees. 



 
 

   
Provisional License Executive Summary 3 

3 The license applicant proposes to create a mentorship and sponsorship program that 

connects employees from underrepresented groups with senior leaders within the 

organization, to provide guidance and support for career development. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Commission staff recommend provisional licensure with the following conditions: 

 

1. Final license is subject to inspection to ascertain compliance with Commission regulations. 

2. Final license is subject to inspection to ascertain compliance with applicable state laws, local 

codes, ordinances or bylaws, and local licensing requirements. 

3. The license applicant shall cooperate with and provide information to Commission staff. 

4. Provisional licensure is subject to the payment of the appropriate license fee. 

 

The license applicant has demonstrated compliance with the laws and regulations of the 

Commonwealth and suitability for licensure. Therefore, the applicant is recommended for 

provisional licensure.  

 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
 

Provisional License Executive Summary 1 

Native Sun Wellness, Inc. 
RMDA4128 

 

 

APPLICATION OF INTENT REVIEW 

 

1. Name, address, and license type(s) sought of the proposed License Applicant: 

 

License Applicant Business Name: Native Sun Wellness, Inc. 

Proposed Cultivation Location: 140 Industrial Road, Fitchburg, MA 01420 

Proposed Manufacturing Location: 140 Industrial Road, Fitchburg, MA 01420 

Proposed Dispensary Location: 37 Coolidge Street, Hudson, MA 01749 

 

2. Type of final license sought (if cultivation, its tier level and outside/inside operation): 

 

License Type(s) Sought: 

Medical Marijuana Treatment Center 

 

3. The license applicant is associated with the following license type(s):  

 

Type Status Location  

Marijuana Retail Commence Operations Hudson 

 

4. List of all required individuals and their roles: 

 

Individual Role 

Timothy Caraboolad Person Having Direct/Indirect Control  

Geoffrey Caraboolad Person Having Direct/Indirect Control  

Geoffrey Bernstein Person Having Direct/Indirect Control  

 

5. List of all required entities and their roles: 

 

Entity Role 

Native Sun Holdings, LLC Entity Having Direct/Indirect Control / Capital 

Contributor 

 

6. License Applicant’s Status: 

 



 
 

   
Provisional License Executive Summary 2 

General Applicant 

 

7. The license applicant and host community executed a Host Community Agreement (“HCA”) 

on June 26, 2023. The license applicant submitted their application prior to March 1, 2024 

and provided the required certification form.  

 

8. The license applicant and the second host community executed a Host Community Agreement 

(“HCA”) on May 18, 2023. The license applicant submitted their application prior to March 

1, 2024 and provided the required certification form.  

 

9. The Commission sent a municipal notice with a copy of the application to the host 

communities on February 27, 2024. The Commission did not receive a response within 60 

days pursuant to 935 CMR 500.102(1)(d). 

 

10. The license applicant proposed the following goals for its Positive Impact Plan: 

 

# Goal 

1 The license applicant proposes to hire 10% of individuals from the following 

Commission identified Areas of Disproportionate Impact: census tracts of Worcester 

2 The license applicant proposed to donate $1,000 monthly to Making Opportunity 

Count. 

 

BACKGROUND CHECK REVIEW 

 

11. There were no disclosures of any past civil or criminal actions, occupational license issues, or 

marijuana-related business interests in other jurisdictions.  

 

12. There were no concerns arising from background checks on the individuals or entities 

associated with the application. 

 

MANAGEMENT AND OPERATIONS PROFILE REVIEW 

 

13. The license applicant submitted all required summaries of plans, policies, and procedures for 

the operation of the proposed establishment. The summaries were determined to be 

substantially compliant with the Commission’s regulations.  

 

14. The license applicant proposed the following goals for its Diversity Plan: 

 

# Goal 

1 The license applicant proposes to hire the following: 30% Women, 10% People of 

color, particularly Black, African American, Hispanic, Latinx, and Indigenous peoples, 

10% Veterans, 10% Persons with Disabilities, and 10% LGBTQ+ People. 

2 The license applicant proposes to provide a minimum of one (1) annual training session 

that will provide the tools needed to grow within the industry from the following: 



 
 

   
Provisional License Executive Summary 3 

Women, People of color, particularly Black, African American, Hispanic, Latinx, and 

Indigenous peoples, Veterans, Persons with Disabilities, and LGBTQ+ People. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Commission staff recommend provisional licensure with the following conditions: 

 

1. Final license is subject to inspection to ascertain compliance with Commission regulations. 

2. Final license is subject to inspection to ascertain compliance with applicable state laws, local 

codes, ordinances or bylaws, and local licensing requirements. 

3. The license applicant shall cooperate with and provide information to Commission staff. 

4. Provisional licensure is subject to the payment of the appropriate license fee. 

 

The license applicant has demonstrated compliance with the laws and regulations of the 

Commonwealth and suitability for licensure. Therefore, the applicant is recommended for 

provisional licensure.  

 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
 

Provisional License Executive Summary 1 

Surf’s Up Cannabis Ventures, LLC 
MRN285057 

 

 

APPLICATION OF INTENT REVIEW 

 

1. Name, address, and license type(s) sought of the proposed License Applicant: 

 

License Applicant Business Name: Surf’s Up Cannabis Ventures, LLC 

Proposed Location: 70 Gallivan Boulevard, Boston, MA 02122 

 

2. Type of final license sought (if cultivation, its tier level and outside/inside operation): 

 

License Type(s) Sought: 

Marijuana Retailer 

 

3. The license applicant is associated with the following license type(s):  

  

The license applicant is not associated with any other license applications or licenses.  

 

4. List of all required individuals and their roles: 

 

Individual Role 

Christine Argiros Person Having Direct/Indirect Control/Capital Contributor 

Michelle Foley Person Having Direct/Indirect Control  

Richard Parsons Person Having Direct/Indirect Control  

 

5. List of all required entities and their roles: 

 

Entity Role 

GreenTech 770 Ventures, LLC Entity Having Direct/Indirect Control  

Surf’s Up Cannabis Operations, LLC Entity Having Direct/Indirect Control  

 

6. License Applicant’s Status: 

 

General Applicant 

 



 
 

   
Provisional License Executive Summary 2 

7. The license applicant and host community executed a Host Community Agreement (“HCA”) 

on April 7, 2023. The license applicant submitted their application prior to March 1, 2024 and 

provided the required certification form. 

 

8. The Commission received a municipal response from the host community on April 3, 2024 

stating the applicant was in compliance with all local ordinances or by-laws.  

 

9. The license applicant proposed the following goals for its Positive Impact Plan: 

 

# Goal 

1 The license applicant proposes to hold three (3) community engagement meetings prior 

to opening and reaching 250 residents per year to reduce barriers to entry in the 

commercial adult-use cannabis industry for individuals from the following 

Commission identified Areas of Disproportionate Impact: Census tracts of Boston. 

2 The license applicant proposes to provide mentoring, professional and technical 

services for disproportionately harmed individuals from the following Commission 

identified Areas of Disproportionate Impact: Economic Empowerment Priority 

Applicants and Social Equity Participants. 

3 The license applicant proposes to provide an annual financial contribution of $5,000 

to the CultivatED program. 

  

BACKGROUND CHECK REVIEW 

 

10. There were no disclosures of any past civil or criminal actions, occupational license issues, or 

marijuana-related business interests in other jurisdictions.  

 

11. There were no concerns arising from background checks on the individuals or entities 

associated with the application. 

 

MANAGEMENT AND OPERATIONS PROFILE REVIEW 

 

12. The license applicant submitted all required summaries of plans, policies, and procedures for 

the operation of the proposed establishment. The summaries were determined to be 

substantially compliant with the Commission’s regulations.  

 

13. The license applicant proposed the following goals for its Diversity Plan: 

 

# Goal 

1 The license applicant proposes to hire the following: 50% Women, 25% People of 

color, particularly Black, African American, Hispanic, Latinx, and Indigenous peoples, 

10%Veterans, 5% Persons with Disabilities, and 10% LGBTQ+ People. 

2 The license applicant proposes to work with suppliers and vendors that are the 

following: 5% Women, 5% People of color, particularly Black, African American, 



 
 

   
Provisional License Executive Summary 3 

Hispanic, Latinx, and Indigenous peoples, 5%Veterans, 5% Persons with Disabilities, 

and 5% LGBTQ+ People. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Commission staff recommend provisional licensure with the following conditions: 

 

1. Final license is subject to inspection to ascertain compliance with Commission regulations. 

2. Final license is subject to inspection to ascertain compliance with applicable state laws, local 

codes, ordinances or bylaws, and local licensing requirements. 

3. The license applicant shall cooperate with and provide information to Commission staff. 

4. Provisional licensure is subject to the payment of the appropriate license fee. 

 

The license applicant has demonstrated compliance with the laws and regulations of the 

Commonwealth and suitability for licensure. Therefore, the applicant is recommended for 

provisional licensure.  

 



1 

Case No. ENF-2023-0000001411 

June __, 2024 

Life Essence, Inc. d/b/a Trulieve 
56 Canal Street 
Holyoke, Massachusetts 01040 
RMD1365; RMD1735; RMD1736 
MR282981; MR283110; MR282049 
MC281999; MP281624; MC282412 

FINAL ORDER AND STIPULATED AGREEMENT 

This Final Order and Stipulated Agreement (herein, “Order”) between the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts Cannabis Control Commission (the “Commission”) and Life Essence, Inc. d/b/a 
Trulieve (herein, “Trulieve” or “Respondent”) (together, the “Parties”) is offered for the 
purposes of settlement and in lieu of further administrative action. The Commission finds that 
resolution of this matter serves the purposes of G.L. c. 94G, G.L. c. 94I, 935 CMR 501.360, 
501.450, and 501.500 because Respondent has cooperated with the Commission’s investigation 
and has agreed to affirmative action to further industry education and worker safety.  
The Respondent stipulates to the Facts of Record and Applicable Law as presented by the 
Commission but neither admits nor denies the Commission’s Findings, which are contained in 
Paragraphs 90 through 95 of this Order. In lieu of the uncertainty and cost of proceeding with an 
Administrative Hearing pursuant to 935 CMR 500.500, the Respondent has agreed to resolve this 
matter through the Informal Dispute Resolution process. The Respondent has voluntarily agreed 
to the Stipulated Remedy and subject to ratification by majority vote of the Commission, this 
Order is binding on both the Commission and Respondent for the purpose of bringing this matter 
to a final resolution. 

Legislative, Statutory, and Regulatory Authority 

1. The Commission has jurisdiction over the conduct and operations of licensed Marijuana
Establishments and licensed Medical Marijuana Treatment Centers (MTCs) and the
subject matter herein pursuant to the provisions of the Commonwealth’s marijuana laws,
G.L. c. 94I, G.L. c. 94G, and 935 CMR 501.000 et seq.;

2. The Commission possesses all powers necessary or convenient to carrying out and
effectuating its purposes including conducting investigations of compliance with
Commission laws, imposing fines, or otherwise restricting a license for violations of G.L.
c. 94I, G.L. c. 94G, or any regulation promulgated by the Commission;

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7F9EC46-EA52-4590-97C2-C1F9254C58F4



 
 

 
2 

3. In accordance with its statutory mandate, the Commission has adopted regulations for the 
administration, clarification, and enforcement of laws regulating Marijuana 
Establishments and MTCs, which include: 

a. Requirements for the information to be furnished by an applicant or licensee. G.L. 
c. 94G, § 4(a½)(vii); 

b. Requirements for the information to be furnished by a licensee relating to the 
licensee’s employees. G.L. c. 94G, § 4(a½)(ix); 

c. Requirements for record keeping by Licensees and procedures to track Marijuana 
cultivated, processed, manufactured, delivered or sold by Licensees. See G.L. c. 
94G, § 4(a½)(xiii); and 

d. Health and safety standards…for the cultivation, processing, manufacturing, and 
distribution of Marijuana…. See G.L. c. 94G, § 4(a½)(xxiii); 

 
4. Pursuant to its authority under G.L. c. 94I and G.L. c. 94G §§ 4(a), 4(a½), the 

Commission may issue an Order to Show Cause as to why a fine or other financial 
penalty against a Licensee should not be imposed for any acts or omissions determined to 
be in violation of the state Marijuana laws. See 935 CMR 501.360; 
 

5. Respondent was subject to an investigation by Commission investigators. From that 
investigation, the Commission alleges violations of Commission regulations, 935 CMR 
501.000, relative to Respondent’s production operations at its MTC in Holyoke, 
Massachusetts;  

 
6. On September 20, 2023, the Commission issued an Order to Show Cause against 

Respondent pursuant to 935 CMR 501.360; 
 

Facts of Record 
 

7. Trulieve is wholly owned by Trulieve Cannabis Corporation, a publicly traded Canadian 
corporation that operates Marijuana businesses in several Other Jurisdictions; 
 

8. During 2020–2022, the Commission issued final licenses to Trulieve to conduct licensed 
operations in Northampton, Framingham, Southbridge, and Worcester, Massachusetts; 
 

9. On November 19, 2020, the Commission issued Trulieve a final license to operate as an 
MTC at 56 Canal Street Holyoke, Massachusetts 01040 (the “Holyoke facility”) under 
License no. RMD1365 and approved Trulieve to commence medical operations there on 
May 24, 2021; 
 

10. The Holyoke facility is a 100,000 sq. ft. facility where Trulieve operated a medical, tier 9 
indoor cultivation and product manufacturing facility. Areas of the facility were 
dedicated to hydrocarbon extraction, internal laboratory testing, various forms of 
Marijuana flower and concentrate production, and phases of cultivation; 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7F9EC46-EA52-4590-97C2-C1F9254C58F4



 
 

 
3 

 
11. During November 19, 2020–February 2022, Trulieve submitted, and the Commission 

approved, five hundred and eighty-one (581) Medical Marijuana Establishment Agent 
(“Agent”) registration applications for License no. RMD1365;  
 

12. Out of two hundred and thirty-four (234) employee personnel records provided by 
Trulieve, only one hundred and ninety-nine (199) employee files had written verification 
of orientation completion and only one hundred and thirty-eight (138) employee files had 
certificates of completing the Responsible Vendor Training Basic Core Curriculum; 
 

13. At the time Trulieve commenced operations at the Holyoke facility, it maintained thirty-
two (32) Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) dedicated to Environmental Health and 
Safety (herein, “EH&S”). These included, but were not limited to, SOPs for Personal 
Protective Equipment (“PPE” or “Personal Protection”), Industrial Hygiene, and a 
Respiratory Protection Program (“Respiratory Protection”); 
 

14. SOPs are internal written policies and procedures that set forth required protocols relative 
to a specific licensed operation or process. All licensees must have and follow a set of 
detailed written operating procedures; 
 

15. Trulieve’s Personal Protection SOP was established on or around June 19, 2020, and 
required that PPE appropriately protect workers against environmental hazards, whether 
chemical or mechanical, and that selection of PPE be tailored to the method of exposure 
(e.g., inhalation); 
 

16. Under the Personal Protection SOP, Trulieve supervisors and managers were required to 
continually assess hazards in their responsible areas, select the appropriate PPE to protect 
the affected worker from those hazards, train workers on the use of PPE, and ensure that 
PPE was used. The Personal Protection SOP stated that Trulieve would perform a written 
Job Hazard Analysis;  
 

17. The Personal Protection SOP also required written verification of training on the use of 
PPE to include the worker’s name, date of PPE training, and the subject of the 
certification; 
 

18. Trulieve’s Respiratory Protection SOP was established on or around July 8, 2020, to 
dictate protocols for assessing respiratory hazards. The Respiratory Protection SOP 
required Trulieve’s appointed Program Administrator (the EH&S Manager) and 
supervisors to identify work areas or tasks where workers would need respiratory 
protection, and to continually monitor areas to ensure no new hazards emerged. The 
Respiratory Protection SOP further stated that any workers that would be exposed to 
respiratory hazards would have to undergo a medical evaluation, fitness testing, and 
receive training on proper use of respiratory equipment; 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7F9EC46-EA52-4590-97C2-C1F9254C58F4



 
 

 
4 

19. Specifically, the Respiratory Protection SOP provided that Trulieve’s Program 
Administrator would “revise and update the hazard assessment as needed (i.e., any time 
work process changes may potentially affect exposure)” or “if an employee feels that 
respiratory protection is needed during a particular activity”; 
 

20. Trulieve did not produce records indicating that production workers underwent or 
requested to undergo a medical evaluation, fitness testing, or received training on proper 
use of respiratory equipment; 
 

21. Trulieve developed two SOPs for Industrial Hygiene. Trulieve established an Industrial 
Hygiene Baseline Survey SOP on or around June 3, 2020 (“Industrial Hygiene Survey”), 
and an Industrial Hygiene Monitoring Program SOP on or around July 24, 2020 
(“Industrial Hygiene Monitoring”);  
 

22. The Industrial Hygiene Survey SOP provided that Trulieve would conduct a walking tour 
of the facility and interview key persons for the purpose of identifying workplace 
conditions which might be hazardous, such as sources of air contaminants; 

 
23.  The Industrial Hygiene Survey SOP set initial and ongoing procedures for monitoring 

workplace safety conditions that may “affect adversely the health, safety, and well-being 
of employees” and further stated that “in no case should a hazardous condition be given 
low priority for attention simply because only one or two workers are at risk!”; 
 

24. The Industrial Hygiene Monitoring SOP provided that continual monitoring would 
include the “selective monitoring of high-risk workers (i.e., those who are closest to the 
source of contaminant generation)” with the potential for “personal air sampling” and 
“area air sampling” which would occur based on information obtained from the Industrial 
Hygiene survey or “OHSA-required monitoring such as…developing an exposure 
assessment, or as required by the OSHA respiratory protection rule”; 
 

25. Trulieve utilized Job Safety Analyses and Tru-Safety Compliance Audits (“Safety 
Audits”) to implement its Personal Protection, Respiratory Protection, Industrial Hygiene 
Survey, and Industrial Hygiene Monitoring SOPs; 
 

26. Trulieve’s EH&S Coordinator (the “safety coordinator”) conducted Job Safety Analyses 
in relation to job type. The safety coordinator’s analysis identified the “Job Steps” for the 
equipment used, the Potential Hazards, the Recommended Safe Job Procedures, and the 
PPE Required in the Area. After their analysis, the safety coordinator would sign and date 
the Job Safety Analysis; 
 

27. The safety coordinator would also conduct Safety Audits for Trulieve. Those audits 
included a table where the safety coordinator would mark an “S” for satisfactory, “N” for 
not compliant, or “N/A” for not applicable regarding certain activities, such as chemical 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7F9EC46-EA52-4590-97C2-C1F9254C58F4



 
 

 
5 

safety, emergency preparedness, and PPE, among others. The Safety Audit form did not 
include a section on Indoor Air Quality; 
 

28. Between April 28, 2021–July 21, 2021, during and around the time the Holyoke facility 
commenced operations, Trulieve produced records that the safety coordinator conducted 
seven Job Safety Analyses of industrial equipment, including a Job Safety Analysis for 
the Rocketbox and Mobius Mill, tools which are used in the Processing of Marijuana for 
pre-rolls; 
 

29. Trulieve produced records that the safety coordinator also conducted ten Safety Audits 
during May 10, 2021–July 16, 2021; 
 

30. Trulieve did not produce records of any Safety Audits conducted after July 16, 2021; 
 

31. The Rocketbox is a commercial pre-roll machine designed to fill pre-rolls with ground 
and processed Marijuana efficiently and evenly using vibration;   
 

32. On July 16, 2021, the safety coordinator identified “dust” as a potential hazard during use 
of the Rocketbox and recommended a “mask” as a safe job procedure in their Job Safety 
Analysis. The safety coordinator wrote in the Job Safety Analysis that gloves, lab coat, 
and hair net were PPE required in area in their recommendation. They did not deem 
masks as required PPE; 
 

33. The Mobius Mill is a commercial grade cannabis grinder that processes Finished Raw 
Marijuana Flower for use in Marijuana pre-rolls or extraction for other Marijuana 
Products; 
 

34. Trulieve purchased the Mobius Mill and related equipment from Eteros Technologies 
USA, Inc. (“Eteros”) on or around February 19, 2020. Eteros delivered the Mobius Mill 
to Trulieve on or around September 30, 2020; 
 

35. The Mobius Mill User Guide is “a comprehensive manual covering the operations and 
maintenance of the Mobius M210 Mill processing machine…this User Guide, as well as 
any documentation supplied by the component manufacturers, are to be considered the 
information package associated with this device. Every operator must read and 
understand the User Guide. The manual should be located within easy access for periodic 
review”; 
 

36. Safety Instructions in the User Guide recommend “the owner of this equipment develop a 
standard operating procedure specific to each worksite to address any local hazards or 
other conditions not outlined in this User Guide” and that “a first-time operator should 
receive practical instruction before using the machine”; 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7F9EC46-EA52-4590-97C2-C1F9254C58F4



 
 

 
6 

37. Trulieve did not have or create an SOP for the Mobius Mill, as recommended by the User 
Guide, or as required by Commission regulations, until November 25, 2022; 
 

38. General Safety Precautions in the User Guide include a warning to “ALWAYS 
OPERATE DEVICE IN A WELL-VENTILATED AREA. Dust generated from certain 
materials can be a health hazard. Use a dust collection system whenever possible” and 
“WEAR A FACE MASK OR DUST MASK. Milling operation may produce dust. If dust 
extraction is not considered, a dust mask must be worn”; 
 

39. On July 21, 2021, the safety coordinator identified “masks, hairnets, coveralls, crocs, 
gloves” as required PPE for the Mobius Mill in their Job Safety Analysis, consistent with 
the warnings in the User Guide to wear dust protection while operating the machine. The 
safety coordinator did not identify any potential hazards or recommended safe job 
procedures; 
 

40. While not identified in the Job Safety Analysis, Trulieve utilized a connected vacuum to 
mitigate dust generated from the Mobius Mill while in use, consistent with the warning in 
the User Guide; 
 

41. Both machines were situated in Room 175 (the “Pre-Roll Room”), a smaller, fully 
enclosed room within the larger Room 174 (the “Flower Production Room”). The Pre-
Roll Room contained multiple workstations and other industrial equipment used by 
workers to process raw Marijuana flower as well as the Mobius Mill and Rocketbox;  
 

42. The Commission interviewed Trulieve employees regarding of use of the Mobius Mill 
and Rocketbox for processing Marijuana, and the conditions present in the Pre-Roll 
Room while operating those machines;  
 

43. When hired, all new Trulieve employees received an Employee Handbook, containing 
“policies and procedures related to [an employee’s] employment” under which the 
Guiding Principles required employees to “comply with all laws and rules governing 
[Trulieve’s] business and workplace”; 
 

44. All Trulieve employees underwent orientation and training at Trulieve’s facility in South 
Hadley, Massachusetts, which took place over the course of one or two days and included 
an hour-long presentation on employee health and safety. The orientation covered 
multiple topics, including respiratory protection and the use of PPE; 
 

45. According to PPE forms filled out by Trulieve employees during orientation, Trulieve 
provided employees with coveralls, crocs, and hair/beard nets; 
 

46. During orientation, employees received and signed Trulieve’s Employee Good 
Manufacturing Practices Signoff Form (the “GMP Form”); 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7F9EC46-EA52-4590-97C2-C1F9254C58F4



 
 

 
7 

47. Section 3.2 of the GMP Form provided, “Employees experiencing persistent sneezing, 
coughing or a runny nose that causes discharge from the eyes, nose or mouth may not 
work with exposed product, equipment, utensils, linens, single use and single service 
articles”; 
 

48. On or around May 3, 2021, Lorna McMurrey (“McMurrey”), accepted a full-time 
position as Supply Chain Cycle Counter for Trulieve; 
 

49. The key duties and responsibilities of a Supply Chain Cycle Counter were to generate 
daily System, Applications, and Products in Data Processing (SAP) reports for raw 
materials, packaging materials, finished goods, and non-conforming materials. 
Additionally, Supply Chain Cycle Counters adjusted supply chain inventories after 
identifying discrepancies;  
 

50. On May 20, 2021, McMurrey attended Trulieve’s orientation and training, received 
Trulieve’s Employee Handbook, and signed the GMP Form; 
 

51. In early August 2021, Trulieve transferred McMurrey from being a Supply Chain Cycle 
Counter to a Production Cycle Counter; 
 

52. McMurrey did not report any medical emergency to Trulieve while working as a Supply 
Chain Cycle Counter at Trulieve;   
 

53. Sometime during August 2021–October 2021, Trulieve informally transferred McMurrey 
again—this time to work as a Flower Production Technician, a position that required 
direct contact with Marijuana flower while being processed into finished products for 
consumption;  
 

54. Trulieve officially transferred McMurrey to the position of Flower Production Technician 
on October 19, 2021; 
 

55. Trulieve did not produce records of informal assignments or trainings of workers after 
assignment; 
 

56. Records provided by Trulieve for McMurrey’s personnel file did not include any training 
records for the position of Supply Chain Cycle Counter, Production Cycle Counter, or 
Flower Production Technician. However, video records from Trulieve appear to indicate 
that McMurrey received on-the-job training; 
 

57. The key duties and responsibilities of a Flower Production Technician included operating 
Marijuana processing equipment such as the Mobius Mill and Rocketbox, participating in 
packing and assembling Marijuana flower into 3.5 g jars, filling pre-rolls with ground 
Marijuana, and preparing processed Marijuana in accordance with work instructions and 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7F9EC46-EA52-4590-97C2-C1F9254C58F4



 
 

 
8 

procedures. Physical requirements specifically include the requirement that employees 
“be able to handle organic matter daily, able to wear PPE as appropriate…”; 
 

58. Because Trulieve did not evaluate Marijuana dust as an allergen requiring a respirator, 
McMurrey did not undergo a medical evaluation or fitness testing, or training on proper 
use of respiratory equipment prior to becoming a Flower Production Technician. 
Furthermore, Trulieve did not provide any records indicating that McMurrey requested to 
undergo a medical evaluation or fitness testing for respiratory equipment;  
 

59. On October 6, 2021, Commission investigators conducted an unannounced inspection of 
the Holyoke facility after receiving a complaint that alleged workplace safety issues in 
the cultivation areas of the Holyoke facility. Commission investigators learned that 
Trulieve had received notice from the Occupational Safety and Health Administration 
(OSHA) of the same on September 28, 2021 and that Trulieve’s EH&S Manager (the 
“safety manager”) had responded to OSHA on October 4, 2021; 
 

60. On October 15, 2021, the Investigations and Enforcement department (the “department”) 
issued Trulieve a Notice of Deficiency citing six violations of the Commission’s 
regulations; 
 

61. On October 29, 2021, Trulieve submitted a Plan of Correction, which was accepted by 
the department on November 5, 2021; 
 

62. On November 9, 2021, McMurrey experienced a medical event requiring emergency 
services while working in Trulieve’s Pre-Roll Room and was taken to the Holyoke 
Hospital; 
 

63. The Commission’s review of Trulieve’s security footage from November 9, 2021, 
showed McMurrey starting work at or around 7:45 AM. Throughout the morning, 
McMurrey worked in the Flower Production Room and Pre-Roll Room, receiving what 
appeared to be instruction and demonstration from the Production Manager. While 
assisting with cleaning the Rocketbox and with the Mobius Mill in operation, McMurrey 
appeared short of breath. McMurrey eventually went to the employee breakroom where 
she was assisted by the Production Manager and another co-worker. Paramedics arrived 
at or around 9:40 AM, administered oxygen to McMurrey, and escorted her out of the 
Holyoke facility; 
 

64. Trulieve sent an incident report to the Commission regarding McMurrey’s medical 
emergency the same day. According to Trulieve’s incident report, the safety manager was 
to “follow-up on the status of the employees” and “Personal health issue. No Hazard 
mitigation [could] be noted” at the time of the incident; 
 

65. In a separate email, Trulieve’s Compliance Manager, stated that leading “up to the 
incident, flower production 174 employees [were] dealing with raw, dried, flower 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7F9EC46-EA52-4590-97C2-C1F9254C58F4



 
 

 
9 

products…grinding flower and packing pre-roll production also occurs in the space. No 
respirator was being warn [sic]. [McMurrey] was adhering to developed COVID 
protocols that require all employees to wear a face covering while inside the facility.”; 
 

66. Because Trulieve did not evaluate Marijuana dust as an allergen requiring a respirator, it 
did not issue, require, or enforce the use of respirators by Flower Production Technicians, 
including McMurrey, as respiratory protection while the machines were in operation. 
However, workers wore blue surgical masks made available by Trulieve or face 
coverings brought from home while working consistent with its Coronavirus 2019 
protocols; 

 
67. After this incident, Trulieve did not provide any documentation indicating that the safety 

manager followed-up with McMurrey. Trulieve did not reassess hazards or identify any 
hazard mitigation having assessed McMurrey’s medical emergency as a personal health 
issue; 
 

68. McMurrey returned to work two days after she was transported to the Holyoke Hospital; 
 

69. The Commission interviewed Trulieve employees regarding their observations of 
McMurrey when she returned to work; 
 

70. Trulieve did not offer McMurrey a different position at the company nor did McMurrey 
request a change in position. McMurrey continued to work with ground Marijuana in the 
Flower Production and Pre-Roll Room; 
 

71. On January 4, 2022, McMurrey had a second medical emergency while working at the 
Holyoke facility; 
 

72. The Commission’s review of Trulieve’s security footage from January 4, 2022, showed 
McMurrey arriving at work on or around 4:55 AM. In the Flower Production Room, 
McMurrey weighed and filled pre-rolls with what appeared to be kief (i.e., Marijuana 
dust) and white jars with Marijuana at her workstation. McMurrey also assisted with 
sorting and putting white jars, presumably filled with Marijuana, into cardboard boxes 
after processing through the labeling machine. Throughout the day, McMurrey used her 
inhaler and appeared visibly short of breath several times. At one point, McMurrey left 
the Flower Production Room and returned with a white facemask obtained from her 
locker. Before going back Flower Production Room, McMurrey appeared to speak with a 
supervisor. Minutes after McMurrey re-entered the Flower Production Room she began 
moving around visibly in distress; 
 

73. At 12:45 PM, security footage shows the Production Manager on the phone presumably 
calling for emergency services while other co-workers assisted McMurrey. At 
approximately 12:55 PM, McMurrey appeared to lose consciousness and was helped to 
the ground. The Production Manager and two other co-workers checked her pulse and 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7F9EC46-EA52-4590-97C2-C1F9254C58F4



 
 

 
10 

started providing chest compressions. Emergency personnel arrived at 12:58 PM, applied 
an Automated External Defibrillator (AED) and took over chest compressions. At or 
around 1:20 PM, McMurrey was taken from the from the Holyoke facility and 
transported to Baystate Medical Center; 
 

74. On January 5, 2022, Trulieve submitted an incident report to the Commission describing 
the events of the previous day between 12:45 PM–1:30 PM; 
 

75. Like the incident report submitted on November 9, 2021, Trulieve stated that “no hazard 
mitigation [could] be noted at this time” again assessing the medical emergency as a 
“personal health issue”; 
 

76. On January 7, 2022, McMurrey died. According to the National Institute for 
Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) Fatality Assessment and Control Evaluation 
(FACE), a medical examiner determined that McMurrey died due to respiratory arrest 
which led to cardiac arrest and brain death; 
 

77. Following McMurrey’s death, Trulieve offered grief counseling to workers, held “tool 
talks”, and eventually implemented policies and procedures for operations in the Pre-Roll 
Room, such as closing the doors to the Pre-Roll Room and not allowing workers to enter 
while the Mobius Mill and Rocketbox operated. Trulieve also purchased a new shop 
vacuum on or around January 31, 2022, and moved the Mobius Mill underneath the Pre-
Roll Room air vent after a suggestion from OSHA; 
 

78. On or around February 2, 2023, Trulieve implemented a new process for monitoring 
safety actions by using the web-based program “SafeSite” to conduct its safety audits; 
 

79. On June 6, 2023, Trulieve notified the Commission that it would be temporarily closing 
its operations and intended to discontinue all operations in Massachusetts by December 
31, 2023; 
 

80. On September 5, 2023, Trulieve notified the Commission that it intended to forfeit all 
licenses except for its adult-use Marijuana Retail licenses in Holyoke and Worcester—
License nos. MR283110 and MR282049; 
 

81. As of the date of this Order, Trulieve has surrendered all its licenses in the 
Commonwealth; 

     
Applicable Law 

 
82. An MTC shall Process Marijuana in a safe and sanitary manner. 935 CMR 501.105(3)(a); 

 
83. An MTC shall Process the leaves and the flowers of the female Marijuana plant only, 

which shall be free of contamination by mold, rot, other fungus, pests, and bacterial 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7F9EC46-EA52-4590-97C2-C1F9254C58F4



 
 

 
11 

diseases satisfying the sanitation requirements in 105 CMR 500.000: Good 
Manufacturing Practices for Food, and if applicable, 105 CMR 590.000: State Sanitary 
Code Chapter X: Minimum Sanitation Standards for Food Establishments. 935 CMR 
501.105(3)(a)3.; 
 

84. Process or Processing means to harvest, dry, cure, trim and separate parts of the Cannabis 
or Marijuana plant by manual or mechanical means, except it shall not include 
Manufacture as defined in 935 CMR 501.002: Manufacture. 935 CMR 501.002; 
 

85. Every MTC shall have and follow a set of detailed written operating procedures. See 935 
CMR 501.105(1);  
 

86. Operating procedures shall include “policies and procedures to promote workplace safety 
consistent with the standards set forth under Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, 
29 U.S.C. § 651, et seq., including the general duty clause whereby each employer: 1. 
Shall furnish to each of its employees employment and a place of employment which are 
free from recognized hazards that are causing or are likely to cause death or serious 
physical harm to its employees; 2. Shall comply with occupational safety and health 
standards promulgated under 29 U.S.C. § 651, et seq….” 935 CMR 501.105(1)(r)1. and 
2.; 
 

87. In addition to the general operational requirements and security requirements, MTCs 
shall comply with additional operational requirements including written policies and 
procedures for the production and distribution of Marijuana, which shall include, but not 
be limited to, policies and procedures for ensuring safety in all processing activities and 
the related uses of extraction equipment in compliance with the standards set forth in 527 
CMR 1.00: Massachusetts Comprehensive Fire Code. See 935 CMR 501.130(5)(g); 
 

88. MTCs shall maintain records of compliance with all Agent regulatory training 
requirements. Such records shall be maintained for four years and MTCs shall make such 
records available for inspection on request. See 935 CMR 501.105(2)(a)5.; 
 

89. Acceptance of a provisional or final license constitutes an agreement by the MTC that it 
will adhere to the practices, policies, and procedures that are described in its application 
materials, as well as all relevant laws, regulations, and any conditions imposed by the 
Commission as part of licensure. 935 CMR 501.103(2)(d); 

 
Commission Findings 

 
90. The Commission, through its Acting Executive Director, and Respondent have come to 

mutual agreement and understanding, and jointly propose to the Commission a resolution 
of the alleged violations in lieu of proceeding with an administrative hearing to determine 
the merits of such allegations. The terms and conditions of this Order are expressly 
subject to ratification by the full Commission. Pursuant to G.L. c. 10, § 76, three 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7F9EC46-EA52-4590-97C2-C1F9254C58F4



 
 

 
12 

Commissioners shall constitute a quorum and the affirmative vote of three 
Commissioners shall be required for ratification of this Order; 
 

91. Respondent neither admits nor denies the findings set forth in Paragraphs 92 through 95 
inclusive of all subparagraphs; 

 
92. Respondent failed to comply with the following workplace safety operating procedures in 

violation of 935 CMR 501.105(1)(r)1. and 2.: 
a. Respondent’s Personal Protection SOP required that PPE appropriately protect 

workers against environmental hazards, be tailored to the method of exposure, 
and that Trulieve would continually assess hazards, select appropriate PPE, train 
employees on the use of that PPE, maintain written verification of that training, 
and ensure PPE was used; 

b. Respondent did not provide records that it trained workers on the proper use of 
masks, maintain records of PPE training, or enforce mask use relative to operating 
the Mobius Mill or the Rocketbox; 

c. Respondent did not continually assess hazards in the Flower Production and Pre-
Roll Rooms following workplace safety incidents; 

d. Respondent’s Respiratory Protection SOP required identification of work areas or 
tasks where workers would need respirators and continual monitoring of work 
areas to ensure no new hazards emerged. Any workers exposed to respiratory 
hazards were required to undergo medical evaluation, fitness testing, and to 
receive proper use of respiratory equipment. The Respiratory Protection SOP also 
required Trulieve to “revise and update the hazard assessment as needed (i.e., any 
time work process changes may potentially affect exposure)” or “if an employee 
feels that respiratory protection is needed during a particular activity”; 

e. While Respondent identified dust as a potential hazard in its Job Safety Analyses 
for Processing activities in the Pre-Roll Room, Respondent did not evaluate 
Marijuana dust as an allergen requiring a respirator, as such, did not provide 
production workers with respirators, require production workers to undergo 
medical evaluation, fitness training, or train workers on the proper use of 
respiratory equipment; 

f. Respondent did not reassess hazards in the Pre-Roll Room or identify the need for 
additional PPE to protect against hazards after McMurrey experienced a medical 
emergency while working in the Pre-Roll Room and despite observations from 
production employees that the Mobius Mill and Rocketbox produced and 
generated Marijuana dust into the air throughout the day when in use and that all 
surfaces, including the floor, would be covered in kief; 

g. Respondent did not revise and update its hazard assessments for Processing 
activities following workplace safety incidents; 

h. Respondent’s Industrial Hygiene Survey SOP required that Trulieve conduct a 
walking tour and also set initial and ongoing procedures for monitoring workplace 
safety conditions; 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7F9EC46-EA52-4590-97C2-C1F9254C58F4



 
 

 
13 

i. Respondent did not produce records that it conducted Safety Audits from July 17, 
2021 through January 2023; 

j. Respondent’s Industrial Hygiene Monitoring SOP established initial and ongoing 
procedures for monitoring workplace safety conditions that may “affect adversely 
the health, safety, and well-being of employees” and required periodic monitoring 
of workplace safety that included “selective monitoring of high-risk workers”; 

k. Respondent did not monitor workplace safety conditions in the Flower Production 
and Pre-Roll Rooms at the Holyoke facility after McMurrey’s first workplace 
emergency or monitor McMurrey as a high-risk worker; 

 
93. Respondent failed to maintain complete personnel records demonstrating compliance 

with all training requirements for its Agents at the Holyoke facility in violation of 935 
CMR 501.105(2)(a)5.: 

a. Respondent did not maintain records of any compliance with training 
requirements for thirty-five (35) Agents at the Holyoke facility; 

b. Respondent did not maintain records of compliance with minimum training 
requirements (e.g., Responsible Vendor Training) for ninety-six (96) Agents at 
the Holyoke facility; 

 
94. Throughout 2021 and into 2022, Respondent failed to Process Marijuana in a safe and 

sanitary manner in violation of 935 CMR 501.105(3)(a): 
a. Respondent operated the Mobius Mill and Rocketbox, machines that generate 

substantial amounts of Marijuana dust, in a small, fully enclosed room filled with 
production equipment and near multiple agents without policies or adequate PPE 
to protect workers from potential hazards; 

b. While workers wore blue surgical masks due to COVID-19, Respondent did not 
implement and enforce its own safety recommendations and requirements from 
Job Safety Analyses for Processing activities including, but not limited to, PPE; 

c. Respondent did not establish workplace safety SOPs in response to hazards 
identified in its Job Safety Analyses related to Processing activities; 

d. Respondent did not reassess Processing activities in the Pre-Roll Room for 
hazards or potential mitigation after McMurrey was taken to the hospital on 
November 9, 2021 for breathing complications while working in the Pre-Roll 
Room; 

e. Respondent did not reassess Processing activities in the Pre-Roll and Flower 
Production Room for hazards after McMurrey returned to work, even though she 
discussed her medical experience with other staff, had continued trouble 
breathing, was constantly coughing, and took frequent breaks to use an inhaler; 

f. Respondent did not offer McMurrey a different position at the Holyoke facility 
after she had returned to work; 

g. Respondent did not evaluate Marijuana dust generated from its Processing 
activities for its potential as an allergen, or take sufficient precautions to protect 
workers exposed to Marijuana dust; 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7F9EC46-EA52-4590-97C2-C1F9254C58F4



 
 

 
14 

95. During May 24, 2021–November 25, 2022, Respondent failed to implement operating 
procedures to ensure safety during the Processing of Marijuana in violation of 935 CMR 
501.130(5)(g): 

a. As part of Respondent’s Processing activities, it used the Mobius Mill to grind 
unprocessed Marijuana to fill pre-rolls throughout 2021 and 2022; 

b. Respondent did not have an SOP for the Mobius Mill until November 25, 2022; 
 

Stipulated Remedy 
 

96. In lieu of proceeding with an administrative hearing and subsequent proceedings, 
Respondent agrees to the stipulated remedies and terms set forth in Paragraphs 97 
through 117, inclusive of all subparagraphs; 
 

97. Respondent agrees to pay a monetary fine in the amount of three-hundred fifty thousand 
dollars ($350,000.00) made payable by check or money order, payable to the order of the 
Cannabis Control Commission Marijuana Regulation Fund; 

 
98. Payment shall be postmarked thirty (30) calendar days from the date this Order is ratified 

by Commission vote and be mailed to the following address:  
a. Via USPS: 

Cannabis Control Commission 
PO Box 412144 
Boston, MA 02241-2144 

 
b. Via Courier/Overnight: 

Bank of America Lockbox Services 
Cannabis Control Commission 412144 
MA5-527-02-07 
2 Morrissey Boulevard  
Dorchester, MA 02125 
 

99. Respondent shall provide to the Commission, on or before July 31, 2024, copies of any 
and all training and research materials identified on Schedule A hereto, to be used solely 
for the purposes provided for in Paragraph 100; 
 

100. The Commission may use any of the documents and information identified in Schedule 
A for the benefit of the public health, safety, or welfare of the Commonwealth including, 
but not limited to, use in Commission research, publications, and public awareness 
campaigns, provided, however, that the Commission shall not identify or associate such 
materials with Respondent nor use any of Respondent’s marks in connection with the 
distribution of such materials. Such materials are being provided “as-is”, without any 
representation or warranty regarding the accurateness thereof or fitness for use for any 
particular purpose, and the Commission acknowledges that no representations or 
warranties, whether express or implied, are made with respect to such materials. The 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7F9EC46-EA52-4590-97C2-C1F9254C58F4



 
 

 
15 

parties agree that such materials are voluntarily provided to the Commission with the 
intent to be kept confidential for internal use by the Commission in developing 
governmental policy; 
 

101. This Order is in no way intended to transfer copyright ownership of the materials 
described in Schedule A and shall in no way limit Respondent’s rights or use of such 
materials; 
 

102. This Order may be admissible as evidence in any future hearing before the Commission 
or used in connection with any future licensure or administrative actions by the 
Commission; 
 

103. Any issues relating to the underlying complaint and investigation that formed the basis 
for this Order against Respondent (and any defenses that Respondent may have to such 
complaint or investigation) shall not be at issue in a proceeding against Respondent for 
failing to comply with the terms of this Order; 

 
104. Respondent agrees that the Commission may consider this Order and the facts and 

circumstances described therein in connection with review of an application for licensure, 
renewal of licensure, or suitability review. Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon 
Respondent’s full satisfaction of the monetary fine as set forth in Paragraph 97 and the 
other conditions herein, Respondent’s License nos. RMD1365, RMD1735, RMD1736, 
MR282981, MR283110, MR282049, MC281999, MP281624, or MC282412 shall be 
deemed to have been relinquished in good standing and Respondent shall not be subject 
to a Mandatory Disqualification or a Presumptive Negative Suitability Determination as a 
result of the violations contained in this Order. Such licenses were voluntarily 
relinquished by Respondent for reasons unrelated to this Order, and such relinquishment 
is not, and shall not be considered to be, a condition of this Order;  

 
105. Respondent acknowledges advisement of hearing rights and process of the proceedings 

and wishes to resolve all issues which were the subject of the investigation or in any way 
related to the investigation by entering into this Order; 
 

106. If approved by the Commission and upon execution of all parties, this Order shall have 
the same force and effect as an order entered after formal hearing pursuant to 935 CMR 
501.500(12), except that it may not be appealed.  Failure to comply with the terms of this 
Order, including but not limited to failure to make a timely payment in accordance with 
Paragraph 98, may constitute the basis for further administrative action against 
Respondent; 

 
107. Respondent acknowledges that the Commission advised Respondent of its opportunity 

to consult with an attorney of its choosing and Respondent represents that it had an 
opportunity to do so prior to signing this Order.  Respondent acknowledges that it has 
been given a reasonable period of time in which to consider the terms of this Order before 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7F9EC46-EA52-4590-97C2-C1F9254C58F4



 
 

 
16 

signing it.  Respondent acknowledges and confirms that it has entered into this Order 
voluntarily and of its own free will, without duress or coercion, and that it is competent to 
enter into this Order.  Respondent acknowledges that it has carefully read and fully 
understands the meaning and intent of this Order; 

 
108. Respondent further understands and knowingly and voluntarily waives the following 

rights: 
a. The right to proceed with the adjudicatory proceeding; 
b. The right to cross-examine witnesses, subpoena witnesses, present evidence and 

testify on Respondent’s own behalf at that hearing; 
c. The right to appeal this Order; 
 

109. Respondent consents to the terms and conditions described herein and agrees to waive 
its right to judicial review of this Order pursuant to G.L. c. 30A, § 14;   

 
110. Upon the satisfaction of the Stipulated Remedies in Paragraphs 100 through 104, the 

Commission, on behalf of itself and its past and present successors, assigns and anyone 
acting or claiming to act on the Commission’s behalf, and each of them, hereby release 
and forever discharge Respondent, its Owners, Persons or Entities Having Direct or 
Indirect Control, and its past and present successors, assigns and anyone acting or 
claiming to act on their behalf, and each of them, from any and all causes of action,  
known or unknown, asserted and not asserted, relating to the operation of License nos. 
RMD1365, RMD1735, RMD1736, MR282981, MR283110, MR282049, MC281999, 
MP281624, or MC282412, whether or not related to the matters described in this Order, 
which may have arisen from, or arisen from conduct occurring from, November 19, 2020 
(the date the Commission issued Respondent its final license for RMD1365) until the 
date of this Order; 
 

111. Upon execution by all parties, this Order shall represent the entire and final agreement 
of the parties. In the event that any provision of this Order is deemed unenforceable by a 
court of competent jurisdiction, such provision shall be severed, and the remainder of this 
Order shall be given full force and effect; 
 

112. This Order shall be binding upon Respondent and shall inure to the benefit of the 
parties to this Order and their respective successors and assignees and shall be construed 
in accordance with and governed by the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts; 

 
113. Upon ratification of this Order by the Commission, this Order shall become a 

permanent part of Respondent’s record and shall be open to public inspection and 
disclosure pursuant to the Commission’s standard policies and procedures or applicable 
law; 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7F9EC46-EA52-4590-97C2-C1F9254C58F4



 
 

 
17 

114. The Commission may reject the terms of this Order or otherwise deny ratification and 
entry of this Order. In such event, the terms of this Order shall be null and void and the 
parties will proceed to hearing; 

 
115. This Order may be executed by e-mail and any signature delivered by either email or 

first-class mail shall be deemed to be as valid as an original signature; 
 

116. All costs and expenses incurred by Respondent to comply with this Order shall be the 
sole responsibility of Respondent and shall not in any way be the obligation of the 
Commission; and 
 

117. For purposes of addressing any future violations of this Order, the Commission 
regulations, 935 CMR 500.000, et seq., and 935 CMR 501.000 et seq. shall include all 
later adopted regulations that are in effect at the time of the subsequent violation.   

 
This Order is subject to ratification by the Commission. Upon ratification, this Order becomes 
binding on the Parties. Failure to comply with the above conditions may result in administrative 
action against Respondent up to and including suspension and/or revocation of licensure or 
registration.  
 
Respondent Life Essence, Inc. d/b/a Trulieve 

 

 

    
Life Essence, Inc. d/b/a Trulieve   Date Signed 

 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts Cannabis Control Commission  

Ratified by Commission vote ( ___ yes, ___ no, ___ abstain) on June ___, 2024.  

 

 

             
Debra Hilton Creek, Acting Executive Director Date Signed 
and Chief People Officer 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7F9EC46-EA52-4590-97C2-C1F9254C58F4

5/29/2024



 
 
 
 

 
 

    
18 

SCHEDULE A 

 

1. Safety Data Sheet: Ground or Powdered Cannabis 
2. Safety Data Sheet: Harvested Cannabis 
3. Safety Data Sheet: Live Cannabis Plants 
4. Safety Bulletin: Visitor Cannabis Allergen Awareness 
5. Safety Bulletin: Cannabis Allergen Awareness 
6. Draft Example SOP for Cannabis Allergens 
7. Draft Example Cannabis Allergen Awareness and CASS Program Training Slides 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7F9EC46-EA52-4590-97C2-C1F9254C58F4



 
 
 
 

 
 

     

 

Memorandum 

 

To:  Acting Chair Concepcion and Commissioners Camargo, Roy, and Stebbins 

Cc:  Debra Hilton-Creek, Acting Executive Director  

Michael Baker, Associate General Counsel  

Steve Laduzinski, Associate General Counsel 

Kate Flanagan, Executive Assistant 

From:  Kristina Gasson, General Counsel 

Date:  June 13, 2024 

Subject: June 2024 Public Meeting - Tri-annual Review of Executive Session Minutes  

– FOR INFORMATION  

 

Summary Recommendation:  As part of the Commission’s tri-annual review process of 

executive session minutes,1 the Legal Department reviewed twenty-nine sets of minutes not 

previously disclosed to the public.  We recommend that these minutes continue to be withheld 

because the purpose of the executive sessions remain in effect.    

October 8, 2020.  The Commission entered executive session under Purpose 7, which 

allows the Commission to comply with, or act under the authority of, any general or 

special law.  In this executive session, the Commission discussed matters subject to the 

Second Amended Protective Order (Protective Order) entered in the matter of United 

States v. Jasiel F. Correia, II & another, United States District Court for the District of 

Massachusetts Criminal Action No. 18-cr-10364-DPW.   

 

Recommendation: Withhold, because the minutes address matters subject to the 

Protective Order, we recommend withholding the minutes.   

 

 

November 19, 2020.  The Commission entered executive session under Purpose 7, which 

is described above, specifically to discuss matters subject to the protective order and that 

involved Nature’s Medicine, Agricultural Healing, and Northeast Alternatives, Inc. 

 

Recommendation: Withhold for the reason stated above.      

 

 

                                                           
1 This process satisfies the Commission’s statutory obligations to review executive session minutes.  G. L. c. 30A, § 

22 (g) (1).   



 

 

 
2 

June 23, 2022 - Present. The Commission entered executive session sixteen times under 

Purpose 9, which allows the board to meet or to confer with a mediator, as defined in 

G.L. c. 233, § 23C and G.L. c. 30A, §21.  The Commission is relying on this purpose to 

develop a governance charter. 

 

Recommendation: Withhold, because the development of a governance charter is still in 

process and there is a continuing basis for withholding these minutes until the 

Commission deliberates and approves the charter at an open session.  

 

Sept 14, 2023 - Present. The Commission entered executive session eleven times under 

Purpose 3, which allowed the Commissioners to discuss strategy with respect to litigation 

if an open meeting may have a detrimental effect on the litigation position of the public 

body and the chair so declared.  

 

Recommendation: Withhold, because there is an ongoing need to protect the litigation 

position of the Commission and discussing the content at an open session would have a 

detrimental effect. Therefore, the Commission should withhold these minutes until the 

Commission’s litigation position is not negatively impacted.  

 

 

 



 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

Cannabis Control Commission 

Job Description 

 

Department:   Finance    Reports to: Director of Budget and Accounting 

Job Title:  Accounting  Manager   FLSA Status: Exempt 

      

I. PURPOSE OF THE JOB 
Under the direction of the Director of Budget and Accounting, the Accounting Manager will contribute to the 
financial management responsibilities of the commission, as well as support the confidential and sensitive tasks 
and projects of the finance department. This position is required to contribute advanced technical accounting 
skills as well as the technological understanding and knowledge necessary to meet the current and future 
responsibilities of the department's duties and the requirements of the State Comptroller's office. The 
accounting manager must exercise independent judgment, be flexible and able to anticipate changes in their 
work roles and within the department and adapt to fulfill the demands of its operations. 

 
II. ESSENTIAL FUNCTIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

 Responsible for general accounting and reconciliations for the commission including day-to day accounting 

functions, working closely with other members of the Finance team, other agency departments, and vendors to 

provide research and resolve purchase order, contract, encumbrance, invoice, or payment discrepancies 

 Applies principles of accounting and ensures procedures are consistent with GAAP, Comptroller and 

Commission policy, as well as internal control policies 

 Responsible for analysis, reporting, and interpretation of accounting information in order to evaluate 

performance against budget, and other matters bearing on the fiscal soundness and operating effectiveness of 
the organization 

 Assists in the analysis of variances between actual expenses to budget  

 Assist in the implementation and maintenance of new budgeting software 

 Prepares and assists with accounting reconciliations for monthly, quarterly and year-end financial information 

 Monitors and updates policies and procedures for the MMARS and internal accounting processes 

 Develops standard and custom queries using the Commonwealth Information Warehouse (CIW) for accurate 

payment, payroll and revenue analysis and reporting needs 

  Responsible for solving problems that arise in accounting and directing their resolution 

 Evaluates internal control procedures, identifies weaknesses in internal controls and recommends 

restructuring/improvements 

 Responsible for overseeing the billing and tracking of budgets for grants 
 Complete monthly reconciliation of bank accounts and resolve discrepancies 

 Responsible for the monthly audit of P-Card transactions and documentation review 

 With excellent analytical skills, you will prepare detailed reports, manage budgets, and provide guidance on 

financial matters 

 Provide training to departments within the commission 

 



 

 

   

III. OTHER DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
 Maintain the highest standards of personal, professional and ethical conduct and support the Commission’s goals 

for a diverse and culturally aware workforce 

 Assist in other finance and administrative duties 

 Participate in ad hoc projects and perform related duties as assigned 

 
V. KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS  

 In-depth knowledge of MMARS and CIW 

 Strong knowledge of Massachusetts state finance law and policy 

 Ability to utilize databases and run queries 

 Strong knowledge of Microsoft Office applications 

 Excellent listening, interpersonal, written and oral communications skills 

 Adept at presenting information in an accurate and concise format 

 Ability to think critically and strategically 

 Organized self-starter and effective collaborator, showing strong interest in systems and process improvement 

 Able to seek opportunities to resolve problems, achieve goals, or otherwise advance the Commission’s mission 

 
VI. EDUCATION AND EXPERIENCE 

 Bachelor’s Degree in accounting, business, finance or similar field required; advance degree preferred 

 Minimum of 4-6 years of related work experience in accounting or finance 

 Experience with and understanding of state financial systems 

 Working knowledge and understanding of Commonwealth fiscal and budget process 

 Working knowledge of accounting principles and internal controls 

 Experience in applying generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), financial accounting theory, practice 

and experience 

 Experience communicating effectively with upper levels of management 

 
 

VI. SALARY RANGE:  $86,520-$108,150 
 
Benefits Package: 
 
The Commission is pleased to offer a comprehensive benefits package to its employees. The specific components 
and eligibility may vary based on position classification, hours worked per week and other variables. Therefore, 
specific benefits for this position may be discussed as part of the interview and offer process. 
 
This position is non-civil service. This position is an exempt position. 
 
The overall benefits available include: paid vacation, sick and personal leave time, health, dental and vision 
insurance through the Commonwealth’s Group Insurance, and optional pre-tax Health Savings Account plans. 
 
In addition, the Commission provides employees the opportunity to elect life insurance, long term disability 
insurance, deferred compensation savings, tuition remission and pre-tax commuter account plans, along with 
other programs. 
 
The Commission employees also participate in the Commonwealth’s State Retirement Plan, which can become a 
defined benefit plan for those that both vest and subsequently retire from State service. Follow this link for 
additional retirement information: http://www.mass.gov/treasury/retirement/state-board- of-retire/. 
 
Commitment to Diversity: 

http://www.mass.gov/treasury/retirement/state-board-of-retire/
http://www.mass.gov/treasury/retirement/state-board-of-retire/


 

 

   

The Commission is committed to building a diverse staff across its entire agency and at all levels. The 
Commission is an equal opportunity/affirmative action employer. 
 
Notice of Required Background Check – Including Tax Compliance: 
 
The Commission requires a background check on all prospective employees as a condition of 
employment. 
 
Candidates should be aware of this requirement but should also know that such background check is not 
initiated until: 
 

1. A candidate is invited to a second or subsequent interview, and 
2. The candidate has signed the Background Check Authorization Form and related releases. 

 
This background check includes a Criminal Offender Record Information (CORI) check, Federal IRS and 
Department of Revenue state tax compliance on all prospective employees as a condition of their employment. 
 
Candidates with advanced degrees and professional licenses may have these credentials verified. 
Individuals other than those references provided by a candidate may be contacted while completing a full 
background and qualification check. 
 
Those candidates invited to interview will be contacted by the Commission. Unfortunately, due to the anticipated 
high volume of applicants for this vacancy, we are unable to provide status updates to specific individuals. 
 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    1 

 

 

Memorandum 
 
To:   Commissioners  

Cc:  Debra Hilton-Creek, Acting Executive Director 

From:   Matt Giancola, Director of Government Affairs and Policy  

Date:   June 13, 2024 

Subject:  June 2024 Government Affairs Update 
 
  

Municipal Update            

 

Municipal Law Unit  
 
The Attorney General’s Municipal Law Unit (MLU) issued two marijuana-related decisions this past 

month:  
 

Town of Winchendon: The MLU made comments regarding Marijuana-related text in the Town’s Zoning 

bylaws putting the Town on notice of conflicts with Commission regulation including the method of 

measuring buffer zones, definitions, and references to the Department of Public Health. The MLU also 

recommended the town revisit their method of overturning their prohibition on Social Consumption 

establishments due to the recent passage of Chapter 180 of the Acts of 2022 which allows for a ballot vote 

or a bylaw adoption. 

Town of Douglas: The MLU denied approval of a general bylaw because the town had already regulated 

land use through a zoning bylaw. The MLU relied on the Valley Green Grow, Inc. v. Town of Charlton 

case, where the court ruled that a town cannot ban adult-use marijuana through a general bylaw if it has 

already regulated it through zoning bylaws. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://massago.hylandcloud.com/203PublicAccess/FullText_MLU_OML.aspx?CustomQueryID=105&selSearchYear=&startDate=04%2F24%2F2024&endDate=05%2F29%2F2024&chkSearchFullText=on&txtSearch=cannabis+or+marijuana+or+94G&OBKey__151_1=&OBtn_Yes=Search


Via Microsoft Teams

Monthly Public Meeting

Cannabis Control 
Commission

June 13, 2024 at 10:00 a.m.



1. Call to Order

2. Commissioners’ Comments & Updates

3. Minutes

4. Acting Executive Director and Commission Staff Report

5. Executive Session

5. Staff Recommendations on Changes of Ownership

6. Staff Recommendations on Renewal Licenses

7. Staff Recommendations on Provisional Licenses

8. Staff Recommendations on Final Licenses

9. Enforcement Actions

10. Commission Discussion and Votes

11. New Business Not Anticipated at the Time of Posting

12. Next Meeting Date

13. Adjournment

Agenda



• Investigations and Enforcement Bulletins

Acting Executive Director Report



Meeting Materials Available at masscannabiscontrol.com/documents

Acting Executive Director Report: Recruitment Update
POSITION TEAM STATUS

Associate General Counsel Legal Phone screens in progress.
Chief of Investigation & 
Enforcement 

I & E Interviewing – Last interview 
possibly Friday, then offer.

Communications Manager Comms Internal Promotion – Manager 
decision pending.

Communication Specialist Comms Resumes in Review
Constituent Services CS Internal – Interviews completed; 

Manager decision pending.
Deputy GC Legal Posted – Resumes Incoming.
Desktop Support Analyst IT Interviewing – 2nd interview 

scheduled w/strong candidate.
Developer/Power Platform 
Administrator

IT Resumes in Review

Digital Media Specialist Digital Phone screens in progress.

Enforcement Counsel I & E Internal - Offer and Acceptance

Executive Assistant Exec. Offices Resumes in Review



Meeting Materials Available at masscannabiscontrol.com/documents

Acting Executive Director Report: Recruitment Update, ctd.
POSITION TEAM STATUS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
IN PROGRESS

Exec. Offices Commission’s Sub-Committee 
convenes on 6/14/2024

Fiscal Specialist Finance Resumes in Review

General Counsel Legal Posted this week.

Hearing Officer Legal/I & E Phone Screens Completed –
Manager review in progress.

HR Manager HR Repost/Resumes in Review

Investigators (x2) I & E Interviewing

Manager, Community Outreach EPCO Internal Promotion - Offer Made

Press Secretary Comms Interviews Scheduled for Next 
Week

Project Coordinator Research Interviews Scheduled

Project Manager/Procurement Fiscal Resumes in Review



• 11 applications awaiting first review

• 20 applications awaiting supplemental review

• 4 applications for Provisional License consideration

• 11 licensees for Final License consideration

• 87,335 certified active patients

Highlights from Licensing Data



The totals below are number of approvals by stage.

Licensing Applications | June 13, 2024

Provisionally approved means approved by the Commission but has not submitted license 
fee payment yet – provisional license has not started 

Type #
Pre-Certified/Delivery Endorsed Microbusiness 206
Provisionally Approved 141
Provisional License 504
Final License 50
Commence Operations 666
Total 1,567

* Note: This represents the 
percent increase since June 
2023.

+ 22.4%



Licensing Applications | June 13, 2024
Type Pending 

Application
Pre-Certified 
Endorsement

Initial 
License 
Declined

Provisionally 
Approved

Provisional 
License

Final 
License

Commence 
Operation Total

Craft Marijuana Cooperative 2 N/A 0 0 4 0 0 6

Marijuana Courier License 11 N/A 0 1 12 1 10 35

Marijuana Courier Pre-Certification 14 103 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A 117

Independent Testing Laboratory 1 N/A 0 2 2 0 16 21

Marijuana Cultivator 43 N/A 2 46 191 24 134 440

Marijuana Delivery Operator License 10 N/A 0 0 21 1 12 44

Marijuana Delivery Operator Pre-Certification 18 101 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A 119

Marijuana Microbusiness 6 N/A 0 4 12 2 5 29

Marijuana Product Manufacturer 29 N/A 1 47 136 14 116 343

Marijuana Research Facility 5 N/A 0 1 1 0 0 7

Marijuana Retailer 50 N/A 2 38 121 7 364 582

Marijuana Transporter with Other Existing ME License 5 N/A 0 2 5 0 3 15

Microbusiness Delivery Endorsement 1 3 0 0 0 1 1 6

Third Party Transporter 10 N/A 0 0 0 0 5 15

Standards Laboratory 0 N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 205 207 5 141 505 50 666 1,779



Non-Active Licenses By Stage | June 13, 2024
Type Provisional License Final License Commence 

Operation Total

Craft Marijuana Cooperative 3 0 0 3

Marijuana Courier License 7 1 3 11

Independent Testing Laboratory 2 0 0 2

Marijuana Cultivator 89 2 10 101

Marijuana Delivery Operator License 13 0 2 15

Marijuana Microbusiness 6 0 1 7

Marijuana Product Manufacturer 60 1 9 70

Marijuana Research Facility 0 0 0 0

Marijuana Retailer 39 0 9 48

Marijuana Transporter with Other Existing ME License 0 0 0 0

Microbusiness Delivery Endorsement 0 0 0 0

Third Party Transporter 0 0 0 0

Standards Laboratory 0 0 0 0

Total 219 4 34 257



The Commission is in Executive 
Session and will return



Staff Recommendations on 
Licensure



Staff Recommendations: Changes of Ownership

1. Baked Beans Farm, LLC
2. Hennep, Inc.



Meeting Materials Available at masscannabiscontrol.com/documents

Staff Recommendations: Renewals

1. Blossom Flower, LLC (#MPR244150) 
2. Blossom Flower, LLC (#MXR126671)
3. BLUE SKY ORGANICS LLC (#MDR272571)
4. Green Gold Group Inc (#MCR140754) 
5. Green Gold Group, INC (#MRR206833) 
6. Ocean Breeze Cultivators LLC (#MRR206836) 



1. GreenSoul Organics, Inc. (#MCN283834), Marijuana Cultivator, Tier 6 / Indoor
2. GreenSoul Organics, Inc. (#MPN282257), Marijuana Product Manufacturer
3. Native Sun Wellness, Inc. (#RMDA4128), Medical Marijuana Treatment Center
4. Surf’s Up Cannabis Ventures, LLC (#MRN285057)

Staff Recommendations: Provisional Licenses



Staff Recommendations: Final Licenses
1. Blossom Flower, LLC (#MD1271), Marijuana Delivery Operator
2. Blossom Flower, LLC (#MP282139), Marijuana Product Manufacturer
3. Blossom Flower, LLC (#MX281418), Marijuana Existing Licensee Transporter
4. Blue Sky Organics, LLC (#MD1264), Marijuana Delivery Operator
5. CommCan, Inc. – Mansfield (#MTC1686), Medical Marijuana Treatment Center
6. CommCan, Inc. (#MR284925), Marijuana Retailer
7. Ember Gardens Cape Cod, LLC (#MR284542), Marijuana Retailer
8. Euphorium, LLC (#MC283845), Marijuana Cultivator, Tier 1 / Indoor
9. Euphorium, LLC (#MP282263), Marijuana Product Manufacturer
10. Euphorium, LLC (#MR284560), Marijuana Retailer
11. JMK Gardening, LLC (#MR284654). Marijuana Retailer
12. Mint Retail Facilities, LLC (#MR283295), Marijuana Retailer
13. Ocean Breeze Cultivators, LLC (#MR283656), Marijuana Retailer
14. Riverside Agriculture, LLC (#MR28327), Marijuana Retailer
15. Silver Therapeutics, Inc. (#MR283074), Marijuana Retailer



Enforcement Actions
1. Life Essence, Inc. d/b/a Trulieve



The Commission is in recess 
until



Commission Discussion & Votes



1. Executive Director Search Update 

2. CCC Key Priorities and Operational Changes 

3. Federal Public Comment Period for Rescheduling 

4. Island Transportation Discussion 

5. Tri-Annual Review of Executive Session Minutes 

6. Job Description: Accounting Manager

Commission Discussion & Votes



Meeting Materials Available at masscannabiscontrol.com/documents

Executive Director Search Update
MAY 8th thru JUNE 15th

MAY 22nd

MAY 23rd

MAY 24th to JUNE 15th

Number of Applicants as of Launch

Launched
2 Weeks into the “Accepting Applications” Phase
CLOSING JUNE 15th

OML Compliance/Guidance Document Shared with Sub-Committee

Voting Members of Sub-Committee Approved by Commission

Sub-Committee Convenes JUNE 14th

142/162 (as of 6/12)
Screening of Applicants will most likely begin during this timeframe.

Position Closes on June 15th

JUNE 16th to JUNE 30th

Commission’s Sub-Committee Convenes
June 14, 2024

Screening of Applicants Begins
Selection of Candidates to be Interviewed
Screening May Continue at the Commission’s Discretion for 
Applications Received after the Deadline
Sub-Committee makes recommendations to Voting members as to 
which candidates are moved forward for interviews.
Sub-Committee Chair informs full Commission.



Meeting Materials Available at masscannabiscontrol.com/documents

Executive Director Search Update

JULY 1 to JULY 13th Scheduling of 1st Round Interviews
Most likely will be in-state candidates; later in the 
process for those out-of-state candidates of interest 
to the Commission.  1st round interviews could 
possibly extend into August for out-of-state 
candidates.

JULY 14th to JULY 31st First Round Interviews are Conducted
Scheduling of 2nd Round Interviews

AUGUST 1st to AUGUST 15th 2nd Round Interviews are Conducted
Scheduling of Final Round
2nd round interviews could possibly extend into 
September for out-of-state candidates.



Meeting Materials Available at masscannabiscontrol.com/documents

Executive Director Search Update

AUGUST 22nd to SEPTEMBER 15th Final Round of Interviews Conducted
Candidates to Interview at Public Meeting
 Ideally/Possibly at the 1st September PM

SEPTEMBER 16th to 30th

ANNOUNCEMENT OF COMMISSION’S 
SELECTION

OFFER MADE TO SELECTED CANDIDATE 
and START DATE DETERMINED

Commissioner’s Choose New ED

Potential announcement of offer and acceptance at 
the 2nd September PM

AT THE DISCRETION OF THE COMMISSION



 Motion to direct Acting Executive Director (AED) Debbie Hilton-Creek to prioritize 
her Chief People Officer (CPO) hiring and Human Resources duties until a new Executive 
Director (ED) is hired and onboarded and to delegate the following responsibilities to the 
Commission’s Chiefs to effectuate that purpose:
 the General Counsel (GC) to oversee all legal issues affecting the Commission 
including, but not limited to, labor and employment; contracts and procurement; litigation and 
claims; public records; open meeting law; ethics and the promulgation of regulations;
 the Chief of Investigations and Enforcement (CIE) to oversee all matters related to 
investigations/compliance, enforcement/enforcement actions, and licensing matters otherwise 
delegated to the Executive Director;
 the Chief Financial and Accounting Officer (CFAO) to oversee and lead in budget 
preparation, spend planning, procurements, funding, books of account and accounting records;
 the Chief Technology and Innovation Officer (CTIO) to oversee all information 
technology, cybersecurity, and internal control planning;
 the Chief Research Officer (CRO) to oversee all research activities mandated by 
statute, consistent with the overall goal to support the work of the Commission and be a leading 
cannabis research resource center;
 the Chief Communications Officer (CCO) to oversee all activities regarding 
traditional communications, digital and creative services, government affairs, and equity 
programming and community outreach. 
 In the event of an absence of a Chief, the Directors of the respective departments will 
have oversight of their individual business units and activities. 

CCC Key Priorities and Operational Changes  



Matt Giancola, 
Director of Government Affairs and Policy

Federal Public Comment Period 
for Rescheduling of Marijuana



• October 2022 – President Biden initiates a review of federal cannabis policy, 
focusing on evaluating its scheduling status under the Controlled Substances Act.

• August 29, 2023 – Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) 
recommended to the DEA the rescheduling of marijuana from Schedule I to 
Schedule III under the CSA, acknowledging its potential medical use and lower 
abuse potential. 

• September 13, 2023 – The Congressional Research Service released a document to 
Congress outlining potential implications of rescheduling marijuana to Schedule 
III.

• May 16, 2024 – DEA announced its intention to reclassify marijuana as a Schedule 
III drug, recognizing its medical use and lower abuse potential.

• May 21, 2024 – DEA released their proposed rule in the Federal Register calling 
for public comments.

• July 22, 2024 – Public Comments Due

Timeline of Federal Public Comment 
Period for Rescheduling of Marijuana



• Summary of the Rule: 
The Department of Justice proposes reclassifying marijuana from Schedule I to 
Schedule III of the Controlled Substances Act, aligning with the Department of Health 
and Human Services view on its medical use and abuse potential.

• The public is invited to submit comments by July 22, 2024 to the Department of 
Justice through the Federal eRulemaking Portal at https://www.regulations.gov or 
by mail.

• Once comments are submitted, the DOJ is required to respond to every unique, 
fact-based comment.

• All comments and responses by the DOJ are public record and available for 
inspection online.

• Comments help influence policy decisions and impact regulatory outcomes.

Federal Public Comment Period for 
Rescheduling of Marijuana 

https://www.regulations.gov/


4. Island Transportation Discussion

5. Tri-Annual Review of Executive Session Minutes 

6. Job Description: Accounting Manager

Commission Discussion & Votes



Upcoming Meetings & 
Adjournment



Meeting Materials Available at masscannabiscontrol.com/documents

Upcoming Meetings and Important Dates

Next Meeting Date
July 11, 2024

Monthly Public Meeting
10:00am

Remote via Microsoft Teams

Public Meeting dates are tentative and subject to change

2024 Public Meetings* 

August 8
September 12
October 10
November 14
December 12



Additional Licensing Data



The totals below are all license applications received to date.

Licensing Applications | June 13, 2024

Type #

Pending 205

Withdrawn 1,400

Incomplete 8,187

Denied 5

Approved: Delivery Pre-certifications 204

Approved: Delivery Endorsements 5

Approved: Licenses 1,357

Total 11,363



The totals below are number of licenses approved by category.

Licensing Applications | June 13, 2024

Type #
Craft Marijuana Cooperative 4
Marijuana Courier 24

Marijuana Delivery Operator 34

Independent Testing Laboratory 20

Marijuana Cultivator 385

Marijuana Microbusiness 35

Marijuana Product Manufacturer 309

Marijuana Research Facility 2

Marijuana Retailer 529

Marijuana Third Party Transporter 5

Marijuana Transporter with Other Existing ME License 10

Total 1,357



Applications 
Submitted

(Awaiting Staff Review)

Applications 
Reviewed

(More Information 
Requested from 

Applicant)

Application 
Deemed 

Complete
(Awaiting background 
check or response to 

municipal notice)

All Information 
Received

(Awaiting Staff 
Recommendation)

Applications 
Considered by 

the Commission

Licensing Applications | June 13, 2024
Status #

Application Submitted: Awaiting Review 3

Application Reviewed: More Information Requested 201

Application Deemed Complete: Awaiting 3rd Party Responses 15

All Information Received: Awaiting Commission Consideration 3

Applications Considered by Commission (includes Delivery Pre-Cert) 1,571

Total 1,783



The totals below are applications that have submitted all four packets and are pending review.

Licensing Applications | June 13, 2024

Type #

Craft Marijuana Cooperative 2

Delivery-Only Provisional Licensure (Part 2) 11

Delivery-Only Pre-Certification (Part 1) 14

Independent Testing Laboratory 1

Marijuana Cultivator 43

Marijuana Delivery Operator Provisional License (Part 2) 10

Marijuana Delivery Operator Pre-Certification (Part 1) 18

Marijuana Microbusiness 6

Marijuana Product Manufacturer 29

Marijuana Research Facility 5

Marijuana Retailer 50

Marijuana Transporter with Other Existing ME License 5

Microbusiness Delivery Endorsement 1

Third Party Transporter 10

Total 205



Licensing Applications | June 13, 2024

Type Pending 
Application

Pre-Certified 
Endorsement

Initial 
License 
Declined

Provisionally 
Approved

Provisional 
License

Final 
License

Commence 
Operation Total

Marijuana Cultivator (Indoor) 33 N/A 1 41 172 22 109 378
Marijuana Cultivator (Outdoor) 10 N/A 1 5 19 2 25 62
Total 43 N/A 2 46 191 24 134 440



Of  1,357 applications approved by the Commission, the following applications have Economic Empowerment Priority Review, Social Equity Program 
Participant, and/or Disadvantaged Business Enterprise status.  Please note, applicants June hold one or more statuses. Please note that the end total represents 
the total number of applications/licenses at that step in the licensure process.

Licensing Applications | June 13, 2024

Type Economic 
Empowerment

Social Equity 
Program

Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprise

Total

Pre-Certified/Delivery 
Endorsed Microbusiness

43 170 29 242

Provisionally Approved 12 21 29 62
Provisional License 32 83 101 216
Final License 1 6 8 15
Commence Operations 28 51 79 158

Total 116 331 246 693

-2.22% +0.00% -8.45%



The totals below are distinct license numbers that have submitted all required packets.

The 1,790 applications represent 1,018 separate entities

Licensing Applications | June 13, 2024

Type #

MTC Priority 259

Economic Empowerment Priority 135

Expedited Review 676

General Applicant 720

Total 1,790

Type #

Expedited: License Type 79

Expedited: Social Equity Participant 344

Expedited: Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprise

191

Expedited: Two or More Categories 62

Total 676



Licensing Applications – EE Only | June 13, 2024
Type Pending 

Application
Pre-Certified 
Endorsement

Initial 
License 
Declined

Provisionally 
Approved

Provisional 
License

Final 
License

Commence 
Operation Total

Craft Marijuana Cooperative 0 N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0

Marijuana Courier License 3 N/A 0 0 4 0 4 11

Marijuana Courier Pre-Certification 3 29 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A 32

Independent Testing Laboratory 0 N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0

Marijuana Cultivator 2 N/A 0 3 5 0 0 10

Marijuana Delivery Operator License 1 N/A 0 0 4 0 2 7

Marijuana Delivery Operator Pre-Certification 1 14 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A 15

Marijuana Microbusiness 0 N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0

Marijuana Product Manufacturer 1 N/A 0 4 3 0 2 10

Marijuana Research Facility 1 N/A 0 0 0 0 0 1

Marijuana Retailer 4 N/A 0 4 15 1 20 44

Marijuana Transporter with Other Existing ME License 0 N/A 1 1 0 0 2

Microbusiness Delivery Endorsement 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Third Party Transporter 1 N/A 0 0 0 0 0 1

Standards Laboratory 0 N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 17 43 0 12 32 1 28 133



Licensing Applications – SEP Only | June 13, 2024
Type Pending 

Application
Pre-Certified 
Endorsement

Initial 
License 
Declined

Provisionally 
Approved

Provisional 
License

Final 
License

Commence 
Operation Total

Craft Marijuana Cooperative 0 N/A 0 0 1 0 0 1

Marijuana Courier License 7 N/A 0 1 8 1 7 24

Marijuana Courier Pre-Certification 11 80 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A 91

Independent Testing Laboratory 0 N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0

Marijuana Cultivator 3 N/A 0 7 19 2 6 37

Marijuana Delivery Operator License 6 N/A 0 0 18 1 10 35

Marijuana Delivery Operator Pre-Certification 16 88 0 N/A N/A N.A N/A 104

Marijuana Microbusiness 0 N/A 0 0 4 0 1 5

Marijuana Product Manufacturer 4 N/A 0 8 15 1 7 35

Marijuana Research Facility 0 N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0

Marijuana Retailer 14 N/A 1 4 17 0 18 54

Marijuana Transporter with Other Existing ME License 1 N/A 0 1 2 0 1 5

Microbusiness Delivery Endorsement 1 3 0 0 0 1 1 7

Third Party Transporter 1 N/A 0 0 0 0 0 1

Standards Laboratory 0 N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 64 171 1 21 84 6 51 398



Cultivation Applications | June 13, 2024
Type Pending 

Application

Initial 
License 
Declined

Provisionally 
Approved

Provisional 
License

Final 
License

Commence 
Operation Total

Microbusiness w/ Tier 1 Cultivation (up to 5,000 sq. Ft.) 0 0 3 4 2 5 14

Cultivation Tier 1 (Up to 5,000 sq. ft.) 13 0 4 43 6 27 93

Cultivation Tier 2 (5,001-10,000 sq. ft.) 6 0 9 54 9 35 113

Cultivation Tier 3 (10,001-20,000 sq. ft.) 4 2 8 40 3 21 78

Cultivation Tier 4 (20,001-30,000 sq. ft.) 1 0 4 14 2 12 33

Cultivation Tier 5 (30,001-40,000 sq. ft.) 2 0 9 8 1 11 31

Cultivation Tier 6 (40,001-50,000 sq. ft.) 3 0 5 8 0 6 22

Cultivation Tier 7 (50,001-60,000 sq. ft.) 2 0 1 4 1 4 12

Cultivation Tier 8 (60,001-70,000 sq. ft.) 1 0 0 1 0 2 4

Cultivation Tier 9 (70,001-80,000 sq. ft.) 3 0 1 3 1 2 10

Cultivation Tier 10 (80,001-90,000 sq. ft.) 1 0 1 1 0 6 9

Cultivation Tier 11 (90,001-100,000 sq. ft.) 7 0 4 15 1 8 35

Total 43 2 49 195 26 139 454

Total Maximum Canopy (Sq. Ft.) 1,685,000 40,000 1,645,000 4,855,000 530,000 3,910,000

* Note: percentage is of “Total” commence operations licenses

+63.3%

+11.5%



The totals below represent entities in each county that have achieved at least a provisional license

Marijuana Establishment Licenses | June 13, 2024

County # +/-

Barnstable 31 0

Berkshire 110 0

Bristol 112 0

Dukes 7 0

Essex 81 0

Franklin 77 1

Hampden 150 0

Hampshire 76 0

Middlesex 167 0

Nantucket 6 0

Norfolk 46 2

Plymouth 128 0

Suffolk 73 0

Worcester 293 1

Total 1,357 4

110 73

6

7

77

76 293

150

167

81

46

112 128

31



The numbers below are a snapshot of the program for the month of June.

MMJ Licensing and Registration Data | June 13, 2024

MTC Licenses #
Provisional 24
Final 0
Commence Operations 106
License Expired 61
Total 191

MMJ Program #
Certified Patients 92,502
Certified Active Patients 87,335
Active Caregivers 6,690
Registered Certifying Physicians 330
Registered Certifying Nurse 
Practitioners

118

Registered Physician Assistants 1
Ounces Sold 100,240



Marijuana Retailer Licenses | June 13, 2024
The totals below are the total number of retail licenses by county.

County # +/-

Barnstable 19 0

Berkshire 38 0

Bristol 52 0

Dukes 3 0

Essex 37 0

Franklin 20 0

Hampden 41 0

Hampshire 33 0

Middlesex 85 0

Nantucket 2 0

Norfolk 15 2

Plymouth 42 0

Suffolk 57 0

Worcester 85 0

Total 529 2

38 57
33

20

41

85

85

37

15

52 42

19

3

2



Demographics of Approved and Pending Marijuana Establishment Agents

Agent Applications | June 13, 2024

Gender # %

Female 8,329 35.6%

Male 14,719 63.0%

Declined to Answer 199 0.9%

Gender Defined by Applicant 129 0.6%

Total 23,376 100.0%
35.6%

63.0%

0.6% 0.9%

Gender of Approved and 
Proposed Agents

Female

Male

Declined to Answer

Gender Defined by
Applicant



Medical Marijuana Treatment Center Licenses 
(Dispensing) June 13, 2024
The totals below are the total number of MTC (Dispensing) licenses by county.

County #

Barnstable 5

Berkshire 3

Bristol 11

Dukes 1

Essex 11

Franklin 1

Hampden 12

Hampshire 9

Middlesex 27

Nantucket 2

Norfolk 8

Plymouth 14

Suffolk 9

Worcester 19

Total 132

93

1

9 19

27

11

5

1411

812

1

2



Demographics of Approved and Pending Medical Marijuana Treatment Center Agents

Agent Applications | June 13, 2024

Gender # %

Female 2,534 36.1%

Male 4,445 63.4%

Declined to Answer 0 0.0%

Gender Defined by Applicant 34 0.5%

Total 7,013 100.0%

36.1 %

63.4%

0.5% 0.0%

Gender of Approved and 
Proposed MTC Agents

Female

Male

Declined to Answer

Gender Defined by
Applicant



Demographics of Approved and Pending Marijuana Establishment Agents

Agent Applications | June 13, 2024

Race/Ethnicity # %

Hispanic; Latino; Spanish 2,157 9.2%

Asian 495 2.1%

Black; African American 1,558 6.7%

White 15,400 65.9%

Middle Eastern; North African 62 0.3%

American Indian; Alaska Native 41 0.2%

Native Hawaiian; Other Pacific Islander 15 0.1%

Identified as Two or More Ethnicities 654 2.8%

Other Race or Ethnicity 212 0.9%

Declined to Answer 2,782 11.9%

Total 23,376 100.0%

9.2%

2.1%

6.7%

65.9%

0.3%

0.2%

2.8%

0.9%

11.9%

Race/Ethnicity of Approved and 
Proposed 

ME Agents

Hispanic; Latino; Spanish

Asian

Black; African American

White

Middle Eastern; North
African
American Indian; Alaska
Native
Native Hawaiian; Other
Pacific Islander
Identified as Two or More
Ethnicities
Other Race or Ethnicity

Declined to Answer



Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Statistics for Approved Licensees

Licensing Applications | June 13, 2024

Type # % of 
Group

Women-Owned Business 94 6.0%

Veteran-Owned Business 24 1.5%

Minority-Owned Business 140 8.9%

Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender 
Owned Business

12 0.8%

Disability-Owned Business 2 0.1%

Identified as Two or MORE DBE 
Business Types

108 6.9%

Did not identify as a DBE Business 1,186 75.7%

Total 1,566 100.0%

6.0%

1.5%

8.9%

0.8%

0.1%

6.9%

75.7%

DBE Statistics Approved Licensees

Women-Owned Business

Veteran-Owned Business

Minority-Owned Business

Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and
Transgender Owned Business
Disability-Owned Business

Identified as Two or MORE
DBE Business Types
Did not identify as a DBE
Business



Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Statistics for Pending and Approved License Applications 

Licensing Applications | June 13, 2024

Type # % of 
Group

Women-Owned Business 99 5.6%

Veteran-Owned Business 27 1.5%

Minority-Owned Business 157 8.9%

Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender 
Owned Business

14 0.8%

Disability-Owned Business 4 0.2%

Identified as Two or MORE DBE Business 
Types

143 8.1%

Did not identify as a DBE Business 1,327 74.9%

Total 1,771 100.0%

5.6%

1.5%

8.9%

0.8%

0.2%

8.1%

74.9%

DBE Statistics for Pending & 
Approved License Applications

Women-Owned Business

Veteran-Owned Business

Minority-Owned Business

Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and
Transgender Owned Business
Disability-Owned Business

Identified as Two or MORE
DBE Business Types
Did not identify as a DBE
Business



Total Agent Applications: 75,732

Adult Use Agent Applications | June 13, 2024

• 240 Total Pending
- 230 Pending Establishment Agents
- 10 Pending Laboratory Agents

• 3,633 Withdrawn

• 2,780 Incomplete

• 5,251 Expired

• 40,684 Surrendered

• 6 Denied / 2 Revoked

• 23,136 Active

Of the 240 Total Pending:

• 84 not yet reviewed

• 150 CCC requested more information

• 6 awaiting third party response

• 0 review complete; awaiting approval



The total number of MTC agent applications received by status.

Medical Use Agent Applications | June 13, 2024

MTC Agent Application #

Pending MTC Agent Applications 3

Pending Laboratory Agent Applications 0

Incomplete 43

Revoked 13

Denied 31

Surrendered 19,135

Expired 3,030

Active 7,009

Total 29,264


	Cover Page
	Table of Contents
	Call to Order & Commissioners' Comments/Updates
	MEETING AGENDA 06.13.2024.docx

	Minutes
	20240111_Mins_Public Meeting_For Commission Consideration.docx
	20240208_Mins_PublicMeeting_For Commission Consideration.docx
	20240229_Mins_Public Meeting_For Commission Consideration.docx
	20240307_Mins_PublicMeeting_For Commission Consideration.docx
	20240329_Mins_Public Meeting_For Commission Consideration.docx
	20240411_Mins_PublicMeeting_For Commission Consideration.docx
	20190107_Lease_FranklinHowley.pdf
	20240206-Letter-to-Senator-Moore.pdf

	Acting Executive Director and Commission Staff Report
	Executive Session
	Staff Recommendations on Changes of Ownership
	F-COOXS-BAKED BEANS FARM LLC-v.2.docx
	F-COOXS-HENNEP, INC.-v.2.docx

	Staff Recommendations on Renewals
	ME RENEWAL XS-JUNE 2024-v.2.docx

	Staff Recommendations on Final Licenses
	F-FLXS-BLOSSOM FLOWER, LLC-MD1271-MP282139-MX281418.v.2.docx
	F-FLXS-BLUE SKY ORGANICS, LLC-MD1264.v.2.docx
	F-FLXS-COMMCAN, INC-MANSFIELD-MTC1686.v.2.docx
	F-FLXS-COMMCAN, INC-MR284925.v.2.docx
	F-FLXS-EMBER GARDENS CAPE COD, LLC-MR284542.v.2.docx
	F-FLXS-EUPHORIUM, LLC-MC283845-MP282263-MR284560.v.2.docx
	F-FLXS-JMK GARDENING, LLC-MR284654.v.2.docx
	F-FLXS-MINT RETAIL FACILITIES, LLC-MR283295.v.2.docx
	F-FLXS-OCEAN BREEZE CULTIVATORS, LLC-MR283656.v.2.docx
	F-FLXS-RIVERSIDE AGRICULTURE, LLC-MR283237.v.2.docx
	F-FLXS-SILVER THERAPEUTICS, INC-MR283074.v.2.docx

	Staff Recommendation on Provisional Licenses
	F-PLXS-GREENSOUL ORGANICS, INC-MCN283834-MPN282257.v.2.docx
	F-PLXS-NATIVE SUN WELLNESS, INC-RMDA4128.v.2.docx
	F-PLXS-SURF'S UP CANNABIS VENTURES, LLC-MRN285057.v.2.docx

	Enforcement Actions
	Tab B. Stipulated Agreement_Trulieve (CCC FINAL CLEAN).pdf

	Commission Discussion & Votes
	Tab A - 20240613_Periodic Review of Executive Session Minutes_Recommendation.docx
	DRAFT - Accounting Manager 053024.docx
	June 2024 Government Affairs Update.docx

	Next Meeting Date & Adjournment
	20240613 PPT.pdf


		2024-05-29T13:38:41-0700
	Digitally verifiable PDF exported from www.docusign.com




